
 
   
 

 CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND 
            January 15, 2009 Workstudy Agenda 

 25510 Lawson St., Black Diamond, Washington 
 
 

 
Workstudies are meetings for Council to review upcoming and pertinent business of the City.  
Public testimony is only accepted at the discretion of the Council. 
 
 
6:00 P.M. – CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL 
 
1.)  Chapter 7, Transportation of Comprehensive Plan Update – Mr. Pilcher 
 
2.) Vesting Ordinance  – Mr. Pilcher 
 
3.) Adjournment 
 
 

 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act – Reasonable Accommodations Provided Upon Request (360-886-2560) 
 



 December 2008 7-1 

Chapter 7. Transportation 

7.1. Introduction 

7.1.1. Background 
Black Diamond’s transportation system is essential to the City’s ability to move 
people and goods efficiently.  Over the long term, this system also affects the 
location and pattern of growth.  The City will also regularly update the 
comprehensive transportation plan to address potential safety and congestion 
problems, and to direct Black Diamond’s transportation future as the City continues 
to grow.   

The Growth Management Act (GMA) includes planning requirements that link 
transportation directly to land use decisions and fiscal planning.  The Transportation 
Element of the Comprehensive Plan, also called the Comprehensive Transportation 
Plan, is structured within the context of these GMA requirements. 

7.1.2. Need for the Comprehensive Transportation Plan 
In 1996, the City of Black Diamond completed its first Comprehensive 
Transportation Plan.  A 2001 plan amendment included the transportation impacts of 
growth in the City’s potential annexation areas.  The 2007-08 update provides a 
revised look at the existing transportation system; addresses changes in legislative 
requirements; reflects changes in economic conditions; evaluates current needs; and 
reviews the adequacy of the planned transportation improvements to meet future 
travel needs and conditions.   



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-2 

The primary purposes and uses of the transportation plan include the following: 

 Determining Existing Transportation Deficiencies - An inventory of the 
transportation system identifies the existing needs of the community.  

 Meeting Growth Management Act Requirements - Black Diamond is required by 
the Growth Management Act to develop a comprehensive plan including a 
transportation element that includes a list of future system improvements and a 
multi-year financing plan. 

 Qualifying for Funding - State agencies require communities to have a 
comprehensive transportation plan that demonstrates the community’s vision of 
their future. 

 Planning for the City - Both public and private sectors can use the comprehensive 
transportation plan when making decisions about the transportation system. 

7.1.3. Elements of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan 
The transportation plan has the following key elements: 

 Transportation Goals and Policies - a list of goals and policies the City will focus 
upon to develop and maintain an efficient transportation system; 

 Transportation Improvement Program – a list of transportation improvements to 
mitigate traffic congestion; 

 Funding Strategy – a plan for funding the improvements and a contingency plan 
with additional funding sources; and 

 Concurrency Management System - a system the City will use to make sure the 
transportation network will be able to accommodate development as it occurs. 

7.2. Level of Service  
A level of service (LOS) standard measures the performance of an existing 
transportation system and the adequacy of the planned future improvements.  
Additionally, LOS standards establish the basis for the concurrency requirements in 
the GMA.  Agencies are required to “adopt and enforce ordinances which prohibit 
development approval if the development causes the level of service on a 
transportation facility to decline below the standards adopted in the transportation 
element of the comprehensive plan, unless transportation improvements or strategies 
to accommodate the impacts of development are made concurrent with 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-3 

development.” (RCW 36.70A.070(6)(b)). Therefore, setting the LOS standard is an 
essential component of regulating development. 

7.2.1. Level of Service Definitions 
Level of service (LOS) is both a qualitative and quantitative measure of roadway 
operations. Level of service, as established by the Highway Capacity Manual uses an 
“A” to “F” scale to define the operation of roadways and intersections as follows: 

LOS A:  Primarily free flow traffic operations at average travel speeds. Vehicles are 
completely unimpeded in their ability to maneuver within the traffic stream. Control 
delays at signalized intersections are minimal.  

LOS B:  Reasonably unimpeded traffic flow operations at average travel speeds.  The 
ability to maneuver within the traffic stream is only slightly restricted and control 
delays at signalized intersections are not significant.  

LOS C:  Stable traffic flow operations. However, ability to maneuver and change 
lanes may be more restricted than in LOS B, and longer queues, adverse signal 
coordination, or both may contribute to lower than average travel speeds.   

LOS D:  Small increases in traffic flow may cause substantial increases in approach 
delays and, hence decreases in speed.  This may be due to adverse signal progression, 
inappropriate signal timing, high volumes or some combination of these factors.  

LOS E:  Significant delays in traffic flow operations and lower operating speeds.  
Conditions are caused by some combination of adverse progression, high signal 
density, high volumes, extensive delays at critical intersections, and inappropriate 
signal timing.  

LOS F:  Traffic flow operations at extremely low speeds.  Intersection congestion is 
likely at critical signalized intersections, with high delays, high volumes, and 
extensive queuing. 

7.2.2. LOS and Concurrency 
The concurrency provisions of the Growth Management Act require that local 
governments permit development only if adequate public facilities are, or can be 
guaranteed to be, available within six years to support the new development.   

The GMA requires each local jurisdiction to identify future facility and service needs 
based on its level of service (LOS) standards. To ensure that future development will 
not cause the city’s transportation system performance to fall below the adopted 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-4 

LOS, the jurisdiction must do one or a combination of the following:  modifying the 
land use element, limiting or “phasing” development, requiring appropriate 
mitigation, or changing the adopted standard.   

7.2.3. Level of Service Standard  
The plan uses a level of service “C” (LOS C) standard for the analysis based on the 
City Council’s recommendation for arterials and collectors within the city limits. 
This standard is higher than other cities in the area, indicating the City’s desire to 
avoid congestion and the willingness to identify and fund future transportation 
improvements.  The cities of Covington and Maple Valley use LOS D as their 
minimum operation standards.  In Maple Valley, a LOS D is the standard for most 
roadways with LOS E as the standard for the Maple Valley Highway (SR 169), Kent-
Kangley Road, and Witte Road.   

If expected funding for improvements to meet future transportation needs is found to 
be inadequate, then the City may pursue one of the following options:  

 Lower the LOS standard to D or F for the system or for portions of the system 
that cannot be improved without a significant expenditure; 

 Revise the City’s current land use plan to reduce density or intensity of 
development  that will “fit” with the planned transportation system; or 

 Phase or restrict development to allow more time for the necessary LOS-driven 
transportation improvements to be completed by the development community 
and/or responsible agency or jurisdiction(s). 

7.2.4. Level of Service Methodology  
The City of Black Diamond has established specific methods to calculate the LOS for 
evaluating the performance of the roadways, intersections and transit. This section 
describes those methods. 

Roadway Level of Service 
The City uses two measures to evaluate the performance of an arterial roadway. The 
first measure calculates a ratio of the PM peak hour traffic volume to the hourly road 
link capacity, providing an estimate of the amount of available roadway capacity.  
The reported value is the average of all intersection links in the peak direction.  The 
second measure compares the operating travel speed with the posted speed limit 
based on an average for all non-controlled roadway links in the peak direction.  This 
measure uses a percent of the posted speed limit to define the LOS result.  The 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-5 

following applies the volume to capacity and the average travel speed to the LOS A 
to F criteria. 

LOS A:  Volume/Capacity Ratio less than or equal to 0.60 and Average Travel Speed 
greater than or equal to 90% of the posted limit. 

LOS B:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 0.60 and less than or equal to 0.70 and 
Average Travel Speed less than 90% and greater than or equal to 70% of the posted 
limit. 

LOS C:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 0.70 and less than or equal to 0.80 and 
Average Travel Speed less than 70% and greater than or equal to 50% of the posted 
limit. 

LOS D:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 0.80 and less than or equal to 0.90 and 
Average Travel Speed less than 50% and greater than or equal to 40% of the posted 
limit. 

LOS E:  Volume/Capacity Ratio less greater than 0.90 and less than or equal to 1.00 
and Average Travel Speed less than 40% and greater than or equal to 33% of the 
posted limit.  

LOS F:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 1.00 and Average Travel Speed less 
than 33% of the posted limit. 

Intersection Level of Service 
For signalized and unsignalized intersections, the LOS is calculated using the 
procedures described in the latest edition of the Highway Capacity Manual (2000 
edition). 

State Highway Level of Service 
1998 amendments to the Growth Management Act require local jurisdictions to 
address state-owned transportation facilities, as well as local transportation system 
needs in their comprehensive plans. House Bill 1487 requires that the transportation 
element of local comprehensive plans include the LOS standards for Highways of 
Statewide Significance (HSS). HB 1487 clarified that the concurrency requirement of 
the GMA does not apply to HSS or other transportation facilities and services of 
statewide significance. HB 1487 also requires local jurisdictions to estimate traffic 
impacts to state-owned facilities resulting from land use assumptions in the 
Comprehensive Plan.  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-6 

The Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) adopted LOS 
standards for HSS facilities is LOS D for urban areas (RCW 47.06.140). The LOS 
target is established for Comprehensive Plans and for reviewing developer impacts 
along urban HSS facilities.  

The WSDOT also analyzes “screen lines” for deficiencies along state routes using a 
standard of 70% of the posted speed. This screen line analysis allows WSDOT to 
identify the “most congested” locations along its HSS facilities. A speed of 
approximately 70% of the posted speed equates to conditions where a highway 
achieves the maximum throughput of vehicles.  

In 2007, the WSDOT added SR 169 to the list of HSS facilities.  The State’s 2007-
2026 Highway System Plan indicates that SR 169 is expected to operate below the 
70% speed threshold (termed ‘operating less than efficiently’) during peak hours in 
2030.  

Transit Level of Service 
The Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A) requires communities to also adopt 
level of service standards for transit routes.  The City has established guidelines to 
monitor the performance of the transit system as follows: 

 Encourage King County Metro to expand service as the demand dictates; 

 Monitor existing transit facilities to determine if additional routes are needed or if 
existing headways should be decreased (or frequency increased); 

 Monitor the need for park and ride facilities; and 

 Develop design standards for bus-pullouts, passenger waiting facilities, and other 
transit facilities. 

7.3. Existing Transportation System 
The City of Black Diamond forms the southeastern edge of King County’s urban 
area.  The traffic circulation system within the City is an incomplete grid system, 
reflective of the original settlement pattern, varied topography, and lack of substantial 
growth up to the present.  The area’s road system consists of a state highway (SR 
169), the City’s arterials, collectors, and local access roads.  Because the grid system 
is incomplete, many local access roadways are, in effect, long cul-de-sacs.  Local 
access roads are also often narrow by current standards.  Although the narrow widths 
and lack of locations for vehicles to turn-around are a serious problem for emergency 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-7 

services, the smaller area devoted to roads contributes significantly to the existing 
rural character of the community and reduces storm water impacts. 

Black Diamond is bisected by SR 169, a north-south highway, providing regional 
access from Renton to Enumclaw as well as local access.  This route is also known as 
3rd Avenue within the downtown area. Along the City’s northern boundary, SE 
288th Street is an east-west arterial that is shared with the City of Maple Valley. The 
Roberts Drive arterial provides local east-west access west of SR 169 as well as a 
link from Black Diamond to the City of Auburn and the Green River Valley 
employment centers to the west.  The Lawson Street/Green River Gorge Road is an 
east-west arterial providing local access east of SR 169 as well as access to the rural 
areas and communities to the east.   

The Black Diamond/Ravensdale Road is a north-south arterial linking Black 
Diamond and Ravensdale and providing a secondary link to SR 516 (Kent-Kangley 
Road). The SE Lake Sawyer Road is a north-south arterial that forms the City’s 
western boundary and also provides a connection to SR 516. 

7.3.1. Existing Roadway and Intersection Characteristics 
SR 169, within the planning area, is a two-lane principal arterial that generally 
divides the City of Black Diamond into east and west sections.  SR 169 serves an 
area extending between the cities of Renton and Enumclaw, providing both regional 
(to SR 18, SR 516 and Interstate 405) and local access. 

Posted speed limits along SR 169 vary depending on the amount of development 
adjacent to the highway.  Areas immediately outside the city limits of Black 
Diamond are posted at 50 mph. Within the city limits, legal speeds are reduced to 35 
mph except for a small 50 mph section from Jones Lake Road to the southern city 
limits.  All cross-streets intersecting with SR 169 are controlled by stop signs. 

SE 288th Street is a two-lane road that runs east-west.  The road is a minor arterial 
that changes to SE 291st Street as it approaches SR 169.  The road serves the Black 
Diamond residents north of Lake Sawyer and also serves as the only access for 
Maple Valley residents living north of SE 288th Street and south of the Burlington 
Northern Railroad line.  SE 291st Street is stop sign-controlled at SR 169 and 216th 
Avenue SE.  At all other intersections, the cross-street traffic is stop sign-controlled.  
The posted speed is 35 mph. 

Roberts Drive/Auburn-Black Diamond Road provides access to the City of Auburn and 
is a two-lane minor arterial.  The road changes name to Roberts Drive east of Lake 
Sawyer Road S.E. in Black Diamond.  The roadway branches into two facilities near 
Covington Creek allowing access to the City of Kent (Kent-Black Diamond Road). 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-8 

All cross-streets intersecting Roberts Drive are stop sign-controlled.  Roberts Drive is 
controlled by a stop sign at its intersection with SR 169.  Posted speeds are generally 
50 mph outside the city limits of Black Diamond and 25 to 35 mph once inside the 
city. 

Green Valley Road is a two-lane minor arterial that connects SR 169 and the City of 
Auburn.  This street is classified by King County as a collector.  The roadway is 
posted for a maximum speed of 40 mph, but operating speed is constrained to 10 to 
15 mph in certain areas due to its curvilinear horizontal alignment with steep grades. 
Green Valley Road is stop-controlled at SR 169.  It should be noted that the 
annexation of property adjacent to Green Valley Road in 1995 included a condition 
that direct transportation access would not occur from the annexed area onto Green 
Valley Road. 

Lake Sawyer Road/224th Avenue SE/216th Avenue SE is a two-lane minor arterial 
that provides access to a predominantly residential area west of Lake Sawyer.  The 
street generally parallels SR 169 between Roberts Drive and SR 516.  The roadway is 
stop sign-controlled at its intersection with Roberts Drive.  There are traffic signals at 
the intersections of 216th Avenue SE/SR 516, 216th Avenue SE/Covington-Sawyer 
Road, and SE 296th Street/219th Avenue SE.  All other cross-street traffic 
intersections along Lake Sawyer/216th Avenue SE are stop sign-controlled.  Posted 
speeds vary between 35 mph and 45 mph. 

Covington-Sawyer Road is a two-lane minor arterial that connects with 216th Avenue 
SE on the western border of Black Diamond.  It provides access to SR 18 and SR 
516. 

Morgan Street is a two-lane collector from Roberts Drive to Railroad Avenue.  
Railroad Avenue extends as a two-lane collector from Morgan Street southward to 
SR 169.  Functionally, Morgan Street and Railroad Avenue provide alternative 
connections between Roberts Drive and SR 169, bypassing the downtown area which 
is located a few city blocks to the east.  The intersection of Morgan Street and 
Roberts Drive is stop sign-controlled on the minor approach (Morgan Street).  
Railroad Avenue (also referred to as Jones Lake Road) is controlled by stop sign at 
its intersection with SR 169.  The posted speed limit on Morgan Street and Railroad 
Avenue is 25 mph. 

Lawson Street is an east/west minor arterial with its western terminus one block west 
of SR 169 and continuing east and northeast out of the City of Black Diamond.  Near 
the outskirts of the city the roadway changes to Green River Gorge Road.  The 
arterial provides access between SR 169 and residential developments in Black 
Diamond and rural areas east of the city.  The posted speed limit along this route is 
25 mph within the city limits.  Near Mud Lake, the speed limit increases to 45 mph.  
Lawson Street is stop-controlled at its intersection with 3rd Avenue (SR 169). 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-9 

Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road is a two-lane minor arterial linking Black Diamond 
and Ravensdale and serves as a secondary connection between Kent-Kangley Road 
SR 169.  The posted speed limit along this road is 45 mph within Black Diamond city 
limits. Cross-street traffic along Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road is stop-controlled. 

Baker Street (between SR 169 and Railroad Avenue) is a two-lane arterial collector 
located in the downtown area of Black Diamond.  The roadway provides access to 
the post office and school; it has a posted speed limit of 25 mph.  It is stop sign 
controlled at SR 169 and Railroad Avenue. 

All remaining roadways in the City of Black Diamond are local roads with two-lane 
cross-sections.  Most local roadways have posted 25-mph speed limits. 

7.3.2. Existing Roadway Volumes and Travel Conditions 
Figure 7-1 depicts the study area for the updated transportation plan and shows 2006 
evening peak hour traffic volumes.  Available traffic volumes were collected from 
WSDOT and King County Roads Division.  Additional daily and PM peak period 
traffic volumes counts were completed on December 5 to 7, 2006 to update roadway 
traffic volumes. 

Average daily traffic (ADT) volumes were examined within the traffic study area.  
Immediately north of Black Diamond the ADT increases to 13,900 vehicles per day 
(vpd).  Roberts Drive serves approximately 4,100 and SE Covington-Sawyer Road 
approximately 6,200 vpd.  There are an estimated 8,500 daily vehicle trips on 216th 
Avenue SE north of 288th Avenue SE.  Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road east of SR 
169 serves approximately 1,500 vpd, and Green River Gorge Road west of 270th 
Way carries approximately 700 vpd.  Other local roads within Black Diamond do not 
have ADT count history, but recent peak hour counts indicate that the daily vehicular 
trips are unlikely to exceed 2,500 vpd.   

All travel volumes were analyzed using the City’s LOS methodology.  Table 7-1 
provides a LOS summary of intersections, while Table 7-2 lists the arterial LOS. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-10 

Figure 7-1. Study Area and Existing PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 
 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-11 

Table 7-1. Existing Level of Service Summary Intersections (2006) 
Intersection Control Direction LOS Delay (s) 

SE 288th Street/232nd Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.7 

Covington-Sawyer Road/216th Avenue SE Signal Average A 7.8 

216th Avenue SE/219th Avenue SE Signal Average B 13.9 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Westbound D 32.2 

SE Green River Gorge Road/270th Way SE Stop-Controlled Southbound A 8.6 

Roberts Drive/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Northbound D 28.0 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Lake Sawyer Road SE Stop-Controlled Northbound B 11.1 

Roberts Drive/Morgan Street Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 10.8 

Baker Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 20.0 

Baker Street/Railroad Avenue (Jones Lake Road) Stop-Controlled Eastbound A 9.3 

Lawson Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Northbound C 18.8 

Lawson Street/5th Avenue Stop-Controlled Eastbound A 9.8 

SE 288th Street/216th Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 17.5 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/Kanasket Street Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.2 

 

Table 7-2. Existing Level of Service Summary Arterial Roadways 
(2006) 

LOS 
 Arterial 

Volume/ Capacity 
(%) 

Speed  
(% of Posted) (V/C) Speed 

Black Diamond - Ravensdale Road 15 100 A A 

Auburn - Black Diamond Road 17 99 A A 

Roberts Drive 43 100 A A 

Lake Sawyer Road 40 98 A A 

Baker Street 8 100 A A 

Lawson Street 14 100 A A 

Morgan Street 28 99 A A 

Railroad Avenue - Jones Lake Road 22 99 A A 

SR 169 North of City Limits 52 93 A A 

SR 169 within City limits 53 93 A A 

SR 169 south of City limits 56 95 A A 

LOS based on HCS Speed criteria for urban street segments  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-12 

In general, roadways and intersections within the City of Black Diamond operate at 
an acceptable level of service.  Consistent with the City’s adopted Level of Service 
standard, roadways and intersections must operate at LOS C or better.  Roadways in 
the City operate at LOS A and B, with travel speeds maintained at close to the speed 
limit.  The intersections of 3rd Avenue (SR 169)/Black Diamond-Ravensdale Drive 
and 3rd Avenue (SR 169)/Roberts Drive operate below the LOS C standard.  All 
other roadways and intersections in Black Diamond function with acceptable LOS. 

7.3.3. Other Modes  

Rail Service  
Presently, the City of Black Diamond has no railroads located within the City limits.  
Rail lines that historically provided service from Seattle through Renton to Black 
Diamond have been decommissioned.  The last coal trains left Black Diamond in 
1969. The old rail line passed through town in a north-south direction paralleling 
Railroad Avenue.   

Public Transportation Service 
Black Diamond currently has a low population density and is distant from major 
Puget Sound urban employment centers.  Public transportation service is available 
but is limited.  Metro currently provides three routes that serve the City:  143, 149, 
and 912.  Table 7-4 summarizes existing transit services in Black Diamond.  Routes 
143 and 149 provide 25 to 30 minute service during commute hours and Route 149 
provides 60 to 90 minute service during off-peak hours.  Route 912 provides off-peak 
hour service between Enumclaw and Covington. 

Table 7-4. King County Metro Transit Routes Serving Black Diamond 
Black Diamond @ 3rd Ave/Baker St 

Route 
Beginning 
Location Destination 

Headway: 
Minimum-
Maximum (min) Duration 

Downtown Seattle Black Diamond (via Renton) 20-30 5:34 pm - 6:40 pm 143 

Black Diamond Downtown Seattle (via Renton) 25-28 5:29 am - 6:24 am 

Renton Black Diamond 25-120 5:14 am - 4:08 pm 149 

Black Diamond Renton 37-130 7:08 am - 6:47 pm 

Covington Enumclaw (via Black Diamond) 95-100 9:32 am - 2:27 pm 912 

Enumclaw Covington (via Black Diamond) 90-104 10:29 am - 3:23 pm 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-13 

Since the 1996 Comprehensive Transportation Plan, two new routes have been added 
-- King County Metro Routes 143 and 149 -- which provide service to regional 
destinations and to the Renton Transit Center.  A park and ride lot located at the 
Masonic Lodge at 3rd Avenue/Baker Street provides 30 spaces for weekday parking 
for transit users.  Another nearby facility, the Maple Valley Park and Ride, is located 
at SE 231st Street/SR 169, and provides 122 spaces.  

The existing transit service meets the City’s defined LOS criteria. However, in the 
future, additional service as well as provisions for bus pullouts, bus stops, and park 
and ride lots will become necessary, as the population increases.    

Surface Freight Transportation 
There are no freight terminal facilities located in the City of Black Diamond.  
However, truck operations related to mineral extraction, logging and landfill 
commonly use the road network, primarily on SR 169. 

Pedestrian Facilities 

The City has limited sidewalk facilities along its arterial and collector road network.  
While adopted City road construction standards now require sidewalks on all new 
roads, many of the roads in the remaining areas of town were developed to rural 
standards with gravel shoulders or no shoulder at all.  Only two arterials in Black 
Diamond have sidewalks:  SR 169 in the downtown area on the east side of the street;  
and 216th Avenue SE between SE 288th Street and Covington-Sawyer Road on the 
west side.  There is a small stretch of sidewalk along Baker Street near the 
elementary school, on the south side of Roberts Road near the library, and a sidewalk 
on SE 300th Street near Kentlake High School.  The newly developed subdivisions 
along Kanasket Drive and McKay Lane also contain sidewalks.  

Bicycle Facilities 
No formal planned bicycle network exists within the City.  A small stretch of bicycle 
lanes was added to Roberts Road as part of the library project. Bicyclists currently 
use the existing roadways as informal routes, although there are no markings or signs 
to support the street usage for bicycles.  Black Diamond residents have voiced a 
desire to include bicycle facilities within the transportation environment.  

Shoreline/Water Transportation 
There are no navigable waterways for freight or passenger transportation in the Black 
Diamond area.  The region’s primary river, Green River, is used primarily for 
recreational purposes. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-14 

Aviation Transportation 
The nearest major airport facility is SeaTac airport located approximately 22 miles to 
the west. The City of Black Diamond does not have a local airport; however, a 
privately owned field with a runway length of 1,500 feet is located along Roberts 
Drive west of SR 169.  Nearby public use airports include Kent’s Crest Airpark (6 
miles), the Auburn Municipal Airport (14 miles) and the Renton Municipal Airport 
(18 miles).  

Parking Facilities 
On street parking is presently provided informally throughout Black Diamond in 
conjunction with the local street network.  Parking is restricted on SR 169.  
Additional public parking is currently needed, particularly in Old Town, and along 
the SR 169 corridor for weekend bicyclists driving to Black Diamond to ride, and for 
weekday commuters who wish to use transit. 

7.3.4. City of Black Diamond Functional Classification System 
Roadway classifications define the character of service that a street is intended to 
provide.  The City of Black Diamond has classified its roadway system and adopted 
roadway design standards based on the roadway’s functional and physical 
characteristics.  The functional classification system is a hierarchical system 
providing for the gradation of traffic flow from an access function to a movement 
function as defined in Table 7-5.  



  Transportation 

  December 2008 

Table 7-5. Functional Classification System Definition of the Roadway Functions 

Classification Function Continuity Spacing (miles) Direct Land Access 

Minimum 
Roadway 
Intersection 
Spacing 

Speed 
Limit 
(mph) Parking Comments 

Principal Arterial Primary - Intercommunity and 
intrametro area traffic 
movement  
Secondary - land access 

Required 1/2 in CBD; 1 in urban 
residential; 1-5 in 
suburban and fringe 

Limited - major generators 
only 

1/2 mile 35-45 (fully 
developed 
areas) 

Prohibited  

Minor Arterial Primary - Intercommunity and 
intrametro area traffic 
movement  
Secondary - land access 

Required 1/8 - 1/2 in CBD; 1/2 - 
1 in urban; 1-3 in 
suburban and urban 
fringe 

Restricted - some 
movements may be 
prohibited; number and 
spacing of driveways 
controlled 

1/4 mile 30-35 Generally 
Prohibited 

Backbone of 
the street 
system 

Collector Primary - collect/distribute 
traffic between local roads and 
arterial system;                            
Secondary - land access;            
Tertiary - interneighborhood 
traffic movement 

Desirable Not less than 1/4 mile 
from higher Classified 
arterials 

Safety controls; limited 
regulation 

300 feet 25-30 Limited Through 
traffic should 
be 
discouraged 

Local 
(Residential) 

Land Access None As needed Safety controls only 300 feet 25 Permitted Through 
traffic should 
be 
discouraged 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-16 

The following list provides the planned classifications by roadway. 

Principal Arterials 
 SR 169 

Minor Arterials 
 SE 288th Street 

 Roberts Drive 

 Green River Gorge Road 

 Southeast Loop Road* 

 North Connector* 

 Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road 

 Lake Sawyer Road 

 Pipeline Road* 

Collectors 
 Annexation Road* 

 Morgan Street 

 Baker Street (west of SR 169) 

 South Connector* 

 Jones Lake Road  

 Abrams Road 

Local Access 
 All remaining roadways within the City of Black Diamond  

Note:  * = New Roadways (For location, See Figure 7-3) A summary of the design criteria and characteristics for these different 
classifications of roadways is provided in Table 7-6.  The table serves as only a general guide for the different classifications; the 
City’s Road Design Standards should be referenced for further clarification. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-17 

Table 7-6. Road Classifications and Development Standards 

Classification 
Min. ROW 

(ft) 
Min. Paved Width 

(ft) Other 

Arterial (major and minor) 74'-96' 42' - 64' sidewalk, bike lane, planting strip 
storm drainage 

Collector Road  60'-72' 30'-42’ sidewalk, bike lane, planting strip, storm 
drainage or swales 

Local Access (Industrial) 50’ 22’ sidewalk, planting strip 

Local Access (Commercial) 60’-68’ 34’ sidewalk, planting strip 

Local Access (Rural and 
Urban)  

48'-60’ 20’-32' sidewalk, planting strip 

Source: City of Black Diamond Engineering and Design Standards.  

7.4. Current Transportation Plans and Improvements 
The City is working to identify the near term improvements that address 
transportation needs for its community.  

7.4.1. Planned Roadway Improvements 
The current planned roadway improvements consist of projects programmed by the 
City, County and WSDOT. 

WSDOT 
WSDOT has jurisdiction over SR 169 through the City of Black Diamond.  While 
WSDOT has been developing a Route Development Plan for SR 169, the plan has 
not been completed. A conversation with WSDOT’s Urban Planning Office and 
review of meeting minutes of the SR 169 Working Group, indicate the potential to 
widen SR 169 to as many as six lanes from Jones Road (in Maple Valley) to I-405 
and four to five lanes from SE 291st Street. Within Black Diamond, WSDOT has 
proposed minor widening to allow for a two-way-left turn lane north of the historic 
core of Black Diamond and a truck climbing lane south of Green Valley Road. For 
purposes of this plan, the City is assuming a 3-lane section with bike lanes for SR 
169, with potential widening at intersections to accommodate turn lanes. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-18 

King County 
King County has identified future improvements in the Enumclaw Planning Area, 
which includes Black Diamond (detail is in the County’s 2008 Transportation Needs 
Report). The County’s list of improvements in or around the City of Black Diamond 
is shown in Table 7-7.  

Table 7-7. King County Identified Black Diamond Area Facilities 
Improvements (2008 King County Road Needs Report) 

Project 
No. Project Action Location Priority Cost 

T-33 Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Road  -  Non-Motorized 

SR 169 to Kent Kangley Low $2,028,000 

OP-RD-41 Covington-Lake Sawyer Rd– 
Minor Capacity 

From Thomas Rd to 216 Ave SE  Medium $7,733,000 

RC-135 Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Rd – Reconstruction (0.6 
miles) 

From SE Kent Kangley Rd to 
268 Ave SE 

Medium $597,000 

RC-142 SE Green Valley Rd - 
Reconstruction 

From 243 Ave SE to SR 169 High $1,423,000 

RC-6 Covington-Lake Sawyer Rd - 
Reconstruction 

From Covington C/L to 216 Ave 
SE 

High $1,093,000 

GR-35 Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Road – Guardrail  

City limits to Ravensdale Way High $12,000 

GR-68 224th Ave SE - Guardrail From SE 296th St to 228th Ave High $81,000 

City of Black Diamond 
The City of Black Diamond has identified several road improvements shown in Table 
7-8. The City maintains a Six-Year Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). The 
six-year program proposes improvements to existing substandard roads and includes 
repairing and overlaying existing roadways, paving gravel roadways, constructing 
sidewalks, and widening roadways. 

Table 7-8. Black Diamond Six-Year Transportation Improvement 
Program 2009-2014 

Rank Year Location From/To Type of Improvement 

1 2008 Railroad Ave Construction Merino Street to Baker Street   Rebuild Existing Roadway/Storm 
drainage/Parking 

2 2008 Lake Sawyer Road  Auburn Black Diamond Road   
to  320th block   

Overlay 

3 2009 233rd Avenue SE SE 293 Pl  to South to end   Repair and overlay existing 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-19 

Rank Year Location From/To Type of Improvement 
roadway 

4 2009 Morgan Street Sidewalk 
Phase 2 

Abrams Avenue  to Robert's 
Drive   

Install new sidewalk 

5 2009 Auburn Black Diamond Road Bruckner's Way to West City 
Limits   

Repair and overlay existing 
roadway 

6 2010 Lawson Street & Newcastle 
Drive  

Lawson Street to Newcastle 
Drive   

Repair and overlay existing 
roadway 

7 2010 Roberts Drive Pedestrian 
Trail/Sidewalk 

SR 169  to Morganville 
Neighborhood   

Install new pedestrian trail/sidewalk 

8 2010 SE 288th Street 236th Ave SE  to 216th Ave 
SE   

Overlay 

9 2011 B.D./Ravensdale Road 
Intersection 

East City Limits to SR 169   Minor widening, radius 
construction/ improvement, 
overlay, alignment 

10 2012 SR 169 Widening 300 ft. South of Lawson 
Street to 300 ft. North of 
Baker Street   

Widen SR 169 to three lanes and 
widen approaching intersections 

11 2012 Roberts Drive Reconstruction SR 169  to Rock Creek 
Bridge   

Overlay existing roadway, repair 
broken panels, widen to standard 

12 2012 Pacific Street Neighborhood 
Improvements 

Lawson Street  to Southerly 
Terminus of Pacific/ Fifth Ave 
South   

Widen and Pave existing gravel 
roads, install storm drainage 
improvements 

13 2013 Morganville Intersection 
Improvements  

 N/A   to  N/A   Widen turning radius on 
intersections. 

14 2013 Lake Sawyer Road Culvert 
and Guardrail 

 N/A   to  N/A   Replace CMP Culverts to meet fish 
passage. Install guard rails. 

15 2013 Jones Lake Road/SR 169  Intersection to N/A   Add left turn lanes or refuge lanes  

16 2014 Sixth Avenue/Baker Street  Lawson Street to SR 169   Minor widening and overlay of 
existing asphalt roadway  

17 2014 Fifth Avenue North Lawson Street to Northerly 
End   

Minor widening and overlay of 
existing asphalt roadway with 
installation of storm drainage 

18 2014 Commission Avenue Morgan Street to App. 300' 
SW of Morgan Street    

Repair and overlay existing 
roadway 

19 2014 Alley from Park Street  Park Street   to  SR 169   Pave an existing gravel roadway 

20 2014 Lawson Hill Sidewalk  City Limits   to  SR 169   Install new sidewalk 

21 2014 Lawson Street & Newcastle 
Drive 

 City Limits   to  SR 169   
Overlay existing roadway 

22 2014 Lake Sawyer/Black Diamond 
Road 

 307th PL SE    to  SE 292 
Street    Overlay existing roadway 

23 2014 
Plass Road 

SR 169 to City Limits/Existing 
Pavement   

Pave an existing gravel roadway 

Source:  City of Black Diamond August 2008 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-20 

7.5. Actions Needed to Meet LOS Standard 
As the City adopted LOS standard, two intersections operate at below standard 
requiring improvements under existing conditions. The intersections of Black 
Diamond–Ravensdale Road/SR 169 and Roberts Drive/3rd Avenue both operate 
below standard for existing conditions. At Black Diamond–Ravensdale Road/SR 169 
intersection, the State Route would be widened to create southbound left turn lane 
and an acceleration lane for westbound left turning vehicles. The intersection of 
Roberts Drive/3rd Avenue would be relocated to the south to provide better spacing 
with adjacent intersection and to allow construction of turn lanes on SR 169. These 
actions are included in the 2008-2014 improvements listed in Table 7-9.   

7.6. Travel Forecasts/Modeling Activities 
The Black Diamond Transportation Planning Model was revised as part of the update 
to the Comprehensive Transportation Plan with “Vissum” modeling software to 
identify future travel conditions in the City. The new information updates the City’s 
1995 and 1998 transportation planning models using a similar analysis zone structure 
and new traffic counts.    

Updated land use, population and employment forecasts for 2014 and 2025, 
identified in Chapter 3 of the Comprehensive Plan, were assigned to the Traffic 
Analysis Zone (TAZ) system by the project consultants.  The model evaluated a 
scenario for 2025 that would allow for 7,004 housing units and 3,174 jobs to be 
located within the City and Urban Growth Area.  Appendix A contains the household 
and job estimates for each TAZ.  Figure 7-2 illustrates the TAZ system used in the 
traffic model. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-21 

Figure 7-2. Traffic Analysis Zones 
 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-22 

7.6.1. Future Land Uses and Transportation Concepts 
The City intends that the Black Diamond Comprehensive Plan Transportation and 
Land Use Elements work together to maintain the City’s "small town" character in 
the face of increasing regional traffic-related impacts.  Regional traffic growth on SR 
169 may be expected to continue as long as vehicular capacity is increased on that 
route.  Similar conditions would be expected on other arterials that facilitate regional 
traffic. The need for planned transportation improvements will depend on the 
location, density and timing of area development occurs and may vary depending on 
market forces, availability of utilities and actions taken by the jurisdiction. 

Forecast Horizons 
The Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) is linked to the City’s planned land 
uses and the anticipated traffic volumes.  There are two traffic forecasts analyzed in 
the Comprehensive Transportation Plan: 

 Short Term (6-year): 2008 to 2014 

 Long Term: 2015 to 2025 

The short term forecast coincides with the City’s TIP and represents current growth 
trends and expected short term development within the City.  Future levels and 
timing of land development were based on conversations with City staff, local land 
owners, and development firms.  Changes to development patterns and priorities may 
vary the need for and the completion order of the transportation improvements. The 
long-term traffic forecast represents the future growth in housing and employment 
that will support the expected 2025 population of 16,980.  

7.7. Transportation Improvement Recommendations 
This section of the transportation plan establishes intersection and roadway 
improvement programs for the periods 2008 to 2014 and 2015 to 2025.  

7.7.1. Arterial Roadway Improvements 
A conceptual configuration for the future roadway system is shown in Figure 7-3.  
New arterial roads include: Pipeline Road, Annexation Road, Lawson Connector, 
South Connector, Southeast Loop Connector, and North Connector.   



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-23 

Figure 7-3. Future Road Network Concept 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-24 

The proposed roadways shown in Figure 7-3 are not specific to site or location.  The 
intent is to show a basic concept.  Exact locations would be determined after 
engineering and environmental review.  These new roads will distribute future traffic 
growth throughout the City that would otherwise have been concentrated on the few 
existing major arterials. 

The Pipeline and North Connector Roads would enhance the circulation for industrial 
development.  The Annexation Road would provide north-south and east-west 
circulation through the southwestern portion of the City’s Expansion Area.  Other 
new facilities are proposed to improve general circulation.  

Agency Coordination 
Improvements on SR 169 will require coordination with WSDOT; however, the 
Comprehensive Plan should include a vision for SR 169 through the City.  The City 
could use the vision to begin discussions with the State of Washington to coordinate 
the future design of the road.  Then as development occurs along the highway, 
improvements (such as lanes, sidewalks, bike lanes, median planting, turn pockets, 
driveways, and signals) could be implemented consistent with the overall design.  
The City will continue to participate in the development of the SR 169 Route 
Development Plan and in its future implementation. 

Intersection Control Requirements   
Although the construction of new collectors roads and connecting arterials will help 
distribute traffic, key intersection will warrant traffic control and intersection 
improvements to meet the City‘s LOS standards in the future.  The City will require a 
roundabout intersection improvement as the preferred solution to address the 
increasing turning movements at intersections. Where it is shown that the traffic 
movements cannot be handled and or the site conditions will not allow for a 
roundabout, signalization of the intersection can be considered.  The necessity for 
and location of intersection improvements would be established at the time 
development occurs.  The City will look to avoid locating signals in Black 
Diamond’s historic downtown area.  Many intersection control improvements are 
expected and warranted during the 20 year planning period.  The improvement for 
roads and intersections will be implemented incrementally with developments as 
traffic volumes increase. 

 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-25 

7.7.2. Roadway Conditions: 2014 
This plan anticipates future conditions for the year 2014 to derive the six-year 
improvement program. The PM peak hour volumes anticipated on study area 
roadways for 2014 are depicted in Figure 7-4.  The 2014 analysis includes the 
roadway projects identified in the existing Six-Year 2008-2014 TIP plus additional 
improvements needed to ensure that the roadway system meets the City’s LOS C 
standard.  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-26 

Figure 7-4. 2014 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes and Roadway Network 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-27 

2008 to 2014 Recommendations 
Development and increasing traffic from neighboring jurisdictions will increase 
traffic volumes throughout the City.  Table 7-9 and Figure 7-5 list the 2008 to 2014 
recommended actions.  The transportation improvements recommended are expected 
to meet the projected travel needs throughout the City.   

Table 7-9. 2008-2014 Transportation Improvements 
Improvement Action Comments 

A1,  Annexation Road Construct 36’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access to new 
development 

A2, Lake Sawyer Extension Construct 24’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access to new 
development 

A3, Roberts Drive Realignment Construct 24’ wide collector 
roadway 

Realigns Roberts Drive to match 
with Lawson Connector 

A4, Lawson Connector Construct 36’ wide minor arterial 
roadway 

Provides access and serves as 
vital connection to areas to the 
east of SR 169 

A5, Loop Connector Construct 36’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access and improves 
circulation in area 

A6, South Connector Construct 36’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access and improves 
circulation in area 

A7, Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Road/SR 169 

Channelization Improvements Improves intersection operations 

A8, SR169/Roberts Dr/Lawson 
Connector Street 

Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection operations 

A9, Jones Lake Rd/Loop 
Connector/SR 169 

Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection operations 

A10, Existing Roadways Widen/Pave/Overlay Per Six-Year TIP 

Note:  Ultimate road design will be subject to engineering requirements and design guidelines. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-28 

Figure 7-5. Transportation Improvements for 2008 – 2014 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-29 

Level of Service – 2014 
With the completion of the recommended 2008 to 2014 projects, the City’s roadways 
and intersections would meet the LOS C standard.  Table 7-10 indicates Level of 
Service for volume/capacity criteria and arterial operating speeds for 2014.  All 
roadways operate at LOS A following the City’s criteria.  For intersections, Table 7-
11 indicates the intersection LOS operation for 2014. 

Table 7-10. Future Level of Service Summary (2014) 
LOS 

 Arterial 
Volume/Capacity  

(Max %) 
Average Speed  
(% of Posted) (V/C) Speed 

Black Diamond - Ravensdale Road 16 100 A A 

Auburn - Black Diamond Road 18 99 A A 

Roberts Drive 50 98 A A 

Lake Sawyer Road 44 96 A A 

Baker Street 6 100 A A 

Lawson Street 6 100 A A 

Morgan Street 24 99 A A 

Railroad Avenue - Jones Lake Road 17 99 A A 

SR 169 North of City Limits 64 88 A B 

SR 169 within City limits 44 91 A A 

SR 169 South of City limits 58 95 A A 

Annexation Road 13 100 A A 

Lawson Connector 32 99 A A 

South Connector 9 100 A A 

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-30 

Table 7-11. Future Intersection Level of Service Summary (2014) 

Intersection Control Direction LOS 
Delay 

(s) 

SE 288th Street/232nd Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.5 

Covington-Sawyer Road/216th Avenue SE Signal Average A 8.2 

SE 296th Street & 219th Avenue SE Signal Average B 14.0 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Westbound C 20.8 

SE Green River Gorge Road/270th Way SE Stop-Controlled Southbound A 8.5 

Roberts Drive/SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average B 16.7 

Lawson Street/Lawson Connector Stop-Controlled Southbound B 11.7 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Lake Sawyer Road SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 18.2 

Roberts Drive/Morgan Street Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 11.8 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Annexation Road Stop-Controlled Northbound B 10.3 

Baker Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 14.7 

Baker Street/Railroad Avenue (Jones Lake Road) Stop-Controlled Westbound B 10.5 

Lawson Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 13.5 

Lawson Street/5th Avenue Stop-Controlled Southbound A 9.8 

Railroad Avenue (Jones Lake Road)/SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average A 9.3 

Lake Sawyer Extension/Annexation Road Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.5 

South Connector & SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 18.5 

SE 288th Street/216th Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 21.7 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/Kanasket Street Stop-Controlled Southbound A 9.3 

Roadway Conditions: 2025 
The traffic volumes anticipated for the year 2025 are depicted in Figure 7-6. The City 
expects that additional arterial roads will be needed in the planning area.  SR 169 and 
Roberts Drive will continue to carry the largest volumes of traffic.  The Morgan 
Street and the Railroad Avenue connection between Auburn-Black Diamond and SR 
169 would serve as a prominent collector road.  Southbound PM peak hour volumes 
on SR 169 could be as high as 1200 vehicles per hour (at the north city limits).  
Traffic volumes on the existing minor arterial roads would also be impacted.  Black 
Diamond-Ravensdale Road volume, for example, would increase from 200 (2006) to 
350 (2025) vehicles during the PM peak hour. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-31 

Figure 7-6. 2025 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-32 

2015 to 2025 Recommendations 
Future transportation recommendations for the 2015-2025 time horizon are shown in 
Table 7-12 and Figure 7-7.  The program improves existing facilities, provides 
connections to “fill-in” the existing system, and constructs new facilities to meet the 
projected travel needs throughout the City of Black Diamond.  

Table 7-12. 2015-2025 Horizon Transportation Improvements 
Improvement Action Comments 
B1, North Connector Construct 36’ wide minor arterial 

roadway 
Provides access and improves 
circulation in area 

B2, Pipeline Road Construct 36’ wide minor arterial 
roadway 

Provides alternative east -west 
arterial to Auburn - Black 
Diamond Road 

B3, SR 169 Improvements Widen to 3 lanes with TWLTL from 
North Connector to Jones Lake Rd 

Alleviates left turn congestion 
along existing facility 

B4, Pipeline Road/SR 169 Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection 
operations 

B5, North Connector/SR 169 Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection 
operations 

B6, Pipeline Road/North Connector Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B7, Pipeline Road/Lake Sawyer Rd Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B8, Roberts Drive/North Connector Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B9, Auburn-Black Diamond 
Rd/Pipeline Rd 

Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B10, Morgan St/North Connector Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B11, Lake Sawyer Ext/Annexation Rd Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B12, South Connector/North 
Connector 

Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B13, Roberts Drive/Lake Sawyer Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

Note: The projects listed identify needed facilities within the city if the projected growth takes place during the 20 year period.  Not 
all of the projects will be the City’s responsibility to provide.  New development, which necessitates the new roads, will contribute 
to the new roads.  New development will also be responsible for providing on-site roads and circulation, which is not identified in 
the TIP.  



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-33 

Figure 7-7. Transportation Improvements for 2015 –2025 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-34 

2025 Level of Service 
With the listed improvements for 2015 to 2025, the City’s arterial and collector road 
system should operate within acceptable Levels of Service.  Table 7-13 shows the 
volume to capacity and speed LOS measures with the proposed roadway 
improvements. Table 7-14 indicates the intersection LOS operation for 2025.  With 
the intersection improvements described in Table 7-12, all intersections will meet the 
City’s LOS C standard. 

Table 7-13.  Future Level of Service Summary (2025) 
LOS 

 Arterial 
Volume/Capacity  

(Max %) 
Average Speed 
(% of Posted) 

(V/C
) Speed 

Black Diamond - Ravensdale Road 22 100 A A 

Auburn - Black Diamond Road 42 100 A A 

Roberts Drive 18 98 A A 

Lake Sawyer Road 54 95 A A 

Baker Street 6 100 A A 

Lawson Street 6 100 A A 

Morgan Street 28 98 A A 

Railroad Avenue - Jones Lake Road 21 99 A A 

SR 169 North of City Limits 86 71 C B 

SR 169 within City limits 42 94 A A 

SR 169 South of City limits 53 95 A A 

Annexation Road 61 95 A A 

Lawson Connector 35 98 A A 

South Connector 60 95 A A 

North Connector - North of Morgan 88 81 C B 

North Connector - South of Morgan 88 64 C C 

 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-35 

Table 7-14. Future Intersection Level of Service Summary (2025) 

Intersection Control Direction LOS 
Delay 
(sec) 

SE 288th St/232nd Ave SE Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.3 

Covington-Sawyer Rd/216th Ave SE Signal Average A 8.6 

SE 296th St & 219th Ave SE Signal Average B 14.3 

North Connector/ SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average B 14.8 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Rd-Pipeline 
Rd/SR 169 

Roundabout/Signal Average C 28.3 

SE Green River Gorge Rd/270th Way SE Stop-Controlled Southbound A 8.6 

Pipeline Rd/North Connector Roundabout/Signal Average C 22.9 

Roberts Dr/SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average C 20.6 

Pipeline Rd/Lake Sawyer Rd SE Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 24.5 

Lawson St/Lawson Connector Stop-Controlled Southbound B 11.7 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Lake Sawyer Rd 
SE 

Roundabout/Signal Average A 7.8 

Roberts Dr/Morgan Street Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 14.1 

Roberts Dr/North Connector Roundabout/Signal Average B 10.8 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Annexation Rd-
Pipeline Rd 

Roundabout/Signal Average B 14.2 

Morgan St/North Connector Roundabout/Signal Average B 16.2 

Baker St/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 14.5 

Baker St/Railroad Ave (Jones Lake Rd) Stop-Controlled Westbound B 10.2 

Lawson Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 17.5 

Lawson Street/5th Avenue Stop-Controlled Southbound A 9.5 

Railroad Ave (Jones Lake Rd)/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Westbound A 6.7 

Lake Sawyer Ext/Annexation Rd Roundabout/ 
All-Way Stop 

Average B 14.0 

South Connector & SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 22.2 

SE 288th St/216th Ave SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 17.0 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Rd/Kanasket St Stop-Controlled Southbound A 10.0 

 
 

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-36 

7.7.3. Public Transportation 
Metro is expected to continue the three transit routes into the 2014 horizon year 
depending on ridership levels and available funding. Service frequency may be 
increased, however, depending upon demand in the Black Diamond, Maple Valley, 
and the Enumclaw areas.   By the 2025 forecast year, additional park-and-ride 
facilities and transit service may be needed along SR 169. Other transit facilities may 
be necessary to serve new residential and employment within the City.  The likely 
locations would be along Roberts Drive or Lake Sawyer Road.  Long-range planning 
actions should identify potential parking facilities that could be used as park-and-ride 
facilities while being shared with other land uses. 

7.7.4. Pedestrian and Bicycle Facilities  
Sidewalks, walkways, and bicycle paths are integral parts of road design, as they are 
typically located within the roadway right-of-way.  Sidewalks should be located on 
roads providing access to downtown areas, schools, parks, shopping centers, office 
buildings, and along transit routes.  Sidewalk design standards should be applied by 
the City to address areas with high pedestrian activity, to increase pedestrian comfort 
and to allow for street plantings. 

Bicycle lanes or paths are especially useful where bicycle traffic is high; especially 
near parks, schools, and other uses generating bicycle traffic.  Bicycles can 
sometimes be accommodated without a bicycle lane on low volume local or collector 
roads.  A five-foot minimum bicycle lane should be developed on higher volume 
roadways.   

Bicycles are not appropriate on sidewalks designed for pedestrians.  In low volume 
areas where bicycles and pedestrians share the sidewalk, an eight-to-ten foot wide 
path is needed.  In areas with high bicycle traffic volumes, a separate five-foot 
bicycle path is needed. 

Black Diamond recognizes the importance of pedestrian facilities for recreation and 
commuter uses.  The Black Diamond Park Plan (1989) set development of the City’s 
trail system as its first objective: 

"Develop a trail system which will connect Black Diamond's historic district, 
neighborhoods, Jones Lake and Morganville with an integrated King County regional 
trail system and state trail system along the Green River." 

Also, the Park Plan's 5th Objective states: 

"Wherever possible encourage the construction and interconnection of trails." 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-37 

The trail system is a major component of the City’s proposed non-motorized 
transportation system. The City will identify future trail improvements in its update 
to the City’s Park Plan.  

Recommendations 
Presently, the City has an incomplete sidewalk system.  Sidewalks are provided at 
various locations within the City.  The City road construction standards now require 
sidewalks on all new roads.  It is recommended that sidewalks, walkways, or trails be 
constructed on all new and reconstructed facilities within the city limits. 

There is not a system of bicycle paths or lanes in Black Diamond. New roadways 
should include bike lane provisions along arterial and collector facilities in Black 
Diamond.  It is recommended that bike lanes be constructed along existing arterial 
and collector roadways in the future when they are scheduled for rehabilitation or 
reconstruction.    

As stated in the transportation policies (T-7), the City encourages the development of 
a network of off-road facilities for non-motorized travel.  The City should seek these 
facilities in connection with new development and should attempt to identify 
potential off-street bicycle routes (Class I) for cyclists wherever sufficient public 
demand and space can be made available.   These non-motorized transportation 
improvements will be identified in the update to the City’s Parks Plan.   

The recommended non-motorized facilities in this plan will have a positive impact on 
the transportation system. The Plan’s support for bicycle facilities would also help 
encourage alternatives for shorter length trips. 

7.7.5. Transportation Demand Management Strategies 
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) is a term encompassing a broad range 
of measures designed to promote alternatives to the single-occupant vehicle (SOV).  
By promoting these alternatives, mobility can be maintained without expanding the 
capacity of the road network. 

TDM strategies generally include increased public transportation service, ride-
sharing programs and other transportation systems management strategies, such as 
improved signal coordination and timing.   

Commute Trip Reduction 
Washington State’s Commute Trip Reduction Law (RCW 70.94.521) requires all 
employers with more than 100 full-time employees in counties with populations 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-38 

greater than 150,000 (including King County) to implement a commuter trip 
reduction (CTR) plan.  Although presently there are no employers within Black 
Diamond that employ more than 100 employees, anticipated employment growth 
may necessitate a CTR program in the future. 

Reducing congestion includes strategies to reduce demands on the transportation 
system.  Some elements of a CTR plan include: 

 provision of preferential parking or reduced parking charges, or both for HOV’s 
(high-occupancy vehicles) and institution of paid parking for single occupant 
vehicles; 

 provision of commuter ride matching services to facilitate employee ridesharing 
for commute trips; 

 provision for subsidies for transit passes or employee use of HOV’s; 

 vehicles for car pooling and van pooling; 

 permitting flexible work schedules to facilities employer’s use of transit, car 
pools, and van pools; 

 cooperation with transportation providers to provide additional service to the 
work site; 

 provision for bicycle parking facilities, lockers, changing areas, showers for 
employees who bicycle or walk to work; 

 establishment of a program to permit employees to work part or full time at home 
or at an alternative work site closer to their homes (telecommuting); 

 establishment of a program of alternative work schedules such as compressed 
work week (four day work week); and 

 employer-guaranteed ride home for employees who use alternative transportation 
modes. This program allows employees to use a company vehicle or provides a 
taxi reimbursement if there is a family emergency or they are required to work 
outside their normal work hours. 

The City of Black Diamond encourages drivers of single occupancy vehicles to 
consider alternate modes of travel such as carpools, vanpools, transit, non-motorized 
travel, and alternative work schedules. 

Land Use Policy 
A City’s ability to regulate land use is the most effective way available to manage 
travel demand.  Land use plans and the planning and zoning sections of city codes are 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-39 

the principal instruments for implementing land use policy.  Some examples of land 
use policy instruments are discussed below: 

Prohibition on Development 
Prohibiting development is the most effective way of impacting traffic.  Without 
development, traffic impact from a parcel is virtually non-existent.  Imposing low 
density agricultural or open space zoning, where appropriate pursuant to GMA, is an 
example. 

Zoning and Land Use Designation 
Zoning and land use designation of individual parcels are very important in 
determining traffic impacts.  In general, retail (particularly fast-food and convenience 
stores) generates the most traffic per employee or square foot of development.  
Conversely, industrial developments (such as heavy manufacturing and warehousing) 
generally have lower traffic impacts.  Most other commercial activities (offices, 
medical, etc.) and residential areas fall somewhere in between these extremes. 

Standards for Transportation Facilities 
City codes may also regulate the number and location of driveways, the required 
minimum (and in some cases, maximum) number of parking spaces, the number and 
convenience of bicycle parking spaces, and sidewalk requirements. These 
requirements can provide for good design that can maximize the efficiency of the 
roadway system and can promote use of commute alternatives. 

Recommendations 
The City of Black Diamond should encourage demand management of the 
transportation system.  This can be accomplished by the following: 

 Encourage the use of buses, carpools, and vanpool programs through both private 
programs and the direction of Metro Transit;  

 Promote flexible work schedules allowing use of transit, carpools, or vanpools; 

 Promote reduced employee travel during the daily peak travel periods through 
flexible work schedules and programs to allow employees to work part- or full-
time at home or at an alternate work site closer to home; and 

 Encourage employers to provide TDM measures in the work place through such 
programs as preferential parking for high-occupancy vehicles, improved access 
for transit vehicles, and employee incentives for using High Occupancy Vehicles. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-40 

 Develop zoning and land use policies that promote land uses and development 
that are consistent with the City’s goals and visions and which require new 
development to adequately provide for the transportation needs of that 
development. 

7.7.6. Parking Facilities 
Residents of Black Diamond have expressed a concern for the lack of available 
parking in the “Old Town” area of Black Diamond, which is generally defined as the 
commercial area between SR169 and Jones Lake Road along Baker Street.  As roads 
are improved or rebuilt, formal on-street parking should be considered. 

In addition, vacant lots in the vicinity could be identified and considered for off-street 
parking within the “Old Town” area.  The City should encourage, allow, or facilitate 
private construction of parking lots. 

Likewise, available areas to provide parking facilities for weekend bicyclists driving 
to Black Diamond to ride should be identified.  On-street parking should continue to 
be discouraged along the SR 169 corridor. 

7.8. Funding Strategy 
The Comprehensive Transportation Plan recognizes the planning and improvement 
programming process as ongoing and provides a basis for initiating the funding 
strategy.  A funding analysis is included that examines the available sources to pay 
for the recommended improvements and new roadways.  This analysis recommends 
those strategies which would be most beneficial for Black Diamond to pursue when 
identifying funding for the improvements outlined in the Six-Year Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP).   

During the TIP process each year, the City confirms the construction costs of the 
recommended improvements and new roadways and matches the appropriate funding 
strategy to construct the planned improvements. The TIP review also allows the City 
to reevaluate the need and timing for additional improvements. 

Proposed Six-Year Financing Plan 
The City is required to create a six-year financing plan for both transportation and 
capital facilities. 

The Six-Year TIP is the result of an interactive process that balances the goals of all 
comprehensive plan elements.  Financial planning for transportation uses the same 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-41 

process as the financial planning for capital facilities; however, the timing and 
funding for transportation are restricted by the concurrency requirement and the 
binding nature of level of service standards.   

Costs 
The costs associated with transportation planning and transportation improvement 
programming include the following: 

 Maintenance and operation of the existing and proposed system; 

 Costs for designing and constructing new and/or expanded facilities; 

 Capital costs; 

 Transportation program costs; and 

 General costs associated with administering, planning, and operating the system. 

Costs associated with the transportation environment in Black Diamond include the 
cost of maintaining the existing City transportation facilities (roads, etc.); upgrading 
or expanding the vehicular road network, expanding the pedestrian system; and, 
providing bicycle facilities, system control (signage, markings, etc.), as well as 
transportation system planning and design.  It should be noted that the City is not 
fiscally responsible for the costs associated transportation improvements required by 
new development.  

Funding Sources 
A number of financial strategies are available to the City to finance the transportation 
improvements identified in the Comprehensive Transportation Plan.  Table 7-15 lists 
these strategies, their availability, and recommendations for the City to consider 
when implementing the improvement program. Historically, the City has relied on 
general fund monies and contributions from land developers to construct roadway 
improvements.   

Table 7-15. Summary of Possible Local Funding Sources for 
Transportation Improvements 

Comments 
Potential of Revenue 
Generation 

Realistic 
Acceptance Comments 

Local Motor Vehicle Fuel 
Tax  

Good In-place Funds distributed on a per 
capita basis 

Local option  Sales Tax Good Difficult Requires County 
implementation 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-42 

Comments 
Potential of Revenue 
Generation 

Realistic 
Acceptance Comments 

Impact Fees  Good Good Allows equitable funding of 
system improvements; some 
resistance by development 
community 

Developer Contributions Good In-place Development may support 
facilities that provide direct 
access; not likely to fund 
general system needs 

Local Improvement 
Districts 

Good Difficult Good for local access 
assessments for specific needs 
(e.g. sidewalks in commercial 
area); not good for mitigating 
through volumes 

Bond Financing Good Moderate Contrary to “pay-as-you-go” 
policy; may be little public 
acceptance if considered 
region wide bond measure 

State and Federal Grants Competitive Fair City has had some success in 
obtaining funds 

Strategies 
To provide a more consistent strategy for funding roadway improvements, the City 
should consider a more “pro-active” strategy for transportation funding.  

Historically, the City has relied on general fund monies and contributions from land 
developers to construct roadway improvements within the City. This strategy has 
resulted in a “piece-meal” development of the transportation system, where small 
improvements are made to an intersection rather than implementing improvements 
based on an overall plan for an intersection. The following section compares the 
City’s current method of relying on developer contributions and to an impact fee-
based strategy. 

Developer Contributions 
Description:  Site developers contribute or build transportation facilities as part of 
their mitigation of traffic impacts to the road network. This strategy relies on Traffic 
Impact Analysis studies to identify intersections that no longer operate at acceptable 
standards. The City then requires developers to make necessary improvements to 
bring the intersection or roadway back to the City’s standard. The use of developer 
contributions requires careful review of traffic studies and proposed mitigation 
measures by City staff. 

Benefits:  The primary benefit is the potential for immediate concurrency of the 
traffic impacts created by the development.  The improvement is in-place and open to 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-43 

traffic as the development becomes operational. Contributions can also accelerate 
construction of some long-range transportation facility projects within the local 
jurisdiction.  Both the developer and the City have the option of determining exactly 
when the improvement will be constructed.  The option exists to have the developer 
do the work or fully fund a City administered project. 

Disadvantages:  The primary disadvantage is that developer improvements are 
focused on fixing the “immediate problem” and can result in solutions that may not 
be desired by the city.  As mentioned earlier this “piece-meal” approach can often 
result in some unforeseen off-site impacts that may cause more traffic congestion or 
result in improvements that will need to be torn-out in the future to accommodate 
future improvements. If an intersection already operates below the standard, 
developers are only required to pay their “fair share” of the cost of an improvement --
often requiring the City to fund a portion of the improvement. Further issues can 
arise over how to deal with developments which are approved after the original 
developer has completed a major improvement (late-comers agreements).  

City Application:  There are several recommendations that have been made to not only 
accommodate growing background traffic volumes, but also to meet the needs of 
future development.  Direct contributions by the planned development in that area 
would expedite construction of these roadways links.  Improvement construction is 
closely linked to the actual development of the land.  In some cases, development of 
the City’s recently annexed areas as identified in the Black Diamond Urban Growth 
Area Agreement of 1996 require that certain transportation improvements (e.g. 
Pipeline Road) be in place prior to the time of development and/or the impacts of this 
development upon the road system. 

Impact Fees  
Description:  Local jurisdictions may assess impact fees on development to mitigate 
the impact caused by growth.  This is based on the general acceptance of the 
principle that development adds to traffic congestion.  Washington State law enables 
local jurisdictions to fund transportation improvements by assessing and collecting 
impact fees 

Methodology:  Impact fees can be assessed in several ways.  The most popular way 
determines the traffic generated by the proposed development and applies a per trip 
fee.  The per trip fee is developed through a traffic impact fee study, which 
determines the amount to be assessed. The assessment is based on the number of trips 
generated by expected levels of land development and the costs of the improvements 
needed to meet the future traffic development. The per trip fees are converted into 
land use-related measures such as dwelling units or square feet.  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-44 

The city must develop and administer an accounting system.   The funds are closely 
monitored to ensure that they are expended within a suitable time-frame (generally 
within six years from the date of payment) following development of the parcel on 
transportation-related improvements near the development. 

Benefits:  The city directly receives the funds, marked for specific transportation 
improvements, directly from the source of traffic generation – the developer.  These 
funds can be used to leverage grant funding by meeting the local matching 
requirements for cities. 

Disadvantages:  In general, the fees collected would not be expected to fully-fund the 
planned improvement thus requiring funding from additional sources.  Careful 
analysis is needed to determine the appropriate fee structure that considers factors 
such as traffic related to adjacent communities and general growth in traffic levels. 
Questions can be raised on the methodology used to develop the “per trip fee” and 
the validity of assessing a generic broad-based fee on unique traffic impacts.  
Implementation of an impact fee system may also cause some areas to remain 
undeveloped, which would have otherwise been developed.   

City Application:  Impact fee systems are useful for communities that experience rapid 
development of multiple large vacant parcels.  In the City of Black Diamond, the 
primary cause for needed transportation improvements is the future growth associated 
with and caused by planned development of several large undeveloped parcels.  An 
impact fee analysis is needed to determine whether or to what extent an impact fee 
system would generate the revenue needed for the system improvements and to 
determine the appropriate fee structure.  Following the Black Diamond City Council 
adoption of an ordinance enabling impact fee collection, a suitable accounting system 
will need to be developed to ensure collection of fees on all future developments. 

7.9. Plan Administration 

7.9.1. Funding Matrix 
Table 7-16 presents the recommended improvements, their estimated cost, and the 
time frame in which they would be constructed, along with a suggested funding 
source.  Future detail for each project will be developed as part of the annual TIP 
process.  

This section summarizes concurrency for the City to use in administering the 
comprehensive transportation plan. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-45 

7.9.2. Concurrency  

Legislative Requirement 
The Growth Management Act requires that each city and county incorporate a 
Concurrency Management System (CMS) into their comprehensive plan 
transportation element.  A CMS is a policy to determine whether adequate public 
facilities are available to serve new developments. 

 “Local jurisdictions must adopt and enforce ordinances which prohibit 
development approval if the development causes the level of service on a 
transportation facility to decline below standards adopted in the 
transportation element of the comprehensive plan, unless transportation 
improvements or strategies to accommodate the impacts of development are 
made concurrent with the development”.  (RCW 36.70A.070). 

The term “concurrent with the development” is defined to mean that improvements or 
strategies are in place at the time of development, or that a financial commitment is in 
place to complete the improvements or strategies within six-years of development.  

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-46 

Table 7-16. Transportation Improvement Project – Cost Estimates (2008 Values) 
Figure 7-10.  18 Year Transportation Improvement Program

Improvement From To Length (miles) Total Project Cost 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-2025 Type of Improvement Potential Funding
New Roads

Annexation Road Robert's Drive Appx. Location on SR 1.5 $10,166,371 $10,166,371 New roadway construction Development
Pipeline Road SR 169 Lake Sawyer/Black 1.5 $9,142,984 $9,142,984 New roadway construction Development
Roberts Drive Reconstruction  SR-169   Rock Creek Bridge  1.09 $2,100,000 $2,100,000 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Grant/Local/Development
North Connector SR 169 South Connector 1.9 $6,813,145 $6,813,145 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Development
Lake Sawyer Road Extension Auburn-BD Rd Annexation Rd 0.4 $2,682,581 $2,682,581 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Development
South Connector Annexation Rd SR-169 1.5 $5,996,613 $5,996,613 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Development

Overlays
Lake Sawyer Road   Auburn Black 

Diamond Rd.  
 320th blk  0.5 $100,000 $100,000  Overlay  Grant/Local

233rd Avenue SE   SE 293 Pl   South to end  0.1 $35,000 $35,000  Repair and overlay existing roadway   Local  
Auburn Black Diamond Road   Bruckner's Way   West City Limits  0.06 $100,000 $100,000  Repair and overlay existing roadway  Grant/Local
SE 288th St   236th Ave SE   216th Ave SE  0.7 $230,000 $230,000  Overlay existing roadway  Grant/Local
Pacific Street Neighborhood Improvements   Lawson St.   Southerly Terminus of 

Pacific/ Fifth Ave 
South  

0.2 $500,000 $500,000  Widen and Pave existing gravel roads, install 
storm drainage improvements  

Grant/Local

Commission Avenue    Morgan Street    Appx 300' SW of 
Morgan St.   

 300'  $20,000 $20,000 Repair and overlay existing roadway    Local  

Alley from Park Street to Railroad Ave to SR-169     Park St.   SR-169  0.06 $31,000 $31,000 Pave an existing gravel roadway   Local  
Lawson Street   City Limits   SR-169  1.06 $500,000 $500,000 Overlay existing roadway  Grant/Local
Lk Sawyer/ Black Diamond Road    307th PL SE    SE 292 ST   1.2 $225,000 $225,000 Overlay existing roadway   Grant/Local
Plass Road   SR-169   City Limits/Existing 

Pavement  
0.3 $85,000 $85,000 Pave an existing gravel roadway   Local/ LID  

Overlay with minor widening
Sixth Avenue/ Baker Street    Lawson St.   SR-169  0.25 $26,000 $26,000 Minor widening and overlay of existing asphalt 

roadway   
Local

Fifth Avenue North   Lawson St.   Northerly End  0.2 $26,000 $26,000 Minor widening and overlay of existing asphalt 
roadway with installation of storm drainage  

Local

Minor Road Improvements
Lake Sawyer Road Safety Improvement and Culvert 
Replacement

South Creek 
Crossing

North Creek Crossing N/A $300,000 $300,000 Safety Improvement/Install guard rail both sides of 
roadway.  Install new culvert(s).

Grant/Local

Major Road Improvements
SR-169 widening   300 ft. South of 

Lawson St.
 300 ft. North of Baker 
St.  

0.2 $1,350,000 $1,350,000  Widen SR 169 to three lanes and widen 
approaching intersections  

Grant/Local/Development

Railroad Ave Construction   Merino Street   Baker Street  0.21 $1,700,000 $1,700,000 Rebuild Existing Roadway/Stormdrainage Grant/Local
Traffic Controls

SR169/Roberts Dr/Lawson ConnectorStreet $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development/Local
Jones Lake Rd/Loop Connector/SR-169 $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development/Local
Pipeline Road/SR-169 $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development
North Connector/SR-169 $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development
Pipeline Road/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Pipeline Road/Lake Sawyer Rd $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Roberts Drive/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Pipeline Rd $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Morgan St/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Lake Sawyer Ext/Annexation Rd $163,306 $163,306 Roundabout Development
South Connector/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development

Channelization
SR 169/Jones Lake Road $300,000 $300,000 Channelization Improvements Grant/Development
Intersection Improvements in Morganville Neighborhood  $80,000 $80,000 Grant/Local

Lawson St. & Newcastle Dr. Intersection Repair  $25,000 $25,000 Grant/Local  

B.D./ Ravensdale Road Intersection  $227,000 $227,000 Grant/Local/Development
Sidewalk

Morgan Street Sidewalk Phase II Abrams Avenue Robert's Drive 0.3 $580,000 $580,000 Install new sidewalk Grant/Local
Robert's Drive Pedestrian Trail/Sidewalk SR 169 Morganville 

Neighborhood
0.8 $1,500,000 $1,500,000 Install new pedestrian trail/sidewalk Grant/Local

Lawson Hill Sidewalk City Limits SR 169 1.06 $450,000 $450,000 Install new sidewalk Grant/Local

TOTALS $49,809,839 $1,800,000 $715,000 $1,755,000 $227,000 $3,950,000 $680,000 $2,451,710 $39,319,839 

2008 Cost Estimates



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-47 

Strategies that could be used in order to maintain compliance with concurrency 
include: 

 Increasing roadway capacity or adopting transportation system management 
(TSM) strategies to accommodate the increase in demand use to development; 
and 

 Adopting TDM strategies, such as increased transit access and rideshare 
programs, to offset the increase in demand. 

Often it is a combination of improvements and strategies that create the most 
effective CMS. 

CMS Implementation 
The Growth Management Act also requires cities to formalize a CMS into a process 
that shows measurable results.  The City established a position on concurrency in a 
Concurrency Policy (T-12). The City’s CMS program is further defined below.   

A. LOS standards and providing adequate funding 
The City recommends the following LOS standards: 

Roadway: LOS C for all surface roadways and intersections within the City of 
Black Diamond. 

Transit: LOS standard is expressed in terms of a goal to monitor existing transit 
facilities and to improve transit operations as demand dictates.   

Other: LOS standard is expressed in terms of a goal to provide pedestrian and 
bicycle facilities throughout the City of Black Diamond.   

A Transportation Improvement Program with a potential Funding Plan has been 
prepared in connection with the Comprehensive Plan.  All facilities meet the LOS 
standards based upon existing, six-, and twenty-year forecasts.  The potential 
Funding Plan identifies possible sources for improvements identified in the 
comprehensive transportation plan. 

B. Monitoring/Analyzing Available Transportation Capacity  
The City of Black Diamond requires traffic impact analyses (TIA) for developments 
that impact the transportation system.  A TIA is a specialized study of the impacts a 
development will have on the surrounding transportation system.  It is specifically 
concerned with the generation, distribution, assignment, and accessibility of traffic to 
and from the development, and the impact of development traffic on the adjacent 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-48 

roadway system.  The City of Black Diamond’s guidelines for TIAs are similar to 
those of other communities in western Washington regarding when a TIA is required 
for a development and the scope of work needed to effectively analyze the impacts of 
site generated traffic.  Generally, if a development adds 10 or more vehicles in the 
PM peak hour a TIA is required.  If deemed necessary by the City, the TIA may also 
address transit and other modes for impact assessment.  The City uses the adopted 
LOS standards as guidelines for assessing concurrency and mitigation. 

A system to monitor concurrency was developed and is illustrated in Figure 7-8.  The 
most important process is monitoring available funding for necessary improvements.  
As noted in the chart, there are four options for the City to consider: 

 Other Funding Sources - look for other funding sources, such as dedicating the 
second 1/4 of 1 percent of the Real Estate Excise Tax for street projects. 

 Reassess LOS standards - GMA allows a community to change LOS standards 
annually.  Any changes to LOS standards should be done in connection with 
annual TIP reviews. 

 Reassess Land Use - GMA requires that if the funding for capital improvements 
(such as roads) cannot be met, the land use or levels of development within the 
plan should be re-assessed. 

 Growth Moratorium - per GMA requirements.  If funding cannot be met, and the 
LOS standard unchangeable, then GMA requires development to be stopped until 
either issue can be resolved. 

C. Analyzing External Influences on Concurrency Management System. 
The City’s LOS standards will also be used to evaluate impacts to the transportation 
system created by development outside the City.  The City’s annual TIP development 
process will evaluate if concurrency standards have been exceeded and identify the 
improvements needed to maintain the City’s standards. The City should seek 
appropriate funding sources to mitigate through traffic impacts. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-49 

Figure 7-8. Concurrency Management System 
 

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-50 

7.10. Transportation Plan 
The Black Diamond Comprehensive Transportation Plan emphasizes that the 
transportation system should be designed to provide safe and efficient vehicular 
circulation, while at the same time maintaining a pedestrian-oriented "small town" 
environment.  The City plans to continue developing its transportation network as a 
grid system. The Plan will utilize a grid of similar smaller roads as well as linking 
existing and planned neighborhoods to accommodate future growth.  Street 
construction standards are to be used to reinforce the transportation goals and 
policies. 

The Plan’s policy guidance includes using the existing transportation system 
efficiently and encouraging transportation alternatives, such as transit, HOV use, and 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities.  Cooperation between affected jurisdictions (City of 
Black Diamond, State of Washington, King County and the Puget Sound Regional 
Council) in planning for state highways and county roads is also supported by City 
policies.  The presence of both state and county roads as the primary arterial system 
requires coordination with King County and Washington State in the planning of 
these roads. 

7.10.1. Alternative Modes 
The Comprehensive Plan identifies that a comprehensive network of non-motorized 
facilities, including trails, sidewalks, and bicycle facilities to be developed. These 
facilities would enhance non-motorized mobility options and reduce automobile 
dependency.  Similarly, an off-street parking plan for Old Town, a park-and-ride for 
City residents, and visitor parking to serve bicyclists who come to Black Diamond to 
ride on weekends are identified as desired elements of the Plan.  

7.10.2. Funding Strategies 
To provide for the necessary transportation facilities, the Plan identifies an ongoing 
program of transportation facility planning and development funded through impact 
fees, developer contributions, and public funds.  The Plan identifies that the private-
sector should fund its fair share of transportation facility improvement costs. 

7.10.3. Transportation Improvement Program 
Road improvement projects for existing deficiencies are identified for the short term 
(2008 to 2014) as required by GMA.  New roads are identified for both the short-



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-51 

term and the long-term (2015 to 2025) for better circulation for vehicles.  The road 
system identified in Figure 7-5 and Figure 7-7 form the basis for the long-term 
motorized transportation improvements.  Non-motorized transportation 
improvements will be identified in the City’s update to the Trails Plan. 

The improvements proposed for the short and long term are intended to mitigate the 
impacts of anticipated traffic growth.  Construction of additional roads identified in 
the proposed Arterial and Collector System Plan will serve to divert and spread 
traffic flows. 

7.10.4. Transportation and Land Use Element Coordination 
The Black Diamond Comprehensive Plan Transportation and Land Use Elements are 
intended to work together to maintain the City’s "small town" character in the face of 
increasing regional traffic.  Surrounding King County land uses and other regional 
land use patterns may produce adverse effects on Black Diamond traffic.  Land use 
patterns that perpetuate automobile dependency would be expected to increase traffic 
in Black Diamond.  It should be noted that an isolated change of land uses within the 
City may not, by itself, be expected to produce improved City-wide mobility.   

7.10.5. Transportation Facilities and LOS Standards 
Coordination  

Intergovernmental coordination is essential for the cost-effective provision of 
transportation services.  The City does not possess the resources nor is it fiscally 
responsible for addressing all the of the transportation circulation system needs that 
might be identified through transportation planning.  The City has reviewed the plans 
of the County and State Department of Transportation and has assessed the impact of 
their plan on the transportation facilities in Black Diamond.  The level of service 
standards and proposed transportation improvements to be adopted by this element 
are not inconsistent with the level of service standards or plans of other jurisdictions.  
In addition, the City is committed to actively seek financial resources necessary to 
achieve the goals of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan.  

7.11. Transportation Goals and Policies 
Transportation goals and policies provide a framework for the comprehensive 
transportation plan and also a means for making decisions. The goal of providing a 
high quality transportation system must be constantly balanced with the goal of 
minimizing public expenditures.  Similarly, the goal of quality transportation must be 
balanced with the effects a particular project may have on the environment. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-52 

The goals and policies presented below are to be used to help guide the City’s 
decision making.  Because it is possible that some goals and policies could conflict 
with one another in particular circumstances, the City and the public may be called 
upon to balance the various goals.  The analysis of any given proposal should 
consider all modes of transportation and all methods of efficiently managing the 
transportation system.  Included in the text is a discussion of the concepts that 
support the goals and policies.  

7.11.1. Transportation Goals and Policies 
The goals set forth below form the foundation for this transportation plan.  The 
planning policies describe how the goals will be measured and evaluated.  

Goal T-1: Establish an adequate and well-maintained transportation system that 
provides safe and cost-efficient movement of people and goods 

Design, Construction and Maintenance Policies 

The following policies guide the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of 
the City’s transportation system. An underlying objective is to develop a multi-modal 
transportation system to serve all existing and future land uses. The policies address 
design and construction standards of transportation facilities to accommodate all 
types of transportation safely and efficiently. Level of Service standards, 
maintenance standards, and the need for Transportation Demand Management 
strategies are also addressed. 

Policy T-1 Roadway Design Policy:    

Ensure adequate and safe access to property via a system of primarily 
public and limited private roads. 

 A range of design and construction standards for all facilities should 
be  adopted by the City.  All roadway design will be coordinated 
with King County, Washington State, the Federal Highway 
Administration, and Metro Transit to achieve compatible design 
criteria, where applicable.  The standards will comply with federal 
and state design criteria. The City will also investigate allowing “low 
impact development” designs that minimize pavement width and 
emphasize the use of storm drainage techniques to increase natural 
treatment and infiltration. 

Policy T-2 Connectivity Policy:    



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-53 

Provide an interconnected network of roads and trails for ease and 
variety of travel. 

 The City of Black Diamond recognizes that increasing connections 
throughout the city not only reduces traffic congestion but also 
increases the sense of unity in the community.  Therefore, the City 
will limit the use of cul-de-sacs, dead end roads, loops, and other 
street layouts that form barriers to travel. Private streets should 
generally only be allowed to serve a limited number of lots/dwelling 
units and/or only in unique circumstances. Private streets should not 
detract from overall motorized and nonmotorized circulation. The 
City will encourage the use of trails and other connections that 
provide ease of travel between neighborhoods and community 
centers. 

Policy T-3 Level of Service Standard Policy:  

Adopt levels of service that reflect the preference of the community. 
Ensure that new development does not degrade transportation 
facilities below adopted standards.  

The City will adopt a level of service “C” for peak-hour traffic flow 
on roadways and intersections within the Black Diamond city limits.  
The levels of service are based upon the Highway Capacity Manual 
and are detailed in the Transportation Element. 

Policy T-4 Maintenance Policy:   

Maintain the City’s transportation system at a level that is 
comparable with the design standards applied to new facilities. 

The City will establish programs and schedules, such as a pavement 
overlay program, for the level and frequency of maintenance on its 
roadways, bikeways, and sidewalks.   

Policy T-5 Access Policy:   

Limit and provide access to the road network in a manner consistent 
with the function and purpose of each roadway. 

The City will seek consolidation of access points to state highways, 
arterials, and major collectors.  This will complement the highway 
and arterial system, reduce interference with traffic flows on 
arterials, and discourage through traffic on local roads. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-54 

Policy T-6 Local Access Policy:   

Establish a standard to limit the number of dwelling units that may 
be served before a second point of access is required. Limit the 
length of dead end streets by either distance or number of lots served.  

 Safe and convenient access requires multiple routes of ingress and 
egress. This is important for both resident’s convenience and for fire 
and police protection. A standard should be developed that balances 
unique topographic characteristics, future development plans, and the 
need for providing adequate access.  

Policy T-7 Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Policy: 

The City of Black Diamond will encourage demand management of 
the transportation system by: 

1. Encouraging the use of High Occupancy Vehicles - Buses, 
carpools, and vanpool programs through both private programs 
and the direction of Metro Transit; 

2. Promoting flexible work schedules allowing use of transit, 
carpools, or vanpools; 

3. Promoting reduced employee travel during the daily peak travel 
periods through flexible work schedules and programs to allow 
employees to work part- or full-time at home or at an alternate 
work site closer to home; and 

4. Encouraging employers to provide TDM measures in the work 
place through such programs as preferential parking for HOVs, 
improved access for transit vehicles, and employee incentives for 
sharing rides. 

Policy T-8 Pedestrians, Bicycles, and Transit Policy: 

Lessen dependence upon and the influence of the automobile by  
encouraging travel by other means. Provide for the safety of 
pedestrians and bicyclists.  City actions will: 

1. Develop design standards for new roadways that incorporate 
features required by pedestrian, bicycle and transit facilities;  

2. Promote transit by developing design standards that provide 
accessibility through bus pullouts, pedestrian access to bus stops 
and bus shelters; and, 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-55 

3. Seek to complete its sidewalk system and pursue development of 
a network of off-road facilities for non-motorized travel.  

4. Cooperate in regional efforts in exploring the feasibility of DMU 
service to southeast King County. 

Policy T-9 “Old Town” Parking Policy: 

Encourage the construction of additional parking in the historic “Old 
Town” area of Black Diamond, both within the public right-of-way 
and in off-street lots. 

The City recognizes that parking in the “Old Town” area of Black 
Diamond is essential to the continued growth and prosperity of the 
businesses in this area of the City.  Therefore, the City will promote 
the addition of parking spaces in the “Old Town”, possibly to include 
the use of a Local Improvement District to fund these parking 
improvements. 

Goal T-2: Provide a transportation system that preserves the “small town” 
character of the City and minimizes the environmental impact to 
critical areas. 

Road Character and Right-of-Way Policies 

Policies contained in this subsection promote the unique “small town” characteristics 
of Black Diamond and address issues regarding land use development emphasizing 
desired locations for development throughout the City of Black Diamond. These 
policies also address the City’s view on right-of-way issues. 

Policy T-10 “Small Town” Character Policy: 

Enhance the “small town” character that the City currently possesses. 

This can be done by the following: 

1. Discourage widening of SR 169 to a four or five lane facility 
thus creating a “thoroughfare” that will tend to divide the City; 

2. Encourage landscaping, parkway trees, and compatible 
architecture in the design and construction of roadways, 
especially SR 169, and other facilities along selected corridors.  
Minimize obtrusive signs through provisions in the zoning code; 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-56 

3. Limit the number of traffic signals within the City of Black 
Diamond by considering the use of roundabouts as the first 
solution where appropriate; and 

4. Adopt new road standards and development guidelines to 
minimize paving widths; preserve desirable trees and vegetation 
through minimized right-of-way clearing; and allow creative 
designs. 

5. Adopt separate road standards for the older, historic portions of 
the city that are specific to individual street geometries, with the 
goal of not causing undue disruption to existing neighborhoods.  

Policy T-11 Environmental Protection and Conservation Policy: 

Design transportation facilities within the City of Black Diamond 
that minimizes adverse environmental impacts resulting from both 
their construction and operation.   

The City will fulfill this need by: 

1. Aligning and locating transportation facilities away from 
environmentally sensitive areas; 

2. Encouraging storm drainage system designs to avoid direct 
drainage into environmentally sensitive areas; 

3. Mitigating unavoidable environmental impacts; and 

4. Soliciting and incorporating the concerns and comments of 
interested parties provided such comments are consistent with 
the goals, objectives, and policies of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Policy T-12 Right-of-Way Policy: 

Retain all existing transportation system rights-of-way, and to 
identify, acquire, and protect rights-of-way for future roadway and 
bikeway facilities. 

The policies provided in this Transportation Plan will be used by the 
City to identify current and future transportation system needs. The 
City will identify specific transportation corridors and protect needed 
rights-of-way as soon as possible.  Some methods used to acquire 
and preserve rights-of-way include: 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-57 

1. Requiring dedication of rights-of-way as a condition for 
development when the need for such rights-of-way is linked to 
the development; 

2. Requesting donations of rights-of-way to the public; 

3. Purchasing rights-of-way by paying fair market value when 
donations and/or required dedications are not possible;  

4. Acquiring development rights and easements from property 
owners; and, 

5. Protecting rights-of-way from encroachment by structures, 
substantial landscaping, or other obstruction is also encouraged 
by the City. Protection methods may include minimum setback 
requirements for property improvements and development of 
guidelines regarding installation and maintenance of landscaping 
within the public right-of-way. 

Goal T-3: Provide a transportation system that has the adequate financing 
needed to fund the necessary transportation improvements.   Funding 
will come from both public and private sector participation.  

Funding, Concurrency, and Impact Mitigation Policies 

The City faces the challenge of making the best use of the limited funds available to 
finance transportation projects.  Issues addressed by these policies include 
concurrency, identifying favorable funding sources, and deciding impact mitigation 
assessments. 

Policy T-13 Concurrency Policy: 

Ensure that transportation improvements or strategies are constructed 
or financed concurrent with development.  This also includes 
concurrency with plans of other transportation agencies. 

The City requires either a construction or financial commitment for 
necessary transportation improvements from the private or public 
sector within six years of development.  To monitor these 
commitments, the City’s Concurrency Management System includes 
the following: 

1. Adopting a traffic impact fee program; 

2. Assessing level of service; 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-58 

3. Determining compliance with the adopted level of service 
standards; 

4. Identifying facility deficiencies; and, 

5. Making appropriate revisions to the Six-Year TIP. 

Policy T-14 Funding Sources Policy: 

Secure adequate long-term funding sources for transportation 
through all feasible and available methods. 

These methods may include: 

1. Taking advantage of state funds, such as the Transportation 
Improvement Account (TIA), and the Public Works Trust Fund 
(PWTF); 

2. Encouraging Washington State Department of Transportation 
improvements on the state highway system; 

3. Encouraging the use of Local Improvement Districts (LID) by 
property owners to upgrade roads to meet City road standards; 

4. Requiring impact mitigation for projects as guided by this Plan. 
Impact mitigation payments and/or seeking voluntary 
contributions from developers may also be pursued; and 

5. Seeking funding from the federal and all other available grant 
sources. 

6. Traffic impact fees may also be pursued for selected projects.  

Policy T-15 Financial Impact Mitigation Policy: 

Require developers to contribute their fair share towards the 
transportation improvements required to meet the LOS standards.  
Impact mitigation efforts may include: 

1. Requiring developers to assist in providing additional 
transportation facilities and services in proportion to the impacts 
and needs generated by development; and,  

2. Encouraging developers to design projects that generate less 
vehicular traffic. 

Goal T-4: A transportation system that is compatible with Washington State, 
King County, neighboring cities, and other transportation providers. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-59 

Coordination and Consistency Policies 

The policies contained in this subsection address such issues as multi-agency 
planning and coordination, consistency of transportation improvement programs and 
designs among jurisdictions, and cooperation among agencies that fund, build and 
operate the transportation system within the City of Black Diamond. 

Policy T-16 Traffic Impact Analysis Policy: 

Require that a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) be prepared for new 
developments. 

The City will require a TIA for new developments that are proposed 
in the city limits of Black Diamond that generate ten (10) or more 
vehicle trips in the PM peak hour or are otherwise determined to 
have the potential for an adverse impact upon the City’s 
transportation system.  The study should include site access points, 
arterial and collector roadways and intersections of arterials and 
collectors that are impacted by 10 or more PM peak hour trips, and 
may not be limited to intersections located within the City of Black 
Diamond. The TIA shall be prepared by a licensed traffic engineer 
and will be accepted after approval by the City. 

Policy T-17 Intergovernmental Agency Coordination Policy: 

Coordinate planning, construction, and operations of transportation 
facilities and projects with other governmental agencies.   

This policy supports and complements the transportation functions of 
Washington State, King County, neighboring cities, Puget Sound 
Regional Council, Metro Transit, and other entities responsible for 
transportation facilities and services in the City of Black Diamond. 

Policy T-18 Multi-modal Coordination Policy: 

Coordinate planning and operation of efficient and varied means of 
transportation for the City of Black Diamond’s transportation 
system. 

This will be accomplished by the following: 

1. Metro Transit provides transit service in the Black Diamond 
urban area. The City invites Metro to evaluate expanding regular 
fixed transit service within Black Diamond.   



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-60 

2. The City will continue to coordinate with Metro Transit to 
provide transit connections between Black Diamond and other 
parts of King County.   

3. The City will support development of regional park-and-ride lot 
facilities by Metro Transit and the Washington State Department 
of Transportation. The City encourages such lots on sites 
promoting compatible land uses and along primary travel 
corridors for travel to King and Pierce County urban areas.  

4. The City will provide for pedestrian and bicycle facilities in the 
City’s road system through provisions in the City’s design 
standards. 

 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 09- 892 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
RELATING TO VESTING OF PROJECT PERMIT 
APPLICATIONS AND EXPIRATION OF PROJECT 
PERMITS AND ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 18.14 TO THE 
BLACK DIAMOND MUNICIPAL CODE  
 

  
WHEREAS, the purpose of the vested rights doctrine is to provide a measure of 

certainty to City regulators and developers and to protect a developer’s expectations against 
fluctuating land use policy; and 
 
 WHEREAS, although vesting of some land use development and building permit rights 
is regulated under state statutes, the law leaves certain aspects of vesting regulation to local 
judgment, including what shall constitute a completed permit application and, in some cases, 
how long a permit approval shall be valid; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the entire community to adopt a local vested 
rights policy, thereby providing a measure of clarity and certainty to City staff, developers and 
property owners; and  

 
 WHEREAS, providing clarity and certainty to both developers and the community 
affected by development requires that at some point after an application has been filed but not 
pursued by the applicant, the application should be closed. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, 
WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
  

Section 1.   Title 18 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the 
addition of a new Chapter 18.14 titled “Vesting,” which shall contain the following Sections: 
  

18.14.010  Definitions 
  18.14.020  Period for review of permit applications—Lapsing of applications 

18.14.030  Vesting of project permits 
18.14.040  Amendments to permit—Effect on vesting. 
18.14.050  Waiver of vesting 
18.14.060  Duration of approvals—Effect of permit expiration 
18.14.070  Suspension or revocation of permit—Effect on vesting. 

 
 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 Section 2. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.010 to read as follows: 
 

18.14.010 Definitions 
 
For purposes of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply: 

 
 A. “Complete application” or “complete project permit application” 
means a permit application that includes all of the information required for such a 
permit by the Community Development Director and the Black Diamond Municipal 
Code, and all applicable fees have been paid.      
 
 B. “Lapse” means that any rights or potential rights created by the filing 
of a project permit application, whether the application is complete or incomplete, 
shall cease, and the application shall be deemed void. 
 

C. “Project action” means a specific activity, located in a defined 
geographic area, relating to construction or development of such area. 
 
 D. "Project permit" means any land use or environmental permit or 
license required from the City for a project action, including but not limited to 
building permits, subdivisions, binding site plans, planned unit developments, 
conditional uses, shoreline substantial development permits, site plan review, 
permits or approvals required by critical area ordinances, site-specific rezones 
authorized by a comprehensive plan, subarea plan, or master planned 
development, but excluding the adoption or amendment of a comprehensive plan, 
subarea plan, master planned development or development regulations. 
 
 E. “Vesting” means the establishment of a date that is used to 
determine which zoning and other land use control ordinances will apply to the 
review by the City of a complete project permit application. 

 
 
 Section 3. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.020 to read as follows: 
  
 18.14.020 Period for review of permit applications—Lapsing of applications 
 

A. Upon receipt of any type of project permit application, the City 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 3 of 8 
 

shall comply with the timeframes for responding as outlined in RCW 36.70B.070, 
as currently enacted or hereafter amended, and provide an initial review of an 
application within twenty-eight (28) days, and at no stage of the review process 
take longer than 120 days to issue a determination or take other action unless the 
City issues written findings that a specified amount of additional time is needed to 
process specific complete permit applications or project types, as provided by 
RCW 36.70B.080. 

 
B. Upon notice to applicant that specific fees must be paid or that 

information is needed by the City to determine the completeness of a permit 
application or to determine whether conditions to a permit are required, failure of 
applicant to pay such fees or provide such information to the City within one 
hundred eighty (180) days of the request shall cause the application to lapse and 
become void, provided that this period shall be tolled during any period in which 
the permit application is the subject of a proper appeal.  However, the building 
official is authorized to grant one or more extensions for additional periods of no 
more than ninety (90) days each, but only where such extensions are requested in 
writing and justifiable cause is shown. 

 
C. If, after the filing of a permit application, a period of at least one 

year occurs where the City has not been contacted by the applicant and no final 
action has been taken by the City to deny or issue said permit, the application 
shall lapse and become void. 

 
D. Except as prohibited by law, any of the terms and conditions of this 

section may be waived or amended for a specific permit application by written 
agreement between the City and the applicant. 

 
 

Section 4. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.030 to read as follows: 

18.14.030  Vesting of project permits 
 A.   All project permit applications shall be considered under the zoning 
and other land use control ordinances in effect on the date a complete application 
for such permit is filed.  In any dispute over the date on which a complete 
application was filed, the applicant shall have the burden of establishing such date.  
 B.   Vesting of a complete project permit application does not vest any 
subsequently required permits, nor does it affect the requirements for vesting of 
subsequent permits or approvals, provided, a complete application for a subdivision 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 4 of 8 
 

shall be vested for the approved specific use and density identified in the complete 
subdivision application for the period of time allowed under RCW 58.17.170, as 
currently enacted or hereafter amended.  Short subdivisions shall be vested for the 
approved specific use and density identified in the complete short subdivision 
application for a period of five years from the date of final plat approval.   
 C. A complete application for a grading or filling permit vests only 
to the grading and filling on the property and does not vest any subsequent 
development or construction activities, nor does a complete grading or filling 
permit application vest as to storm water management regulations unless a 
complete storm water drainage permit application is submitted concurrently.  
Pursuant to BDMC 18.98.195(B), vesting of storm water permits for a Master 
Planned Development shall be on a phase by phase basis.   

 D. Submittal of pre-application materials does not, by itself, vest a 
project.  However, SEPA checklists and other SEPA submittals may be 
considered in determining whether the underlying project permit application is 
complete. 

 E. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, the city may 
amend, alter, or suspend any vested rights created by the filing of a complete 
permit application and/or preliminary or final plat approval where the city’s 
legislative body finds that a change in conditions creates a serious threat to public 
health or safety should development proceed under the vested rights. 

 
 Section 5. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.040 to read as follows: 

18.14.040  Amendments to permit—Effect on vesting. 

A.  “Minor” amendments.  An applicant may be granted an amendment to 
any of the conditions or requirements of a permit upon a showing of changed 
circumstances and a determination by the city administrator, or his or her 
designee, that (1) the requested amendments constitute “minor” adjustments that 
can be sufficiently mitigated through new actions that may be required as part of 
the permit amendment approval, and (2) each of the proposed amended conditions 
is not otherwise prohibited under the municipal code and would not require 
additional environmental review under BDMC Title 19.     

B.  “Major” amendments.  An applicant shall not be granted an 
amendment to any condition or requirement of a permit if the city administrator, 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 5 of 8 
 

or his or her designee, determines that the proposed amendment constitutes a 
“major” amendment.  Any proposed amendment to the conditions and 
requirements of a permit that does not meet the requirements of subsection A shall 
be considered a “major” amendment.  Permission to implement a “major” 
amendment shall require a new permit application to be filed and approved by the 
City. 

C.   Effect on vesting.   

(1) Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the City, approval of “minor” 
amendments to permit conditions and requirements shall terminate any vested 
right to the original permit conditions insofar as those conditions are inconsistent 
with the approved amendments, and, unless also otherwise agreed, approval does 
not toll or otherwise change the date upon which the amended permit lapses under 
this chapter. 

(2) Any new permit application filed as part of seeking a “major” change 
to the conditions and requirements of the original permit shall not be vested to any 
of the conditions of the original permit and shall be subject to the current codes 
and regulations in effect at the time the complete new application is filed.  

D.  City’s decision is final.  The city’s determination that a requested 
amendment is “minor” or “major” shall be final and not subject to appeal. 

E.  Amending MPD permits.  Amending of previously issued permits that 
are part of a Master Planned Development is controlled by the provisions of 
BDMC Chapter 18.98.  
 

 
 Section 6. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.050 to read as follows: 

18.14.050   Waiver of vesting 
 A property owner may voluntarily waive vested rights at any time during the 
processing of an application by delivering a written and signed waiver to the 
Community Development Director stating that the property owner agrees to comply 
with all development regulations in effect on the date of delivery of the waiver.   

 
 
  
 

Section 7. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.060 to read as follows: 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 6 of 8 
 

 
18.14.060   Duration of approvals—Effect of permit expiration 
 

A. Except where a different duration is established elsewhere in the 
Black Diamond Municipal Code, or by executed development agreement, 
administrative ruling or judicial order, or by state or federal law, all project permits 
shall expire two (2) years after the date of issuance if, in the opinion of the City, 
construction of the project has not been substantially completed, provided, an 
extension of the permit may be granted as allowed under subsection B, and a 
building permit may become void after 180 days of inactivity, as detailed in 
subsection D.     
 

B. For project permits subject to the two-year duration set forth in 
subsection A, above,  the body charged with granting the project permit may extend 
the date of permit expiration up to two (2) years for good cause, upon proper request 
by the applicant at least thirty (30) days prior to expiration of the permit.  Requests 
for extensions shall be submitted on forms provided by the City with payment of a 
fee equal to one-half of the permit application fee in effect at the time the request for 
extension is filed.  Good cause shall mean the applicant was unable to substantially 
complete construction due to circumstances beyond the applicant’s control and not 
foreseeable at the time of permit issuance, and the applicant demonstrates the ability 
to complete the project within the extended time period. 
 

C.   Unless a permit has been extended pursuant to subsection B, above, 
or as otherwise provided by an executed development agreement, any vested rights 
to particular fees, regulations, or conditions of issuance associated with a permit 
shall cease upon expiration of the permit, except as RCW 58.17.170 or other laws 
may apply.  An individual or entity seeking a new permit shall be subject to each 
fee, regulation, or condition of issuance in effect at the time a new complete permit 
application is filed and to which no specific exemption applies. 

 
D. Any otherwise valid building permit shall be deemed to have expired 

and become invalid unless the work authorized by the permit is substantially 
commenced within one hundred eighty (180) days after its issuance or the work 
authorized by the permit is suspended or abandoned for a period of one hundred 
eighty (180) days after the work has commenced.   
 
 
Section 8. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 7 of 8 
 

a new section 18.14.070 to read as follows: 
  
18.14.070    Suspension or revocation of permit—Effect on vesting. 

 
A. The Community Development Director, or his or her designee, is authorized to 

suspend or revoke any permit issued by the City whenever the permit is issued in 
error or was issued on the basis of materially incorrect, inaccurate or incomplete 
information, or in violation of any ordinance or regulation or any of the provisions 
of the municipal code.  Except as provided in subsection B, any vested rights 
associated with the permit shall lapse upon revocation of the permit. 
 

B. When, in the opinion of the city, the suspension or revocation of a permit is 
based on no fault of the applicant, any subsequent permit issued for the same project 
within ninety (90) days of the suspension or revocation shall be vested to the 
regulations and requirements in effect as of the date the original complete 
application was filed and no additional application fee shall be required, provided, 
the project must still fully comply with the regulations and requirements in effect at 
the time the original complete application was filed.   

 
  

Section 9.   Each and every provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed severable.  In 
the event that any portion of this Ordinance is determined by final order of a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining provisions thereof, provided the intent of this Ordinance can still be furthered 
without the invalid provision. 
 
 Section 10.   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after 
publication as required by law.  A summary of this Ordinance may be published in lieu of the 
entire Ordinance, as authorized by State law. 
 
  
Introduced on the 15th day of January, 2009. 
 
Passed by the City Council on the 15th day of January, 2009. 
 

 
 
______________________________ 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 8 of 8 
 

        Mayor Howard Botts  
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________________ 
Loren D. Combs, City Attorney 
 
Published: ___________________ 
Effective Date:________________ 
 
V:\SnapDocs\Black Diamond - General  ('18256')\ORDIN\VestingOrdLapsing&Amend 



 
   
 

 CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND 
          January 15, 2009 Meeting Agenda 
 25510 Lawson St., Black Diamond, Washington 

 
 

7:00 P.M. – CALL TO ORDER, FLAG SALUTE, ROLL CALL 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Persons wishing to address the City Council regarding items of new business are encouraged to 
do so at this time.  When recognized by the Mayor, please come to the podium and clearly state your name and address.  Please 
limit your comments to 3 minutes.  If you desire a formal agenda placement, please contact the City Clerk at 253-631-0351.  
Thank you for attending this evening. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
  
1.)  AB09-006 – Chapter 7, Transportation of Comprehensive Plan Update  Mr. Pilcher 
 
APPOINTMENTS, PRESENTATIONS, ANNOUNCEMENTS: 
 
Green River/Kummer Bridge Update – WA State Department of Transportation   Mr. Russ East 
           
UNFINISHED BUSINESS:  None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
2.)  AB09-007 – Ordinance Adopting Vesting Periods for Building Permits and   Mr. Pilcher 
   Land Use Applications 
3.)  AB09-008 – Ordinance Amending Municipal Code Regarding Business Licenses Mr. Pilcher 
     
DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 
MAYOR’S REPORT: 
COUNCIL REPORTS: 
ATTORNEY REPORT: 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

4.) Claim Checks – January 15, 2009, No. 32734 through 32738, No. 32795 through 32796, 
No. 32739 through 32740, No. 32793 through 32794, No. 32804 through 32806, No. 32807-
32838 (voided checks No. 32797 through 32803) in the amount of $99,327.13. 

5.) Payroll Checks – December 2008, No. 15549 through 915447 in the amount of 
$283,257.00. 

6.) Minutes – Council Meeting of January 8, 2009 and Workstudy Notes of January 8, 2009. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION:   
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 

 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act – Reasonable Accommodations Provided Upon Request (360-886-2560) 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA BILL 

City of Black Diamond
Post Office Box 599

Black Diamond, WA 98010
ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  Agenda Date: January 15, 2009        AB09-006 
Public Hearing on proposed Department/Committee/Individual Created Reviewed 

Chapter 7, Transportation, of the  Mayor Howard Botts   

Comprehensive Plan Update City Administrator –Gwen Voelpel    
 City Attorney – Loren D. Combs         

 City Clerk – Brenda L. Streepy   

 Finance – May Miller   

 Public Works – Seth Boettcher  X 
Cost Impact:   N/A Economic Devel. – Andy Williamson   
Fund Source:  N/A Comm. Devel. – Steve Pilcher   X 
Timeline:  N/A Court – Kaaren Woods    
 

 

Natural Resources/Parks – Aaron Nix   
Attachments: Chapter 7, Transportation of the Comprehensive Plan Update 
SUMMARY STATEMENT:   
The proposed Transportation Plan Element of the Comprehensive Plan (Chapter 7 of the 
document) has been reviewed and recommended for adoption by the Planning Commission. 
Staff is requesting the City Council to conduct the required public hearing on this chapter but 
defer action until such time as the complete Comprehensive Plan is adopted in the next few 
months.  
 
The Transportation Plan was developed with the assistance of Fehr & Peers/Mirai Engineers, 
who performed much of the transportation modeling upon which the Plan is based. Some of the 
modeling was updated after the Council decided to establish a Level of Service standard of “C” 
for arterial roadways and intersections. Additional modeling was also completed to reflect 
additions to the future roadway network recommended by the Public Works Director.  
 
Policy revisions and additions have been made and are reflected in the document. These include 
suggestions made by Council during previous worksessions.  
 
The only testimony received by the Planning Commission was from YarrowBay, which 
expressed concern regarding some of the future proposed roadway extensions. Staff noted and 
the Commission concurred that these routes are conceptual in nature and do not indicate a 
precise route, and therefore should remain as part of the Plan.  
 
COMMITTEE REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: Planning Commission:  approval 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:   Conduct the public hearing. 

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 
Meeting Date  Action      Vote 

January 15, 2009   
         
  
 



 December 2008 7-1 

Chapter 7. Transportation 

7.1. Introduction 

7.1.1. Background 
Black Diamond’s transportation system is essential to the City’s ability to move 
people and goods efficiently.  Over the long term, this system also affects the 
location and pattern of growth.  The City will also regularly update the 
comprehensive transportation plan to address potential safety and congestion 
problems, and to direct Black Diamond’s transportation future as the City continues 
to grow.   

The Growth Management Act (GMA) includes planning requirements that link 
transportation directly to land use decisions and fiscal planning.  The Transportation 
Element of the Comprehensive Plan, also called the Comprehensive Transportation 
Plan, is structured within the context of these GMA requirements. 

7.1.2. Need for the Comprehensive Transportation Plan 
In 1996, the City of Black Diamond completed its first Comprehensive 
Transportation Plan.  A 2001 plan amendment included the transportation impacts of 
growth in the City’s potential annexation areas.  The 2007-08 update provides a 
revised look at the existing transportation system; addresses changes in legislative 
requirements; reflects changes in economic conditions; evaluates current needs; and 
reviews the adequacy of the planned transportation improvements to meet future 
travel needs and conditions.   



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-2 

The primary purposes and uses of the transportation plan include the following: 

 Determining Existing Transportation Deficiencies - An inventory of the 
transportation system identifies the existing needs of the community.  

 Meeting Growth Management Act Requirements - Black Diamond is required by 
the Growth Management Act to develop a comprehensive plan including a 
transportation element that includes a list of future system improvements and a 
multi-year financing plan. 

 Qualifying for Funding - State agencies require communities to have a 
comprehensive transportation plan that demonstrates the community’s vision of 
their future. 

 Planning for the City - Both public and private sectors can use the comprehensive 
transportation plan when making decisions about the transportation system. 

7.1.3. Elements of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan 
The transportation plan has the following key elements: 

 Transportation Goals and Policies - a list of goals and policies the City will focus 
upon to develop and maintain an efficient transportation system; 

 Transportation Improvement Program – a list of transportation improvements to 
mitigate traffic congestion; 

 Funding Strategy – a plan for funding the improvements and a contingency plan 
with additional funding sources; and 

 Concurrency Management System - a system the City will use to make sure the 
transportation network will be able to accommodate development as it occurs. 

7.2. Level of Service  
A level of service (LOS) standard measures the performance of an existing 
transportation system and the adequacy of the planned future improvements.  
Additionally, LOS standards establish the basis for the concurrency requirements in 
the GMA.  Agencies are required to “adopt and enforce ordinances which prohibit 
development approval if the development causes the level of service on a 
transportation facility to decline below the standards adopted in the transportation 
element of the comprehensive plan, unless transportation improvements or strategies 
to accommodate the impacts of development are made concurrent with 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-3 

development.” (RCW 36.70A.070(6)(b)). Therefore, setting the LOS standard is an 
essential component of regulating development. 

7.2.1. Level of Service Definitions 
Level of service (LOS) is both a qualitative and quantitative measure of roadway 
operations. Level of service, as established by the Highway Capacity Manual uses an 
“A” to “F” scale to define the operation of roadways and intersections as follows: 

LOS A:  Primarily free flow traffic operations at average travel speeds. Vehicles are 
completely unimpeded in their ability to maneuver within the traffic stream. Control 
delays at signalized intersections are minimal.  

LOS B:  Reasonably unimpeded traffic flow operations at average travel speeds.  The 
ability to maneuver within the traffic stream is only slightly restricted and control 
delays at signalized intersections are not significant.  

LOS C:  Stable traffic flow operations. However, ability to maneuver and change 
lanes may be more restricted than in LOS B, and longer queues, adverse signal 
coordination, or both may contribute to lower than average travel speeds.   

LOS D:  Small increases in traffic flow may cause substantial increases in approach 
delays and, hence decreases in speed.  This may be due to adverse signal progression, 
inappropriate signal timing, high volumes or some combination of these factors.  

LOS E:  Significant delays in traffic flow operations and lower operating speeds.  
Conditions are caused by some combination of adverse progression, high signal 
density, high volumes, extensive delays at critical intersections, and inappropriate 
signal timing.  

LOS F:  Traffic flow operations at extremely low speeds.  Intersection congestion is 
likely at critical signalized intersections, with high delays, high volumes, and 
extensive queuing. 

7.2.2. LOS and Concurrency 
The concurrency provisions of the Growth Management Act require that local 
governments permit development only if adequate public facilities are, or can be 
guaranteed to be, available within six years to support the new development.   

The GMA requires each local jurisdiction to identify future facility and service needs 
based on its level of service (LOS) standards. To ensure that future development will 
not cause the city’s transportation system performance to fall below the adopted 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-4 

LOS, the jurisdiction must do one or a combination of the following:  modifying the 
land use element, limiting or “phasing” development, requiring appropriate 
mitigation, or changing the adopted standard.   

7.2.3. Level of Service Standard  
The plan uses a level of service “C” (LOS C) standard for the analysis based on the 
City Council’s recommendation for arterials and collectors within the city limits. 
This standard is higher than other cities in the area, indicating the City’s desire to 
avoid congestion and the willingness to identify and fund future transportation 
improvements.  The cities of Covington and Maple Valley use LOS D as their 
minimum operation standards.  In Maple Valley, a LOS D is the standard for most 
roadways with LOS E as the standard for the Maple Valley Highway (SR 169), Kent-
Kangley Road, and Witte Road.   

If expected funding for improvements to meet future transportation needs is found to 
be inadequate, then the City may pursue one of the following options:  

 Lower the LOS standard to D or F for the system or for portions of the system 
that cannot be improved without a significant expenditure; 

 Revise the City’s current land use plan to reduce density or intensity of 
development  that will “fit” with the planned transportation system; or 

 Phase or restrict development to allow more time for the necessary LOS-driven 
transportation improvements to be completed by the development community 
and/or responsible agency or jurisdiction(s). 

7.2.4. Level of Service Methodology  
The City of Black Diamond has established specific methods to calculate the LOS for 
evaluating the performance of the roadways, intersections and transit. This section 
describes those methods. 

Roadway Level of Service 
The City uses two measures to evaluate the performance of an arterial roadway. The 
first measure calculates a ratio of the PM peak hour traffic volume to the hourly road 
link capacity, providing an estimate of the amount of available roadway capacity.  
The reported value is the average of all intersection links in the peak direction.  The 
second measure compares the operating travel speed with the posted speed limit 
based on an average for all non-controlled roadway links in the peak direction.  This 
measure uses a percent of the posted speed limit to define the LOS result.  The 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-5 

following applies the volume to capacity and the average travel speed to the LOS A 
to F criteria. 

LOS A:  Volume/Capacity Ratio less than or equal to 0.60 and Average Travel Speed 
greater than or equal to 90% of the posted limit. 

LOS B:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 0.60 and less than or equal to 0.70 and 
Average Travel Speed less than 90% and greater than or equal to 70% of the posted 
limit. 

LOS C:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 0.70 and less than or equal to 0.80 and 
Average Travel Speed less than 70% and greater than or equal to 50% of the posted 
limit. 

LOS D:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 0.80 and less than or equal to 0.90 and 
Average Travel Speed less than 50% and greater than or equal to 40% of the posted 
limit. 

LOS E:  Volume/Capacity Ratio less greater than 0.90 and less than or equal to 1.00 
and Average Travel Speed less than 40% and greater than or equal to 33% of the 
posted limit.  

LOS F:  Volume/Capacity Ratio greater than 1.00 and Average Travel Speed less 
than 33% of the posted limit. 

Intersection Level of Service 
For signalized and unsignalized intersections, the LOS is calculated using the 
procedures described in the latest edition of the Highway Capacity Manual (2000 
edition). 

State Highway Level of Service 
1998 amendments to the Growth Management Act require local jurisdictions to 
address state-owned transportation facilities, as well as local transportation system 
needs in their comprehensive plans. House Bill 1487 requires that the transportation 
element of local comprehensive plans include the LOS standards for Highways of 
Statewide Significance (HSS). HB 1487 clarified that the concurrency requirement of 
the GMA does not apply to HSS or other transportation facilities and services of 
statewide significance. HB 1487 also requires local jurisdictions to estimate traffic 
impacts to state-owned facilities resulting from land use assumptions in the 
Comprehensive Plan.  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-6 

The Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) adopted LOS 
standards for HSS facilities is LOS D for urban areas (RCW 47.06.140). The LOS 
target is established for Comprehensive Plans and for reviewing developer impacts 
along urban HSS facilities.  

The WSDOT also analyzes “screen lines” for deficiencies along state routes using a 
standard of 70% of the posted speed. This screen line analysis allows WSDOT to 
identify the “most congested” locations along its HSS facilities. A speed of 
approximately 70% of the posted speed equates to conditions where a highway 
achieves the maximum throughput of vehicles.  

In 2007, the WSDOT added SR 169 to the list of HSS facilities.  The State’s 2007-
2026 Highway System Plan indicates that SR 169 is expected to operate below the 
70% speed threshold (termed ‘operating less than efficiently’) during peak hours in 
2030.  

Transit Level of Service 
The Growth Management Act (RCW 36.70A) requires communities to also adopt 
level of service standards for transit routes.  The City has established guidelines to 
monitor the performance of the transit system as follows: 

 Encourage King County Metro to expand service as the demand dictates; 

 Monitor existing transit facilities to determine if additional routes are needed or if 
existing headways should be decreased (or frequency increased); 

 Monitor the need for park and ride facilities; and 

 Develop design standards for bus-pullouts, passenger waiting facilities, and other 
transit facilities. 

7.3. Existing Transportation System 
The City of Black Diamond forms the southeastern edge of King County’s urban 
area.  The traffic circulation system within the City is an incomplete grid system, 
reflective of the original settlement pattern, varied topography, and lack of substantial 
growth up to the present.  The area’s road system consists of a state highway (SR 
169), the City’s arterials, collectors, and local access roads.  Because the grid system 
is incomplete, many local access roadways are, in effect, long cul-de-sacs.  Local 
access roads are also often narrow by current standards.  Although the narrow widths 
and lack of locations for vehicles to turn-around are a serious problem for emergency 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-7 

services, the smaller area devoted to roads contributes significantly to the existing 
rural character of the community and reduces storm water impacts. 

Black Diamond is bisected by SR 169, a north-south highway, providing regional 
access from Renton to Enumclaw as well as local access.  This route is also known as 
3rd Avenue within the downtown area. Along the City’s northern boundary, SE 
288th Street is an east-west arterial that is shared with the City of Maple Valley. The 
Roberts Drive arterial provides local east-west access west of SR 169 as well as a 
link from Black Diamond to the City of Auburn and the Green River Valley 
employment centers to the west.  The Lawson Street/Green River Gorge Road is an 
east-west arterial providing local access east of SR 169 as well as access to the rural 
areas and communities to the east.   

The Black Diamond/Ravensdale Road is a north-south arterial linking Black 
Diamond and Ravensdale and providing a secondary link to SR 516 (Kent-Kangley 
Road). The SE Lake Sawyer Road is a north-south arterial that forms the City’s 
western boundary and also provides a connection to SR 516. 

7.3.1. Existing Roadway and Intersection Characteristics 
SR 169, within the planning area, is a two-lane principal arterial that generally 
divides the City of Black Diamond into east and west sections.  SR 169 serves an 
area extending between the cities of Renton and Enumclaw, providing both regional 
(to SR 18, SR 516 and Interstate 405) and local access. 

Posted speed limits along SR 169 vary depending on the amount of development 
adjacent to the highway.  Areas immediately outside the city limits of Black 
Diamond are posted at 50 mph. Within the city limits, legal speeds are reduced to 35 
mph except for a small 50 mph section from Jones Lake Road to the southern city 
limits.  All cross-streets intersecting with SR 169 are controlled by stop signs. 

SE 288th Street is a two-lane road that runs east-west.  The road is a minor arterial 
that changes to SE 291st Street as it approaches SR 169.  The road serves the Black 
Diamond residents north of Lake Sawyer and also serves as the only access for 
Maple Valley residents living north of SE 288th Street and south of the Burlington 
Northern Railroad line.  SE 291st Street is stop sign-controlled at SR 169 and 216th 
Avenue SE.  At all other intersections, the cross-street traffic is stop sign-controlled.  
The posted speed is 35 mph. 

Roberts Drive/Auburn-Black Diamond Road provides access to the City of Auburn and 
is a two-lane minor arterial.  The road changes name to Roberts Drive east of Lake 
Sawyer Road S.E. in Black Diamond.  The roadway branches into two facilities near 
Covington Creek allowing access to the City of Kent (Kent-Black Diamond Road). 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-8 

All cross-streets intersecting Roberts Drive are stop sign-controlled.  Roberts Drive is 
controlled by a stop sign at its intersection with SR 169.  Posted speeds are generally 
50 mph outside the city limits of Black Diamond and 25 to 35 mph once inside the 
city. 

Green Valley Road is a two-lane minor arterial that connects SR 169 and the City of 
Auburn.  This street is classified by King County as a collector.  The roadway is 
posted for a maximum speed of 40 mph, but operating speed is constrained to 10 to 
15 mph in certain areas due to its curvilinear horizontal alignment with steep grades. 
Green Valley Road is stop-controlled at SR 169.  It should be noted that the 
annexation of property adjacent to Green Valley Road in 1995 included a condition 
that direct transportation access would not occur from the annexed area onto Green 
Valley Road. 

Lake Sawyer Road/224th Avenue SE/216th Avenue SE is a two-lane minor arterial 
that provides access to a predominantly residential area west of Lake Sawyer.  The 
street generally parallels SR 169 between Roberts Drive and SR 516.  The roadway is 
stop sign-controlled at its intersection with Roberts Drive.  There are traffic signals at 
the intersections of 216th Avenue SE/SR 516, 216th Avenue SE/Covington-Sawyer 
Road, and SE 296th Street/219th Avenue SE.  All other cross-street traffic 
intersections along Lake Sawyer/216th Avenue SE are stop sign-controlled.  Posted 
speeds vary between 35 mph and 45 mph. 

Covington-Sawyer Road is a two-lane minor arterial that connects with 216th Avenue 
SE on the western border of Black Diamond.  It provides access to SR 18 and SR 
516. 

Morgan Street is a two-lane collector from Roberts Drive to Railroad Avenue.  
Railroad Avenue extends as a two-lane collector from Morgan Street southward to 
SR 169.  Functionally, Morgan Street and Railroad Avenue provide alternative 
connections between Roberts Drive and SR 169, bypassing the downtown area which 
is located a few city blocks to the east.  The intersection of Morgan Street and 
Roberts Drive is stop sign-controlled on the minor approach (Morgan Street).  
Railroad Avenue (also referred to as Jones Lake Road) is controlled by stop sign at 
its intersection with SR 169.  The posted speed limit on Morgan Street and Railroad 
Avenue is 25 mph. 

Lawson Street is an east/west minor arterial with its western terminus one block west 
of SR 169 and continuing east and northeast out of the City of Black Diamond.  Near 
the outskirts of the city the roadway changes to Green River Gorge Road.  The 
arterial provides access between SR 169 and residential developments in Black 
Diamond and rural areas east of the city.  The posted speed limit along this route is 
25 mph within the city limits.  Near Mud Lake, the speed limit increases to 45 mph.  
Lawson Street is stop-controlled at its intersection with 3rd Avenue (SR 169). 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-9 

Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road is a two-lane minor arterial linking Black Diamond 
and Ravensdale and serves as a secondary connection between Kent-Kangley Road 
SR 169.  The posted speed limit along this road is 45 mph within Black Diamond city 
limits. Cross-street traffic along Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road is stop-controlled. 

Baker Street (between SR 169 and Railroad Avenue) is a two-lane arterial collector 
located in the downtown area of Black Diamond.  The roadway provides access to 
the post office and school; it has a posted speed limit of 25 mph.  It is stop sign 
controlled at SR 169 and Railroad Avenue. 

All remaining roadways in the City of Black Diamond are local roads with two-lane 
cross-sections.  Most local roadways have posted 25-mph speed limits. 

7.3.2. Existing Roadway Volumes and Travel Conditions 
Figure 7-1 depicts the study area for the updated transportation plan and shows 2006 
evening peak hour traffic volumes.  Available traffic volumes were collected from 
WSDOT and King County Roads Division.  Additional daily and PM peak period 
traffic volumes counts were completed on December 5 to 7, 2006 to update roadway 
traffic volumes. 

Average daily traffic (ADT) volumes were examined within the traffic study area.  
Immediately north of Black Diamond the ADT increases to 13,900 vehicles per day 
(vpd).  Roberts Drive serves approximately 4,100 and SE Covington-Sawyer Road 
approximately 6,200 vpd.  There are an estimated 8,500 daily vehicle trips on 216th 
Avenue SE north of 288th Avenue SE.  Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road east of SR 
169 serves approximately 1,500 vpd, and Green River Gorge Road west of 270th 
Way carries approximately 700 vpd.  Other local roads within Black Diamond do not 
have ADT count history, but recent peak hour counts indicate that the daily vehicular 
trips are unlikely to exceed 2,500 vpd.   

All travel volumes were analyzed using the City’s LOS methodology.  Table 7-1 
provides a LOS summary of intersections, while Table 7-2 lists the arterial LOS. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-10 

Figure 7-1. Study Area and Existing PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 
 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-11 

Table 7-1. Existing Level of Service Summary Intersections (2006) 
Intersection Control Direction LOS Delay (s) 

SE 288th Street/232nd Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.7 

Covington-Sawyer Road/216th Avenue SE Signal Average A 7.8 

216th Avenue SE/219th Avenue SE Signal Average B 13.9 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Westbound D 32.2 

SE Green River Gorge Road/270th Way SE Stop-Controlled Southbound A 8.6 

Roberts Drive/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Northbound D 28.0 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Lake Sawyer Road SE Stop-Controlled Northbound B 11.1 

Roberts Drive/Morgan Street Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 10.8 

Baker Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 20.0 

Baker Street/Railroad Avenue (Jones Lake Road) Stop-Controlled Eastbound A 9.3 

Lawson Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Northbound C 18.8 

Lawson Street/5th Avenue Stop-Controlled Eastbound A 9.8 

SE 288th Street/216th Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 17.5 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/Kanasket Street Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.2 

 

Table 7-2. Existing Level of Service Summary Arterial Roadways 
(2006) 

LOS 
 Arterial 

Volume/ Capacity 
(%) 

Speed  
(% of Posted) (V/C) Speed 

Black Diamond - Ravensdale Road 15 100 A A 

Auburn - Black Diamond Road 17 99 A A 

Roberts Drive 43 100 A A 

Lake Sawyer Road 40 98 A A 

Baker Street 8 100 A A 

Lawson Street 14 100 A A 

Morgan Street 28 99 A A 

Railroad Avenue - Jones Lake Road 22 99 A A 

SR 169 North of City Limits 52 93 A A 

SR 169 within City limits 53 93 A A 

SR 169 south of City limits 56 95 A A 

LOS based on HCS Speed criteria for urban street segments  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-12 

In general, roadways and intersections within the City of Black Diamond operate at 
an acceptable level of service.  Consistent with the City’s adopted Level of Service 
standard, roadways and intersections must operate at LOS C or better.  Roadways in 
the City operate at LOS A and B, with travel speeds maintained at close to the speed 
limit.  The intersections of 3rd Avenue (SR 169)/Black Diamond-Ravensdale Drive 
and 3rd Avenue (SR 169)/Roberts Drive operate below the LOS C standard.  All 
other roadways and intersections in Black Diamond function with acceptable LOS. 

7.3.3. Other Modes  

Rail Service  
Presently, the City of Black Diamond has no railroads located within the City limits.  
Rail lines that historically provided service from Seattle through Renton to Black 
Diamond have been decommissioned.  The last coal trains left Black Diamond in 
1969. The old rail line passed through town in a north-south direction paralleling 
Railroad Avenue.   

Public Transportation Service 
Black Diamond currently has a low population density and is distant from major 
Puget Sound urban employment centers.  Public transportation service is available 
but is limited.  Metro currently provides three routes that serve the City:  143, 149, 
and 912.  Table 7-4 summarizes existing transit services in Black Diamond.  Routes 
143 and 149 provide 25 to 30 minute service during commute hours and Route 149 
provides 60 to 90 minute service during off-peak hours.  Route 912 provides off-peak 
hour service between Enumclaw and Covington. 

Table 7-4. King County Metro Transit Routes Serving Black Diamond 
Black Diamond @ 3rd Ave/Baker St 

Route 
Beginning 
Location Destination 

Headway: 
Minimum-
Maximum (min) Duration 

Downtown Seattle Black Diamond (via Renton) 20-30 5:34 pm - 6:40 pm 143 

Black Diamond Downtown Seattle (via Renton) 25-28 5:29 am - 6:24 am 

Renton Black Diamond 25-120 5:14 am - 4:08 pm 149 

Black Diamond Renton 37-130 7:08 am - 6:47 pm 

Covington Enumclaw (via Black Diamond) 95-100 9:32 am - 2:27 pm 912 

Enumclaw Covington (via Black Diamond) 90-104 10:29 am - 3:23 pm 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-13 

Since the 1996 Comprehensive Transportation Plan, two new routes have been added 
-- King County Metro Routes 143 and 149 -- which provide service to regional 
destinations and to the Renton Transit Center.  A park and ride lot located at the 
Masonic Lodge at 3rd Avenue/Baker Street provides 30 spaces for weekday parking 
for transit users.  Another nearby facility, the Maple Valley Park and Ride, is located 
at SE 231st Street/SR 169, and provides 122 spaces.  

The existing transit service meets the City’s defined LOS criteria. However, in the 
future, additional service as well as provisions for bus pullouts, bus stops, and park 
and ride lots will become necessary, as the population increases.    

Surface Freight Transportation 
There are no freight terminal facilities located in the City of Black Diamond.  
However, truck operations related to mineral extraction, logging and landfill 
commonly use the road network, primarily on SR 169. 

Pedestrian Facilities 

The City has limited sidewalk facilities along its arterial and collector road network.  
While adopted City road construction standards now require sidewalks on all new 
roads, many of the roads in the remaining areas of town were developed to rural 
standards with gravel shoulders or no shoulder at all.  Only two arterials in Black 
Diamond have sidewalks:  SR 169 in the downtown area on the east side of the street;  
and 216th Avenue SE between SE 288th Street and Covington-Sawyer Road on the 
west side.  There is a small stretch of sidewalk along Baker Street near the 
elementary school, on the south side of Roberts Road near the library, and a sidewalk 
on SE 300th Street near Kentlake High School.  The newly developed subdivisions 
along Kanasket Drive and McKay Lane also contain sidewalks.  

Bicycle Facilities 
No formal planned bicycle network exists within the City.  A small stretch of bicycle 
lanes was added to Roberts Road as part of the library project. Bicyclists currently 
use the existing roadways as informal routes, although there are no markings or signs 
to support the street usage for bicycles.  Black Diamond residents have voiced a 
desire to include bicycle facilities within the transportation environment.  

Shoreline/Water Transportation 
There are no navigable waterways for freight or passenger transportation in the Black 
Diamond area.  The region’s primary river, Green River, is used primarily for 
recreational purposes. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-14 

Aviation Transportation 
The nearest major airport facility is SeaTac airport located approximately 22 miles to 
the west. The City of Black Diamond does not have a local airport; however, a 
privately owned field with a runway length of 1,500 feet is located along Roberts 
Drive west of SR 169.  Nearby public use airports include Kent’s Crest Airpark (6 
miles), the Auburn Municipal Airport (14 miles) and the Renton Municipal Airport 
(18 miles).  

Parking Facilities 
On street parking is presently provided informally throughout Black Diamond in 
conjunction with the local street network.  Parking is restricted on SR 169.  
Additional public parking is currently needed, particularly in Old Town, and along 
the SR 169 corridor for weekend bicyclists driving to Black Diamond to ride, and for 
weekday commuters who wish to use transit. 

7.3.4. City of Black Diamond Functional Classification System 
Roadway classifications define the character of service that a street is intended to 
provide.  The City of Black Diamond has classified its roadway system and adopted 
roadway design standards based on the roadway’s functional and physical 
characteristics.  The functional classification system is a hierarchical system 
providing for the gradation of traffic flow from an access function to a movement 
function as defined in Table 7-5.  



  Transportation 

  December 2008 

Table 7-5. Functional Classification System Definition of the Roadway Functions 

Classification Function Continuity Spacing (miles) Direct Land Access 

Minimum 
Roadway 
Intersection 
Spacing 

Speed 
Limit 
(mph) Parking Comments 

Principal Arterial Primary - Intercommunity and 
intrametro area traffic 
movement  
Secondary - land access 

Required 1/2 in CBD; 1 in urban 
residential; 1-5 in 
suburban and fringe 

Limited - major generators 
only 

1/2 mile 35-45 (fully 
developed 
areas) 

Prohibited  

Minor Arterial Primary - Intercommunity and 
intrametro area traffic 
movement  
Secondary - land access 

Required 1/8 - 1/2 in CBD; 1/2 - 
1 in urban; 1-3 in 
suburban and urban 
fringe 

Restricted - some 
movements may be 
prohibited; number and 
spacing of driveways 
controlled 

1/4 mile 30-35 Generally 
Prohibited 

Backbone of 
the street 
system 

Collector Primary - collect/distribute 
traffic between local roads and 
arterial system;                            
Secondary - land access;            
Tertiary - interneighborhood 
traffic movement 

Desirable Not less than 1/4 mile 
from higher Classified 
arterials 

Safety controls; limited 
regulation 

300 feet 25-30 Limited Through 
traffic should 
be 
discouraged 

Local 
(Residential) 

Land Access None As needed Safety controls only 300 feet 25 Permitted Through 
traffic should 
be 
discouraged 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-16 

The following list provides the planned classifications by roadway. 

Principal Arterials 
 SR 169 

Minor Arterials 
 SE 288th Street 

 Roberts Drive 

 Green River Gorge Road 

 Southeast Loop Road* 

 North Connector* 

 Black Diamond-Ravensdale Road 

 Lake Sawyer Road 

 Pipeline Road* 

Collectors 
 Annexation Road* 

 Morgan Street 

 Baker Street (west of SR 169) 

 South Connector* 

 Jones Lake Road  

 Abrams Road 

Local Access 
 All remaining roadways within the City of Black Diamond  

Note:  * = New Roadways (For location, See Figure 7-3) A summary of the design criteria and characteristics for these different 
classifications of roadways is provided in Table 7-6.  The table serves as only a general guide for the different classifications; the 
City’s Road Design Standards should be referenced for further clarification. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-17 

Table 7-6. Road Classifications and Development Standards 

Classification 
Min. ROW 

(ft) 
Min. Paved Width 

(ft) Other 

Arterial (major and minor) 74'-96' 42' - 64' sidewalk, bike lane, planting strip 
storm drainage 

Collector Road  60'-72' 30'-42’ sidewalk, bike lane, planting strip, storm 
drainage or swales 

Local Access (Industrial) 50’ 22’ sidewalk, planting strip 

Local Access (Commercial) 60’-68’ 34’ sidewalk, planting strip 

Local Access (Rural and 
Urban)  

48'-60’ 20’-32' sidewalk, planting strip 

Source: City of Black Diamond Engineering and Design Standards.  

7.4. Current Transportation Plans and Improvements 
The City is working to identify the near term improvements that address 
transportation needs for its community.  

7.4.1. Planned Roadway Improvements 
The current planned roadway improvements consist of projects programmed by the 
City, County and WSDOT. 

WSDOT 
WSDOT has jurisdiction over SR 169 through the City of Black Diamond.  While 
WSDOT has been developing a Route Development Plan for SR 169, the plan has 
not been completed. A conversation with WSDOT’s Urban Planning Office and 
review of meeting minutes of the SR 169 Working Group, indicate the potential to 
widen SR 169 to as many as six lanes from Jones Road (in Maple Valley) to I-405 
and four to five lanes from SE 291st Street. Within Black Diamond, WSDOT has 
proposed minor widening to allow for a two-way-left turn lane north of the historic 
core of Black Diamond and a truck climbing lane south of Green Valley Road. For 
purposes of this plan, the City is assuming a 3-lane section with bike lanes for SR 
169, with potential widening at intersections to accommodate turn lanes. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-18 

King County 
King County has identified future improvements in the Enumclaw Planning Area, 
which includes Black Diamond (detail is in the County’s 2008 Transportation Needs 
Report). The County’s list of improvements in or around the City of Black Diamond 
is shown in Table 7-7.  

Table 7-7. King County Identified Black Diamond Area Facilities 
Improvements (2008 King County Road Needs Report) 

Project 
No. Project Action Location Priority Cost 

T-33 Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Road  -  Non-Motorized 

SR 169 to Kent Kangley Low $2,028,000 

OP-RD-41 Covington-Lake Sawyer Rd– 
Minor Capacity 

From Thomas Rd to 216 Ave SE  Medium $7,733,000 

RC-135 Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Rd – Reconstruction (0.6 
miles) 

From SE Kent Kangley Rd to 
268 Ave SE 

Medium $597,000 

RC-142 SE Green Valley Rd - 
Reconstruction 

From 243 Ave SE to SR 169 High $1,423,000 

RC-6 Covington-Lake Sawyer Rd - 
Reconstruction 

From Covington C/L to 216 Ave 
SE 

High $1,093,000 

GR-35 Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Road – Guardrail  

City limits to Ravensdale Way High $12,000 

GR-68 224th Ave SE - Guardrail From SE 296th St to 228th Ave High $81,000 

City of Black Diamond 
The City of Black Diamond has identified several road improvements shown in Table 
7-8. The City maintains a Six-Year Transportation Improvement Program (TIP). The 
six-year program proposes improvements to existing substandard roads and includes 
repairing and overlaying existing roadways, paving gravel roadways, constructing 
sidewalks, and widening roadways. 

Table 7-8. Black Diamond Six-Year Transportation Improvement 
Program 2009-2014 

Rank Year Location From/To Type of Improvement 

1 2008 Railroad Ave Construction Merino Street to Baker Street   Rebuild Existing Roadway/Storm 
drainage/Parking 

2 2008 Lake Sawyer Road  Auburn Black Diamond Road   
to  320th block   

Overlay 

3 2009 233rd Avenue SE SE 293 Pl  to South to end   Repair and overlay existing 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-19 

Rank Year Location From/To Type of Improvement 
roadway 

4 2009 Morgan Street Sidewalk 
Phase 2 

Abrams Avenue  to Robert's 
Drive   

Install new sidewalk 

5 2009 Auburn Black Diamond Road Bruckner's Way to West City 
Limits   

Repair and overlay existing 
roadway 

6 2010 Lawson Street & Newcastle 
Drive  

Lawson Street to Newcastle 
Drive   

Repair and overlay existing 
roadway 

7 2010 Roberts Drive Pedestrian 
Trail/Sidewalk 

SR 169  to Morganville 
Neighborhood   

Install new pedestrian trail/sidewalk 

8 2010 SE 288th Street 236th Ave SE  to 216th Ave 
SE   

Overlay 

9 2011 B.D./Ravensdale Road 
Intersection 

East City Limits to SR 169   Minor widening, radius 
construction/ improvement, 
overlay, alignment 

10 2012 SR 169 Widening 300 ft. South of Lawson 
Street to 300 ft. North of 
Baker Street   

Widen SR 169 to three lanes and 
widen approaching intersections 

11 2012 Roberts Drive Reconstruction SR 169  to Rock Creek 
Bridge   

Overlay existing roadway, repair 
broken panels, widen to standard 

12 2012 Pacific Street Neighborhood 
Improvements 

Lawson Street  to Southerly 
Terminus of Pacific/ Fifth Ave 
South   

Widen and Pave existing gravel 
roads, install storm drainage 
improvements 

13 2013 Morganville Intersection 
Improvements  

 N/A   to  N/A   Widen turning radius on 
intersections. 

14 2013 Lake Sawyer Road Culvert 
and Guardrail 

 N/A   to  N/A   Replace CMP Culverts to meet fish 
passage. Install guard rails. 

15 2013 Jones Lake Road/SR 169  Intersection to N/A   Add left turn lanes or refuge lanes  

16 2014 Sixth Avenue/Baker Street  Lawson Street to SR 169   Minor widening and overlay of 
existing asphalt roadway  

17 2014 Fifth Avenue North Lawson Street to Northerly 
End   

Minor widening and overlay of 
existing asphalt roadway with 
installation of storm drainage 

18 2014 Commission Avenue Morgan Street to App. 300' 
SW of Morgan Street    

Repair and overlay existing 
roadway 

19 2014 Alley from Park Street  Park Street   to  SR 169   Pave an existing gravel roadway 

20 2014 Lawson Hill Sidewalk  City Limits   to  SR 169   Install new sidewalk 

21 2014 Lawson Street & Newcastle 
Drive 

 City Limits   to  SR 169   
Overlay existing roadway 

22 2014 Lake Sawyer/Black Diamond 
Road 

 307th PL SE    to  SE 292 
Street    Overlay existing roadway 

23 2014 
Plass Road 

SR 169 to City Limits/Existing 
Pavement   

Pave an existing gravel roadway 

Source:  City of Black Diamond August 2008 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-20 

7.5. Actions Needed to Meet LOS Standard 
As the City adopted LOS standard, two intersections operate at below standard 
requiring improvements under existing conditions. The intersections of Black 
Diamond–Ravensdale Road/SR 169 and Roberts Drive/3rd Avenue both operate 
below standard for existing conditions. At Black Diamond–Ravensdale Road/SR 169 
intersection, the State Route would be widened to create southbound left turn lane 
and an acceleration lane for westbound left turning vehicles. The intersection of 
Roberts Drive/3rd Avenue would be relocated to the south to provide better spacing 
with adjacent intersection and to allow construction of turn lanes on SR 169. These 
actions are included in the 2008-2014 improvements listed in Table 7-9.   

7.6. Travel Forecasts/Modeling Activities 
The Black Diamond Transportation Planning Model was revised as part of the update 
to the Comprehensive Transportation Plan with “Vissum” modeling software to 
identify future travel conditions in the City. The new information updates the City’s 
1995 and 1998 transportation planning models using a similar analysis zone structure 
and new traffic counts.    

Updated land use, population and employment forecasts for 2014 and 2025, 
identified in Chapter 3 of the Comprehensive Plan, were assigned to the Traffic 
Analysis Zone (TAZ) system by the project consultants.  The model evaluated a 
scenario for 2025 that would allow for 7,004 housing units and 3,174 jobs to be 
located within the City and Urban Growth Area.  Appendix A contains the household 
and job estimates for each TAZ.  Figure 7-2 illustrates the TAZ system used in the 
traffic model. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-21 

Figure 7-2. Traffic Analysis Zones 
 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-22 

7.6.1. Future Land Uses and Transportation Concepts 
The City intends that the Black Diamond Comprehensive Plan Transportation and 
Land Use Elements work together to maintain the City’s "small town" character in 
the face of increasing regional traffic-related impacts.  Regional traffic growth on SR 
169 may be expected to continue as long as vehicular capacity is increased on that 
route.  Similar conditions would be expected on other arterials that facilitate regional 
traffic. The need for planned transportation improvements will depend on the 
location, density and timing of area development occurs and may vary depending on 
market forces, availability of utilities and actions taken by the jurisdiction. 

Forecast Horizons 
The Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) is linked to the City’s planned land 
uses and the anticipated traffic volumes.  There are two traffic forecasts analyzed in 
the Comprehensive Transportation Plan: 

 Short Term (6-year): 2008 to 2014 

 Long Term: 2015 to 2025 

The short term forecast coincides with the City’s TIP and represents current growth 
trends and expected short term development within the City.  Future levels and 
timing of land development were based on conversations with City staff, local land 
owners, and development firms.  Changes to development patterns and priorities may 
vary the need for and the completion order of the transportation improvements. The 
long-term traffic forecast represents the future growth in housing and employment 
that will support the expected 2025 population of 16,980.  

7.7. Transportation Improvement Recommendations 
This section of the transportation plan establishes intersection and roadway 
improvement programs for the periods 2008 to 2014 and 2015 to 2025.  

7.7.1. Arterial Roadway Improvements 
A conceptual configuration for the future roadway system is shown in Figure 7-3.  
New arterial roads include: Pipeline Road, Annexation Road, Lawson Connector, 
South Connector, Southeast Loop Connector, and North Connector.   



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-23 

Figure 7-3. Future Road Network Concept 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-24 

The proposed roadways shown in Figure 7-3 are not specific to site or location.  The 
intent is to show a basic concept.  Exact locations would be determined after 
engineering and environmental review.  These new roads will distribute future traffic 
growth throughout the City that would otherwise have been concentrated on the few 
existing major arterials. 

The Pipeline and North Connector Roads would enhance the circulation for industrial 
development.  The Annexation Road would provide north-south and east-west 
circulation through the southwestern portion of the City’s Expansion Area.  Other 
new facilities are proposed to improve general circulation.  

Agency Coordination 
Improvements on SR 169 will require coordination with WSDOT; however, the 
Comprehensive Plan should include a vision for SR 169 through the City.  The City 
could use the vision to begin discussions with the State of Washington to coordinate 
the future design of the road.  Then as development occurs along the highway, 
improvements (such as lanes, sidewalks, bike lanes, median planting, turn pockets, 
driveways, and signals) could be implemented consistent with the overall design.  
The City will continue to participate in the development of the SR 169 Route 
Development Plan and in its future implementation. 

Intersection Control Requirements   
Although the construction of new collectors roads and connecting arterials will help 
distribute traffic, key intersection will warrant traffic control and intersection 
improvements to meet the City‘s LOS standards in the future.  The City will require a 
roundabout intersection improvement as the preferred solution to address the 
increasing turning movements at intersections. Where it is shown that the traffic 
movements cannot be handled and or the site conditions will not allow for a 
roundabout, signalization of the intersection can be considered.  The necessity for 
and location of intersection improvements would be established at the time 
development occurs.  The City will look to avoid locating signals in Black 
Diamond’s historic downtown area.  Many intersection control improvements are 
expected and warranted during the 20 year planning period.  The improvement for 
roads and intersections will be implemented incrementally with developments as 
traffic volumes increase. 

 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-25 

7.7.2. Roadway Conditions: 2014 
This plan anticipates future conditions for the year 2014 to derive the six-year 
improvement program. The PM peak hour volumes anticipated on study area 
roadways for 2014 are depicted in Figure 7-4.  The 2014 analysis includes the 
roadway projects identified in the existing Six-Year 2008-2014 TIP plus additional 
improvements needed to ensure that the roadway system meets the City’s LOS C 
standard.  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-26 

Figure 7-4. 2014 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes and Roadway Network 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-27 

2008 to 2014 Recommendations 
Development and increasing traffic from neighboring jurisdictions will increase 
traffic volumes throughout the City.  Table 7-9 and Figure 7-5 list the 2008 to 2014 
recommended actions.  The transportation improvements recommended are expected 
to meet the projected travel needs throughout the City.   

Table 7-9. 2008-2014 Transportation Improvements 
Improvement Action Comments 

A1,  Annexation Road Construct 36’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access to new 
development 

A2, Lake Sawyer Extension Construct 24’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access to new 
development 

A3, Roberts Drive Realignment Construct 24’ wide collector 
roadway 

Realigns Roberts Drive to match 
with Lawson Connector 

A4, Lawson Connector Construct 36’ wide minor arterial 
roadway 

Provides access and serves as 
vital connection to areas to the 
east of SR 169 

A5, Loop Connector Construct 36’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access and improves 
circulation in area 

A6, South Connector Construct 36’ wide collector 
roadway 

Provides access and improves 
circulation in area 

A7, Black Diamond-Ravensdale 
Road/SR 169 

Channelization Improvements Improves intersection operations 

A8, SR169/Roberts Dr/Lawson 
Connector Street 

Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection operations 

A9, Jones Lake Rd/Loop 
Connector/SR 169 

Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection operations 

A10, Existing Roadways Widen/Pave/Overlay Per Six-Year TIP 

Note:  Ultimate road design will be subject to engineering requirements and design guidelines. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-28 

Figure 7-5. Transportation Improvements for 2008 – 2014 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-29 

Level of Service – 2014 
With the completion of the recommended 2008 to 2014 projects, the City’s roadways 
and intersections would meet the LOS C standard.  Table 7-10 indicates Level of 
Service for volume/capacity criteria and arterial operating speeds for 2014.  All 
roadways operate at LOS A following the City’s criteria.  For intersections, Table 7-
11 indicates the intersection LOS operation for 2014. 

Table 7-10. Future Level of Service Summary (2014) 
LOS 

 Arterial 
Volume/Capacity  

(Max %) 
Average Speed  
(% of Posted) (V/C) Speed 

Black Diamond - Ravensdale Road 16 100 A A 

Auburn - Black Diamond Road 18 99 A A 

Roberts Drive 50 98 A A 

Lake Sawyer Road 44 96 A A 

Baker Street 6 100 A A 

Lawson Street 6 100 A A 

Morgan Street 24 99 A A 

Railroad Avenue - Jones Lake Road 17 99 A A 

SR 169 North of City Limits 64 88 A B 

SR 169 within City limits 44 91 A A 

SR 169 South of City limits 58 95 A A 

Annexation Road 13 100 A A 

Lawson Connector 32 99 A A 

South Connector 9 100 A A 

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-30 

Table 7-11. Future Intersection Level of Service Summary (2014) 

Intersection Control Direction LOS 
Delay 

(s) 

SE 288th Street/232nd Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.5 

Covington-Sawyer Road/216th Avenue SE Signal Average A 8.2 

SE 296th Street & 219th Avenue SE Signal Average B 14.0 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Westbound C 20.8 

SE Green River Gorge Road/270th Way SE Stop-Controlled Southbound A 8.5 

Roberts Drive/SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average B 16.7 

Lawson Street/Lawson Connector Stop-Controlled Southbound B 11.7 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Lake Sawyer Road SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 18.2 

Roberts Drive/Morgan Street Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 11.8 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Annexation Road Stop-Controlled Northbound B 10.3 

Baker Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 14.7 

Baker Street/Railroad Avenue (Jones Lake Road) Stop-Controlled Westbound B 10.5 

Lawson Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 13.5 

Lawson Street/5th Avenue Stop-Controlled Southbound A 9.8 

Railroad Avenue (Jones Lake Road)/SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average A 9.3 

Lake Sawyer Extension/Annexation Road Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.5 

South Connector & SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 18.5 

SE 288th Street/216th Avenue SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 21.7 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Road/Kanasket Street Stop-Controlled Southbound A 9.3 

Roadway Conditions: 2025 
The traffic volumes anticipated for the year 2025 are depicted in Figure 7-6. The City 
expects that additional arterial roads will be needed in the planning area.  SR 169 and 
Roberts Drive will continue to carry the largest volumes of traffic.  The Morgan 
Street and the Railroad Avenue connection between Auburn-Black Diamond and SR 
169 would serve as a prominent collector road.  Southbound PM peak hour volumes 
on SR 169 could be as high as 1200 vehicles per hour (at the north city limits).  
Traffic volumes on the existing minor arterial roads would also be impacted.  Black 
Diamond-Ravensdale Road volume, for example, would increase from 200 (2006) to 
350 (2025) vehicles during the PM peak hour. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-31 

Figure 7-6. 2025 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-32 

2015 to 2025 Recommendations 
Future transportation recommendations for the 2015-2025 time horizon are shown in 
Table 7-12 and Figure 7-7.  The program improves existing facilities, provides 
connections to “fill-in” the existing system, and constructs new facilities to meet the 
projected travel needs throughout the City of Black Diamond.  

Table 7-12. 2015-2025 Horizon Transportation Improvements 
Improvement Action Comments 
B1, North Connector Construct 36’ wide minor arterial 

roadway 
Provides access and improves 
circulation in area 

B2, Pipeline Road Construct 36’ wide minor arterial 
roadway 

Provides alternative east -west 
arterial to Auburn - Black 
Diamond Road 

B3, SR 169 Improvements Widen to 3 lanes with TWLTL from 
North Connector to Jones Lake Rd 

Alleviates left turn congestion 
along existing facility 

B4, Pipeline Road/SR 169 Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection 
operations 

B5, North Connector/SR 169 Roundabout or Signal Improves intersection 
operations 

B6, Pipeline Road/North Connector Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B7, Pipeline Road/Lake Sawyer Rd Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B8, Roberts Drive/North Connector Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B9, Auburn-Black Diamond 
Rd/Pipeline Rd 

Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B10, Morgan St/North Connector Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B11, Lake Sawyer Ext/Annexation Rd Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B12, South Connector/North 
Connector 

Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

B13, Roberts Drive/Lake Sawyer Roundabout Improves intersection 
operations 

Note: The projects listed identify needed facilities within the city if the projected growth takes place during the 20 year period.  Not 
all of the projects will be the City’s responsibility to provide.  New development, which necessitates the new roads, will contribute 
to the new roads.  New development will also be responsible for providing on-site roads and circulation, which is not identified in 
the TIP.  



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-33 

Figure 7-7. Transportation Improvements for 2015 –2025 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-34 

2025 Level of Service 
With the listed improvements for 2015 to 2025, the City’s arterial and collector road 
system should operate within acceptable Levels of Service.  Table 7-13 shows the 
volume to capacity and speed LOS measures with the proposed roadway 
improvements. Table 7-14 indicates the intersection LOS operation for 2025.  With 
the intersection improvements described in Table 7-12, all intersections will meet the 
City’s LOS C standard. 

Table 7-13.  Future Level of Service Summary (2025) 
LOS 

 Arterial 
Volume/Capacity  

(Max %) 
Average Speed 
(% of Posted) 

(V/C
) Speed 

Black Diamond - Ravensdale Road 22 100 A A 

Auburn - Black Diamond Road 42 100 A A 

Roberts Drive 18 98 A A 

Lake Sawyer Road 54 95 A A 

Baker Street 6 100 A A 

Lawson Street 6 100 A A 

Morgan Street 28 98 A A 

Railroad Avenue - Jones Lake Road 21 99 A A 

SR 169 North of City Limits 86 71 C B 

SR 169 within City limits 42 94 A A 

SR 169 South of City limits 53 95 A A 

Annexation Road 61 95 A A 

Lawson Connector 35 98 A A 

South Connector 60 95 A A 

North Connector - North of Morgan 88 81 C B 

North Connector - South of Morgan 88 64 C C 

 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-35 

Table 7-14. Future Intersection Level of Service Summary (2025) 

Intersection Control Direction LOS 
Delay 
(sec) 

SE 288th St/232nd Ave SE Stop-Controlled Northbound A 9.3 

Covington-Sawyer Rd/216th Ave SE Signal Average A 8.6 

SE 296th St & 219th Ave SE Signal Average B 14.3 

North Connector/ SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average B 14.8 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Rd-Pipeline 
Rd/SR 169 

Roundabout/Signal Average C 28.3 

SE Green River Gorge Rd/270th Way SE Stop-Controlled Southbound A 8.6 

Pipeline Rd/North Connector Roundabout/Signal Average C 22.9 

Roberts Dr/SR 169 Roundabout/Signal Average C 20.6 

Pipeline Rd/Lake Sawyer Rd SE Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 24.5 

Lawson St/Lawson Connector Stop-Controlled Southbound B 11.7 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Lake Sawyer Rd 
SE 

Roundabout/Signal Average A 7.8 

Roberts Dr/Morgan Street Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 14.1 

Roberts Dr/North Connector Roundabout/Signal Average B 10.8 

Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Annexation Rd-
Pipeline Rd 

Roundabout/Signal Average B 14.2 

Morgan St/North Connector Roundabout/Signal Average B 16.2 

Baker St/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound B 14.5 

Baker St/Railroad Ave (Jones Lake Rd) Stop-Controlled Westbound B 10.2 

Lawson Street/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 17.5 

Lawson Street/5th Avenue Stop-Controlled Southbound A 9.5 

Railroad Ave (Jones Lake Rd)/SR 169 Stop-Controlled Westbound A 6.7 

Lake Sawyer Ext/Annexation Rd Roundabout/ 
All-Way Stop 

Average B 14.0 

South Connector & SR 169 Stop-Controlled Eastbound C 22.2 

SE 288th St/216th Ave SE Stop-Controlled Northbound C 17.0 

Black Diamond Ravensdale Rd/Kanasket St Stop-Controlled Southbound A 10.0 

 
 

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-36 

7.7.3. Public Transportation 
Metro is expected to continue the three transit routes into the 2014 horizon year 
depending on ridership levels and available funding. Service frequency may be 
increased, however, depending upon demand in the Black Diamond, Maple Valley, 
and the Enumclaw areas.   By the 2025 forecast year, additional park-and-ride 
facilities and transit service may be needed along SR 169. Other transit facilities may 
be necessary to serve new residential and employment within the City.  The likely 
locations would be along Roberts Drive or Lake Sawyer Road.  Long-range planning 
actions should identify potential parking facilities that could be used as park-and-ride 
facilities while being shared with other land uses. 

7.7.4. Pedestrian and Bicycle Facilities  
Sidewalks, walkways, and bicycle paths are integral parts of road design, as they are 
typically located within the roadway right-of-way.  Sidewalks should be located on 
roads providing access to downtown areas, schools, parks, shopping centers, office 
buildings, and along transit routes.  Sidewalk design standards should be applied by 
the City to address areas with high pedestrian activity, to increase pedestrian comfort 
and to allow for street plantings. 

Bicycle lanes or paths are especially useful where bicycle traffic is high; especially 
near parks, schools, and other uses generating bicycle traffic.  Bicycles can 
sometimes be accommodated without a bicycle lane on low volume local or collector 
roads.  A five-foot minimum bicycle lane should be developed on higher volume 
roadways.   

Bicycles are not appropriate on sidewalks designed for pedestrians.  In low volume 
areas where bicycles and pedestrians share the sidewalk, an eight-to-ten foot wide 
path is needed.  In areas with high bicycle traffic volumes, a separate five-foot 
bicycle path is needed. 

Black Diamond recognizes the importance of pedestrian facilities for recreation and 
commuter uses.  The Black Diamond Park Plan (1989) set development of the City’s 
trail system as its first objective: 

"Develop a trail system which will connect Black Diamond's historic district, 
neighborhoods, Jones Lake and Morganville with an integrated King County regional 
trail system and state trail system along the Green River." 

Also, the Park Plan's 5th Objective states: 

"Wherever possible encourage the construction and interconnection of trails." 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-37 

The trail system is a major component of the City’s proposed non-motorized 
transportation system. The City will identify future trail improvements in its update 
to the City’s Park Plan.  

Recommendations 
Presently, the City has an incomplete sidewalk system.  Sidewalks are provided at 
various locations within the City.  The City road construction standards now require 
sidewalks on all new roads.  It is recommended that sidewalks, walkways, or trails be 
constructed on all new and reconstructed facilities within the city limits. 

There is not a system of bicycle paths or lanes in Black Diamond. New roadways 
should include bike lane provisions along arterial and collector facilities in Black 
Diamond.  It is recommended that bike lanes be constructed along existing arterial 
and collector roadways in the future when they are scheduled for rehabilitation or 
reconstruction.    

As stated in the transportation policies (T-7), the City encourages the development of 
a network of off-road facilities for non-motorized travel.  The City should seek these 
facilities in connection with new development and should attempt to identify 
potential off-street bicycle routes (Class I) for cyclists wherever sufficient public 
demand and space can be made available.   These non-motorized transportation 
improvements will be identified in the update to the City’s Parks Plan.   

The recommended non-motorized facilities in this plan will have a positive impact on 
the transportation system. The Plan’s support for bicycle facilities would also help 
encourage alternatives for shorter length trips. 

7.7.5. Transportation Demand Management Strategies 
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) is a term encompassing a broad range 
of measures designed to promote alternatives to the single-occupant vehicle (SOV).  
By promoting these alternatives, mobility can be maintained without expanding the 
capacity of the road network. 

TDM strategies generally include increased public transportation service, ride-
sharing programs and other transportation systems management strategies, such as 
improved signal coordination and timing.   

Commute Trip Reduction 
Washington State’s Commute Trip Reduction Law (RCW 70.94.521) requires all 
employers with more than 100 full-time employees in counties with populations 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-38 

greater than 150,000 (including King County) to implement a commuter trip 
reduction (CTR) plan.  Although presently there are no employers within Black 
Diamond that employ more than 100 employees, anticipated employment growth 
may necessitate a CTR program in the future. 

Reducing congestion includes strategies to reduce demands on the transportation 
system.  Some elements of a CTR plan include: 

 provision of preferential parking or reduced parking charges, or both for HOV’s 
(high-occupancy vehicles) and institution of paid parking for single occupant 
vehicles; 

 provision of commuter ride matching services to facilitate employee ridesharing 
for commute trips; 

 provision for subsidies for transit passes or employee use of HOV’s; 

 vehicles for car pooling and van pooling; 

 permitting flexible work schedules to facilities employer’s use of transit, car 
pools, and van pools; 

 cooperation with transportation providers to provide additional service to the 
work site; 

 provision for bicycle parking facilities, lockers, changing areas, showers for 
employees who bicycle or walk to work; 

 establishment of a program to permit employees to work part or full time at home 
or at an alternative work site closer to their homes (telecommuting); 

 establishment of a program of alternative work schedules such as compressed 
work week (four day work week); and 

 employer-guaranteed ride home for employees who use alternative transportation 
modes. This program allows employees to use a company vehicle or provides a 
taxi reimbursement if there is a family emergency or they are required to work 
outside their normal work hours. 

The City of Black Diamond encourages drivers of single occupancy vehicles to 
consider alternate modes of travel such as carpools, vanpools, transit, non-motorized 
travel, and alternative work schedules. 

Land Use Policy 
A City’s ability to regulate land use is the most effective way available to manage 
travel demand.  Land use plans and the planning and zoning sections of city codes are 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-39 

the principal instruments for implementing land use policy.  Some examples of land 
use policy instruments are discussed below: 

Prohibition on Development 
Prohibiting development is the most effective way of impacting traffic.  Without 
development, traffic impact from a parcel is virtually non-existent.  Imposing low 
density agricultural or open space zoning, where appropriate pursuant to GMA, is an 
example. 

Zoning and Land Use Designation 
Zoning and land use designation of individual parcels are very important in 
determining traffic impacts.  In general, retail (particularly fast-food and convenience 
stores) generates the most traffic per employee or square foot of development.  
Conversely, industrial developments (such as heavy manufacturing and warehousing) 
generally have lower traffic impacts.  Most other commercial activities (offices, 
medical, etc.) and residential areas fall somewhere in between these extremes. 

Standards for Transportation Facilities 
City codes may also regulate the number and location of driveways, the required 
minimum (and in some cases, maximum) number of parking spaces, the number and 
convenience of bicycle parking spaces, and sidewalk requirements. These 
requirements can provide for good design that can maximize the efficiency of the 
roadway system and can promote use of commute alternatives. 

Recommendations 
The City of Black Diamond should encourage demand management of the 
transportation system.  This can be accomplished by the following: 

 Encourage the use of buses, carpools, and vanpool programs through both private 
programs and the direction of Metro Transit;  

 Promote flexible work schedules allowing use of transit, carpools, or vanpools; 

 Promote reduced employee travel during the daily peak travel periods through 
flexible work schedules and programs to allow employees to work part- or full-
time at home or at an alternate work site closer to home; and 

 Encourage employers to provide TDM measures in the work place through such 
programs as preferential parking for high-occupancy vehicles, improved access 
for transit vehicles, and employee incentives for using High Occupancy Vehicles. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-40 

 Develop zoning and land use policies that promote land uses and development 
that are consistent with the City’s goals and visions and which require new 
development to adequately provide for the transportation needs of that 
development. 

7.7.6. Parking Facilities 
Residents of Black Diamond have expressed a concern for the lack of available 
parking in the “Old Town” area of Black Diamond, which is generally defined as the 
commercial area between SR169 and Jones Lake Road along Baker Street.  As roads 
are improved or rebuilt, formal on-street parking should be considered. 

In addition, vacant lots in the vicinity could be identified and considered for off-street 
parking within the “Old Town” area.  The City should encourage, allow, or facilitate 
private construction of parking lots. 

Likewise, available areas to provide parking facilities for weekend bicyclists driving 
to Black Diamond to ride should be identified.  On-street parking should continue to 
be discouraged along the SR 169 corridor. 

7.8. Funding Strategy 
The Comprehensive Transportation Plan recognizes the planning and improvement 
programming process as ongoing and provides a basis for initiating the funding 
strategy.  A funding analysis is included that examines the available sources to pay 
for the recommended improvements and new roadways.  This analysis recommends 
those strategies which would be most beneficial for Black Diamond to pursue when 
identifying funding for the improvements outlined in the Six-Year Transportation 
Improvement Program (TIP).   

During the TIP process each year, the City confirms the construction costs of the 
recommended improvements and new roadways and matches the appropriate funding 
strategy to construct the planned improvements. The TIP review also allows the City 
to reevaluate the need and timing for additional improvements. 

Proposed Six-Year Financing Plan 
The City is required to create a six-year financing plan for both transportation and 
capital facilities. 

The Six-Year TIP is the result of an interactive process that balances the goals of all 
comprehensive plan elements.  Financial planning for transportation uses the same 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-41 

process as the financial planning for capital facilities; however, the timing and 
funding for transportation are restricted by the concurrency requirement and the 
binding nature of level of service standards.   

Costs 
The costs associated with transportation planning and transportation improvement 
programming include the following: 

 Maintenance and operation of the existing and proposed system; 

 Costs for designing and constructing new and/or expanded facilities; 

 Capital costs; 

 Transportation program costs; and 

 General costs associated with administering, planning, and operating the system. 

Costs associated with the transportation environment in Black Diamond include the 
cost of maintaining the existing City transportation facilities (roads, etc.); upgrading 
or expanding the vehicular road network, expanding the pedestrian system; and, 
providing bicycle facilities, system control (signage, markings, etc.), as well as 
transportation system planning and design.  It should be noted that the City is not 
fiscally responsible for the costs associated transportation improvements required by 
new development.  

Funding Sources 
A number of financial strategies are available to the City to finance the transportation 
improvements identified in the Comprehensive Transportation Plan.  Table 7-15 lists 
these strategies, their availability, and recommendations for the City to consider 
when implementing the improvement program. Historically, the City has relied on 
general fund monies and contributions from land developers to construct roadway 
improvements.   

Table 7-15. Summary of Possible Local Funding Sources for 
Transportation Improvements 

Comments 
Potential of Revenue 
Generation 

Realistic 
Acceptance Comments 

Local Motor Vehicle Fuel 
Tax  

Good In-place Funds distributed on a per 
capita basis 

Local option  Sales Tax Good Difficult Requires County 
implementation 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-42 

Comments 
Potential of Revenue 
Generation 

Realistic 
Acceptance Comments 

Impact Fees  Good Good Allows equitable funding of 
system improvements; some 
resistance by development 
community 

Developer Contributions Good In-place Development may support 
facilities that provide direct 
access; not likely to fund 
general system needs 

Local Improvement 
Districts 

Good Difficult Good for local access 
assessments for specific needs 
(e.g. sidewalks in commercial 
area); not good for mitigating 
through volumes 

Bond Financing Good Moderate Contrary to “pay-as-you-go” 
policy; may be little public 
acceptance if considered 
region wide bond measure 

State and Federal Grants Competitive Fair City has had some success in 
obtaining funds 

Strategies 
To provide a more consistent strategy for funding roadway improvements, the City 
should consider a more “pro-active” strategy for transportation funding.  

Historically, the City has relied on general fund monies and contributions from land 
developers to construct roadway improvements within the City. This strategy has 
resulted in a “piece-meal” development of the transportation system, where small 
improvements are made to an intersection rather than implementing improvements 
based on an overall plan for an intersection. The following section compares the 
City’s current method of relying on developer contributions and to an impact fee-
based strategy. 

Developer Contributions 
Description:  Site developers contribute or build transportation facilities as part of 
their mitigation of traffic impacts to the road network. This strategy relies on Traffic 
Impact Analysis studies to identify intersections that no longer operate at acceptable 
standards. The City then requires developers to make necessary improvements to 
bring the intersection or roadway back to the City’s standard. The use of developer 
contributions requires careful review of traffic studies and proposed mitigation 
measures by City staff. 

Benefits:  The primary benefit is the potential for immediate concurrency of the 
traffic impacts created by the development.  The improvement is in-place and open to 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-43 

traffic as the development becomes operational. Contributions can also accelerate 
construction of some long-range transportation facility projects within the local 
jurisdiction.  Both the developer and the City have the option of determining exactly 
when the improvement will be constructed.  The option exists to have the developer 
do the work or fully fund a City administered project. 

Disadvantages:  The primary disadvantage is that developer improvements are 
focused on fixing the “immediate problem” and can result in solutions that may not 
be desired by the city.  As mentioned earlier this “piece-meal” approach can often 
result in some unforeseen off-site impacts that may cause more traffic congestion or 
result in improvements that will need to be torn-out in the future to accommodate 
future improvements. If an intersection already operates below the standard, 
developers are only required to pay their “fair share” of the cost of an improvement --
often requiring the City to fund a portion of the improvement. Further issues can 
arise over how to deal with developments which are approved after the original 
developer has completed a major improvement (late-comers agreements).  

City Application:  There are several recommendations that have been made to not only 
accommodate growing background traffic volumes, but also to meet the needs of 
future development.  Direct contributions by the planned development in that area 
would expedite construction of these roadways links.  Improvement construction is 
closely linked to the actual development of the land.  In some cases, development of 
the City’s recently annexed areas as identified in the Black Diamond Urban Growth 
Area Agreement of 1996 require that certain transportation improvements (e.g. 
Pipeline Road) be in place prior to the time of development and/or the impacts of this 
development upon the road system. 

Impact Fees  
Description:  Local jurisdictions may assess impact fees on development to mitigate 
the impact caused by growth.  This is based on the general acceptance of the 
principle that development adds to traffic congestion.  Washington State law enables 
local jurisdictions to fund transportation improvements by assessing and collecting 
impact fees 

Methodology:  Impact fees can be assessed in several ways.  The most popular way 
determines the traffic generated by the proposed development and applies a per trip 
fee.  The per trip fee is developed through a traffic impact fee study, which 
determines the amount to be assessed. The assessment is based on the number of trips 
generated by expected levels of land development and the costs of the improvements 
needed to meet the future traffic development. The per trip fees are converted into 
land use-related measures such as dwelling units or square feet.  



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-44 

The city must develop and administer an accounting system.   The funds are closely 
monitored to ensure that they are expended within a suitable time-frame (generally 
within six years from the date of payment) following development of the parcel on 
transportation-related improvements near the development. 

Benefits:  The city directly receives the funds, marked for specific transportation 
improvements, directly from the source of traffic generation – the developer.  These 
funds can be used to leverage grant funding by meeting the local matching 
requirements for cities. 

Disadvantages:  In general, the fees collected would not be expected to fully-fund the 
planned improvement thus requiring funding from additional sources.  Careful 
analysis is needed to determine the appropriate fee structure that considers factors 
such as traffic related to adjacent communities and general growth in traffic levels. 
Questions can be raised on the methodology used to develop the “per trip fee” and 
the validity of assessing a generic broad-based fee on unique traffic impacts.  
Implementation of an impact fee system may also cause some areas to remain 
undeveloped, which would have otherwise been developed.   

City Application:  Impact fee systems are useful for communities that experience rapid 
development of multiple large vacant parcels.  In the City of Black Diamond, the 
primary cause for needed transportation improvements is the future growth associated 
with and caused by planned development of several large undeveloped parcels.  An 
impact fee analysis is needed to determine whether or to what extent an impact fee 
system would generate the revenue needed for the system improvements and to 
determine the appropriate fee structure.  Following the Black Diamond City Council 
adoption of an ordinance enabling impact fee collection, a suitable accounting system 
will need to be developed to ensure collection of fees on all future developments. 

7.9. Plan Administration 

7.9.1. Funding Matrix 
Table 7-16 presents the recommended improvements, their estimated cost, and the 
time frame in which they would be constructed, along with a suggested funding 
source.  Future detail for each project will be developed as part of the annual TIP 
process.  

This section summarizes concurrency for the City to use in administering the 
comprehensive transportation plan. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-45 

7.9.2. Concurrency  

Legislative Requirement 
The Growth Management Act requires that each city and county incorporate a 
Concurrency Management System (CMS) into their comprehensive plan 
transportation element.  A CMS is a policy to determine whether adequate public 
facilities are available to serve new developments. 

 “Local jurisdictions must adopt and enforce ordinances which prohibit 
development approval if the development causes the level of service on a 
transportation facility to decline below standards adopted in the 
transportation element of the comprehensive plan, unless transportation 
improvements or strategies to accommodate the impacts of development are 
made concurrent with the development”.  (RCW 36.70A.070). 

The term “concurrent with the development” is defined to mean that improvements or 
strategies are in place at the time of development, or that a financial commitment is in 
place to complete the improvements or strategies within six-years of development.  

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-46 

Table 7-16. Transportation Improvement Project – Cost Estimates (2008 Values) 
Figure 7-10.  18 Year Transportation Improvement Program

Improvement From To Length (miles) Total Project Cost 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015-2025 Type of Improvement Potential Funding
New Roads

Annexation Road Robert's Drive Appx. Location on SR 1.5 $10,166,371 $10,166,371 New roadway construction Development
Pipeline Road SR 169 Lake Sawyer/Black 1.5 $9,142,984 $9,142,984 New roadway construction Development
Roberts Drive Reconstruction  SR-169   Rock Creek Bridge  1.09 $2,100,000 $2,100,000 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Grant/Local/Development
North Connector SR 169 South Connector 1.9 $6,813,145 $6,813,145 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Development
Lake Sawyer Road Extension Auburn-BD Rd Annexation Rd 0.4 $2,682,581 $2,682,581 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Development
South Connector Annexation Rd SR-169 1.5 $5,996,613 $5,996,613 Construct 36' wide minor arterial roadway Development

Overlays
Lake Sawyer Road   Auburn Black 

Diamond Rd.  
 320th blk  0.5 $100,000 $100,000  Overlay  Grant/Local

233rd Avenue SE   SE 293 Pl   South to end  0.1 $35,000 $35,000  Repair and overlay existing roadway   Local  
Auburn Black Diamond Road   Bruckner's Way   West City Limits  0.06 $100,000 $100,000  Repair and overlay existing roadway  Grant/Local
SE 288th St   236th Ave SE   216th Ave SE  0.7 $230,000 $230,000  Overlay existing roadway  Grant/Local
Pacific Street Neighborhood Improvements   Lawson St.   Southerly Terminus of 

Pacific/ Fifth Ave 
South  

0.2 $500,000 $500,000  Widen and Pave existing gravel roads, install 
storm drainage improvements  

Grant/Local

Commission Avenue    Morgan Street    Appx 300' SW of 
Morgan St.   

 300'  $20,000 $20,000 Repair and overlay existing roadway    Local  

Alley from Park Street to Railroad Ave to SR-169     Park St.   SR-169  0.06 $31,000 $31,000 Pave an existing gravel roadway   Local  
Lawson Street   City Limits   SR-169  1.06 $500,000 $500,000 Overlay existing roadway  Grant/Local
Lk Sawyer/ Black Diamond Road    307th PL SE    SE 292 ST   1.2 $225,000 $225,000 Overlay existing roadway   Grant/Local
Plass Road   SR-169   City Limits/Existing 

Pavement  
0.3 $85,000 $85,000 Pave an existing gravel roadway   Local/ LID  

Overlay with minor widening
Sixth Avenue/ Baker Street    Lawson St.   SR-169  0.25 $26,000 $26,000 Minor widening and overlay of existing asphalt 

roadway   
Local

Fifth Avenue North   Lawson St.   Northerly End  0.2 $26,000 $26,000 Minor widening and overlay of existing asphalt 
roadway with installation of storm drainage  

Local

Minor Road Improvements
Lake Sawyer Road Safety Improvement and Culvert 
Replacement

South Creek 
Crossing

North Creek Crossing N/A $300,000 $300,000 Safety Improvement/Install guard rail both sides of 
roadway.  Install new culvert(s).

Grant/Local

Major Road Improvements
SR-169 widening   300 ft. South of 

Lawson St.
 300 ft. North of Baker 
St.  

0.2 $1,350,000 $1,350,000  Widen SR 169 to three lanes and widen 
approaching intersections  

Grant/Local/Development

Railroad Ave Construction   Merino Street   Baker Street  0.21 $1,700,000 $1,700,000 Rebuild Existing Roadway/Stormdrainage Grant/Local
Traffic Controls

SR169/Roberts Dr/Lawson ConnectorStreet $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development/Local
Jones Lake Rd/Loop Connector/SR-169 $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development/Local
Pipeline Road/SR-169 $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development
North Connector/SR-169 $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout or Signal Development
Pipeline Road/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Pipeline Road/Lake Sawyer Rd $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Roberts Drive/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Auburn-Black Diamond Rd/Pipeline Rd $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Morgan St/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development
Lake Sawyer Ext/Annexation Rd $163,306 $163,306 Roundabout Development
South Connector/North Connector $435,484 $544,355 Roundabout Development

Channelization
SR 169/Jones Lake Road $300,000 $300,000 Channelization Improvements Grant/Development
Intersection Improvements in Morganville Neighborhood  $80,000 $80,000 Grant/Local

Lawson St. & Newcastle Dr. Intersection Repair  $25,000 $25,000 Grant/Local  

B.D./ Ravensdale Road Intersection  $227,000 $227,000 Grant/Local/Development
Sidewalk

Morgan Street Sidewalk Phase II Abrams Avenue Robert's Drive 0.3 $580,000 $580,000 Install new sidewalk Grant/Local
Robert's Drive Pedestrian Trail/Sidewalk SR 169 Morganville 

Neighborhood
0.8 $1,500,000 $1,500,000 Install new pedestrian trail/sidewalk Grant/Local

Lawson Hill Sidewalk City Limits SR 169 1.06 $450,000 $450,000 Install new sidewalk Grant/Local

TOTALS $49,809,839 $1,800,000 $715,000 $1,755,000 $227,000 $3,950,000 $680,000 $2,451,710 $39,319,839 

2008 Cost Estimates



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-47 

Strategies that could be used in order to maintain compliance with concurrency 
include: 

 Increasing roadway capacity or adopting transportation system management 
(TSM) strategies to accommodate the increase in demand use to development; 
and 

 Adopting TDM strategies, such as increased transit access and rideshare 
programs, to offset the increase in demand. 

Often it is a combination of improvements and strategies that create the most 
effective CMS. 

CMS Implementation 
The Growth Management Act also requires cities to formalize a CMS into a process 
that shows measurable results.  The City established a position on concurrency in a 
Concurrency Policy (T-12). The City’s CMS program is further defined below.   

A. LOS standards and providing adequate funding 
The City recommends the following LOS standards: 

Roadway: LOS C for all surface roadways and intersections within the City of 
Black Diamond. 

Transit: LOS standard is expressed in terms of a goal to monitor existing transit 
facilities and to improve transit operations as demand dictates.   

Other: LOS standard is expressed in terms of a goal to provide pedestrian and 
bicycle facilities throughout the City of Black Diamond.   

A Transportation Improvement Program with a potential Funding Plan has been 
prepared in connection with the Comprehensive Plan.  All facilities meet the LOS 
standards based upon existing, six-, and twenty-year forecasts.  The potential 
Funding Plan identifies possible sources for improvements identified in the 
comprehensive transportation plan. 

B. Monitoring/Analyzing Available Transportation Capacity  
The City of Black Diamond requires traffic impact analyses (TIA) for developments 
that impact the transportation system.  A TIA is a specialized study of the impacts a 
development will have on the surrounding transportation system.  It is specifically 
concerned with the generation, distribution, assignment, and accessibility of traffic to 
and from the development, and the impact of development traffic on the adjacent 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-48 

roadway system.  The City of Black Diamond’s guidelines for TIAs are similar to 
those of other communities in western Washington regarding when a TIA is required 
for a development and the scope of work needed to effectively analyze the impacts of 
site generated traffic.  Generally, if a development adds 10 or more vehicles in the 
PM peak hour a TIA is required.  If deemed necessary by the City, the TIA may also 
address transit and other modes for impact assessment.  The City uses the adopted 
LOS standards as guidelines for assessing concurrency and mitigation. 

A system to monitor concurrency was developed and is illustrated in Figure 7-8.  The 
most important process is monitoring available funding for necessary improvements.  
As noted in the chart, there are four options for the City to consider: 

 Other Funding Sources - look for other funding sources, such as dedicating the 
second 1/4 of 1 percent of the Real Estate Excise Tax for street projects. 

 Reassess LOS standards - GMA allows a community to change LOS standards 
annually.  Any changes to LOS standards should be done in connection with 
annual TIP reviews. 

 Reassess Land Use - GMA requires that if the funding for capital improvements 
(such as roads) cannot be met, the land use or levels of development within the 
plan should be re-assessed. 

 Growth Moratorium - per GMA requirements.  If funding cannot be met, and the 
LOS standard unchangeable, then GMA requires development to be stopped until 
either issue can be resolved. 

C. Analyzing External Influences on Concurrency Management System. 
The City’s LOS standards will also be used to evaluate impacts to the transportation 
system created by development outside the City.  The City’s annual TIP development 
process will evaluate if concurrency standards have been exceeded and identify the 
improvements needed to maintain the City’s standards. The City should seek 
appropriate funding sources to mitigate through traffic impacts. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-49 

Figure 7-8. Concurrency Management System 
 

 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-50 

7.10. Transportation Plan 
The Black Diamond Comprehensive Transportation Plan emphasizes that the 
transportation system should be designed to provide safe and efficient vehicular 
circulation, while at the same time maintaining a pedestrian-oriented "small town" 
environment.  The City plans to continue developing its transportation network as a 
grid system. The Plan will utilize a grid of similar smaller roads as well as linking 
existing and planned neighborhoods to accommodate future growth.  Street 
construction standards are to be used to reinforce the transportation goals and 
policies. 

The Plan’s policy guidance includes using the existing transportation system 
efficiently and encouraging transportation alternatives, such as transit, HOV use, and 
pedestrian and bicycle facilities.  Cooperation between affected jurisdictions (City of 
Black Diamond, State of Washington, King County and the Puget Sound Regional 
Council) in planning for state highways and county roads is also supported by City 
policies.  The presence of both state and county roads as the primary arterial system 
requires coordination with King County and Washington State in the planning of 
these roads. 

7.10.1. Alternative Modes 
The Comprehensive Plan identifies that a comprehensive network of non-motorized 
facilities, including trails, sidewalks, and bicycle facilities to be developed. These 
facilities would enhance non-motorized mobility options and reduce automobile 
dependency.  Similarly, an off-street parking plan for Old Town, a park-and-ride for 
City residents, and visitor parking to serve bicyclists who come to Black Diamond to 
ride on weekends are identified as desired elements of the Plan.  

7.10.2. Funding Strategies 
To provide for the necessary transportation facilities, the Plan identifies an ongoing 
program of transportation facility planning and development funded through impact 
fees, developer contributions, and public funds.  The Plan identifies that the private-
sector should fund its fair share of transportation facility improvement costs. 

7.10.3. Transportation Improvement Program 
Road improvement projects for existing deficiencies are identified for the short term 
(2008 to 2014) as required by GMA.  New roads are identified for both the short-



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-51 

term and the long-term (2015 to 2025) for better circulation for vehicles.  The road 
system identified in Figure 7-5 and Figure 7-7 form the basis for the long-term 
motorized transportation improvements.  Non-motorized transportation 
improvements will be identified in the City’s update to the Trails Plan. 

The improvements proposed for the short and long term are intended to mitigate the 
impacts of anticipated traffic growth.  Construction of additional roads identified in 
the proposed Arterial and Collector System Plan will serve to divert and spread 
traffic flows. 

7.10.4. Transportation and Land Use Element Coordination 
The Black Diamond Comprehensive Plan Transportation and Land Use Elements are 
intended to work together to maintain the City’s "small town" character in the face of 
increasing regional traffic.  Surrounding King County land uses and other regional 
land use patterns may produce adverse effects on Black Diamond traffic.  Land use 
patterns that perpetuate automobile dependency would be expected to increase traffic 
in Black Diamond.  It should be noted that an isolated change of land uses within the 
City may not, by itself, be expected to produce improved City-wide mobility.   

7.10.5. Transportation Facilities and LOS Standards 
Coordination  

Intergovernmental coordination is essential for the cost-effective provision of 
transportation services.  The City does not possess the resources nor is it fiscally 
responsible for addressing all the of the transportation circulation system needs that 
might be identified through transportation planning.  The City has reviewed the plans 
of the County and State Department of Transportation and has assessed the impact of 
their plan on the transportation facilities in Black Diamond.  The level of service 
standards and proposed transportation improvements to be adopted by this element 
are not inconsistent with the level of service standards or plans of other jurisdictions.  
In addition, the City is committed to actively seek financial resources necessary to 
achieve the goals of the Comprehensive Transportation Plan.  

7.11. Transportation Goals and Policies 
Transportation goals and policies provide a framework for the comprehensive 
transportation plan and also a means for making decisions. The goal of providing a 
high quality transportation system must be constantly balanced with the goal of 
minimizing public expenditures.  Similarly, the goal of quality transportation must be 
balanced with the effects a particular project may have on the environment. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-52 

The goals and policies presented below are to be used to help guide the City’s 
decision making.  Because it is possible that some goals and policies could conflict 
with one another in particular circumstances, the City and the public may be called 
upon to balance the various goals.  The analysis of any given proposal should 
consider all modes of transportation and all methods of efficiently managing the 
transportation system.  Included in the text is a discussion of the concepts that 
support the goals and policies.  

7.11.1. Transportation Goals and Policies 
The goals set forth below form the foundation for this transportation plan.  The 
planning policies describe how the goals will be measured and evaluated.  

Goal T-1: Establish an adequate and well-maintained transportation system that 
provides safe and cost-efficient movement of people and goods 

Design, Construction and Maintenance Policies 

The following policies guide the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of 
the City’s transportation system. An underlying objective is to develop a multi-modal 
transportation system to serve all existing and future land uses. The policies address 
design and construction standards of transportation facilities to accommodate all 
types of transportation safely and efficiently. Level of Service standards, 
maintenance standards, and the need for Transportation Demand Management 
strategies are also addressed. 

Policy T-1 Roadway Design Policy:    

Ensure adequate and safe access to property via a system of primarily 
public and limited private roads. 

 A range of design and construction standards for all facilities should 
be  adopted by the City.  All roadway design will be coordinated 
with King County, Washington State, the Federal Highway 
Administration, and Metro Transit to achieve compatible design 
criteria, where applicable.  The standards will comply with federal 
and state design criteria. The City will also investigate allowing “low 
impact development” designs that minimize pavement width and 
emphasize the use of storm drainage techniques to increase natural 
treatment and infiltration. 

Policy T-2 Connectivity Policy:    



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-53 

Provide an interconnected network of roads and trails for ease and 
variety of travel. 

 The City of Black Diamond recognizes that increasing connections 
throughout the city not only reduces traffic congestion but also 
increases the sense of unity in the community.  Therefore, the City 
will limit the use of cul-de-sacs, dead end roads, loops, and other 
street layouts that form barriers to travel. Private streets should 
generally only be allowed to serve a limited number of lots/dwelling 
units and/or only in unique circumstances. Private streets should not 
detract from overall motorized and nonmotorized circulation. The 
City will encourage the use of trails and other connections that 
provide ease of travel between neighborhoods and community 
centers. 

Policy T-3 Level of Service Standard Policy:  

Adopt levels of service that reflect the preference of the community. 
Ensure that new development does not degrade transportation 
facilities below adopted standards.  

The City will adopt a level of service “C” for peak-hour traffic flow 
on roadways and intersections within the Black Diamond city limits.  
The levels of service are based upon the Highway Capacity Manual 
and are detailed in the Transportation Element. 

Policy T-4 Maintenance Policy:   

Maintain the City’s transportation system at a level that is 
comparable with the design standards applied to new facilities. 

The City will establish programs and schedules, such as a pavement 
overlay program, for the level and frequency of maintenance on its 
roadways, bikeways, and sidewalks.   

Policy T-5 Access Policy:   

Limit and provide access to the road network in a manner consistent 
with the function and purpose of each roadway. 

The City will seek consolidation of access points to state highways, 
arterials, and major collectors.  This will complement the highway 
and arterial system, reduce interference with traffic flows on 
arterials, and discourage through traffic on local roads. 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-54 

Policy T-6 Local Access Policy:   

Establish a standard to limit the number of dwelling units that may 
be served before a second point of access is required. Limit the 
length of dead end streets by either distance or number of lots served.  

 Safe and convenient access requires multiple routes of ingress and 
egress. This is important for both resident’s convenience and for fire 
and police protection. A standard should be developed that balances 
unique topographic characteristics, future development plans, and the 
need for providing adequate access.  

Policy T-7 Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Policy: 

The City of Black Diamond will encourage demand management of 
the transportation system by: 

1. Encouraging the use of High Occupancy Vehicles - Buses, 
carpools, and vanpool programs through both private programs 
and the direction of Metro Transit; 

2. Promoting flexible work schedules allowing use of transit, 
carpools, or vanpools; 

3. Promoting reduced employee travel during the daily peak travel 
periods through flexible work schedules and programs to allow 
employees to work part- or full-time at home or at an alternate 
work site closer to home; and 

4. Encouraging employers to provide TDM measures in the work 
place through such programs as preferential parking for HOVs, 
improved access for transit vehicles, and employee incentives for 
sharing rides. 

Policy T-8 Pedestrians, Bicycles, and Transit Policy: 

Lessen dependence upon and the influence of the automobile by  
encouraging travel by other means. Provide for the safety of 
pedestrians and bicyclists.  City actions will: 

1. Develop design standards for new roadways that incorporate 
features required by pedestrian, bicycle and transit facilities;  

2. Promote transit by developing design standards that provide 
accessibility through bus pullouts, pedestrian access to bus stops 
and bus shelters; and, 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-55 

3. Seek to complete its sidewalk system and pursue development of 
a network of off-road facilities for non-motorized travel.  

4. Cooperate in regional efforts in exploring the feasibility of DMU 
service to southeast King County. 

Policy T-9 “Old Town” Parking Policy: 

Encourage the construction of additional parking in the historic “Old 
Town” area of Black Diamond, both within the public right-of-way 
and in off-street lots. 

The City recognizes that parking in the “Old Town” area of Black 
Diamond is essential to the continued growth and prosperity of the 
businesses in this area of the City.  Therefore, the City will promote 
the addition of parking spaces in the “Old Town”, possibly to include 
the use of a Local Improvement District to fund these parking 
improvements. 

Goal T-2: Provide a transportation system that preserves the “small town” 
character of the City and minimizes the environmental impact to 
critical areas. 

Road Character and Right-of-Way Policies 

Policies contained in this subsection promote the unique “small town” characteristics 
of Black Diamond and address issues regarding land use development emphasizing 
desired locations for development throughout the City of Black Diamond. These 
policies also address the City’s view on right-of-way issues. 

Policy T-10 “Small Town” Character Policy: 

Enhance the “small town” character that the City currently possesses. 

This can be done by the following: 

1. Discourage widening of SR 169 to a four or five lane facility 
thus creating a “thoroughfare” that will tend to divide the City; 

2. Encourage landscaping, parkway trees, and compatible 
architecture in the design and construction of roadways, 
especially SR 169, and other facilities along selected corridors.  
Minimize obtrusive signs through provisions in the zoning code; 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-56 

3. Limit the number of traffic signals within the City of Black 
Diamond by considering the use of roundabouts as the first 
solution where appropriate; and 

4. Adopt new road standards and development guidelines to 
minimize paving widths; preserve desirable trees and vegetation 
through minimized right-of-way clearing; and allow creative 
designs. 

5. Adopt separate road standards for the older, historic portions of 
the city that are specific to individual street geometries, with the 
goal of not causing undue disruption to existing neighborhoods.  

Policy T-11 Environmental Protection and Conservation Policy: 

Design transportation facilities within the City of Black Diamond 
that minimizes adverse environmental impacts resulting from both 
their construction and operation.   

The City will fulfill this need by: 

1. Aligning and locating transportation facilities away from 
environmentally sensitive areas; 

2. Encouraging storm drainage system designs to avoid direct 
drainage into environmentally sensitive areas; 

3. Mitigating unavoidable environmental impacts; and 

4. Soliciting and incorporating the concerns and comments of 
interested parties provided such comments are consistent with 
the goals, objectives, and policies of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Policy T-12 Right-of-Way Policy: 

Retain all existing transportation system rights-of-way, and to 
identify, acquire, and protect rights-of-way for future roadway and 
bikeway facilities. 

The policies provided in this Transportation Plan will be used by the 
City to identify current and future transportation system needs. The 
City will identify specific transportation corridors and protect needed 
rights-of-way as soon as possible.  Some methods used to acquire 
and preserve rights-of-way include: 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-57 

1. Requiring dedication of rights-of-way as a condition for 
development when the need for such rights-of-way is linked to 
the development; 

2. Requesting donations of rights-of-way to the public; 

3. Purchasing rights-of-way by paying fair market value when 
donations and/or required dedications are not possible;  

4. Acquiring development rights and easements from property 
owners; and, 

5. Protecting rights-of-way from encroachment by structures, 
substantial landscaping, or other obstruction is also encouraged 
by the City. Protection methods may include minimum setback 
requirements for property improvements and development of 
guidelines regarding installation and maintenance of landscaping 
within the public right-of-way. 

Goal T-3: Provide a transportation system that has the adequate financing 
needed to fund the necessary transportation improvements.   Funding 
will come from both public and private sector participation.  

Funding, Concurrency, and Impact Mitigation Policies 

The City faces the challenge of making the best use of the limited funds available to 
finance transportation projects.  Issues addressed by these policies include 
concurrency, identifying favorable funding sources, and deciding impact mitigation 
assessments. 

Policy T-13 Concurrency Policy: 

Ensure that transportation improvements or strategies are constructed 
or financed concurrent with development.  This also includes 
concurrency with plans of other transportation agencies. 

The City requires either a construction or financial commitment for 
necessary transportation improvements from the private or public 
sector within six years of development.  To monitor these 
commitments, the City’s Concurrency Management System includes 
the following: 

1. Adopting a traffic impact fee program; 

2. Assessing level of service; 



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-58 

3. Determining compliance with the adopted level of service 
standards; 

4. Identifying facility deficiencies; and, 

5. Making appropriate revisions to the Six-Year TIP. 

Policy T-14 Funding Sources Policy: 

Secure adequate long-term funding sources for transportation 
through all feasible and available methods. 

These methods may include: 

1. Taking advantage of state funds, such as the Transportation 
Improvement Account (TIA), and the Public Works Trust Fund 
(PWTF); 

2. Encouraging Washington State Department of Transportation 
improvements on the state highway system; 

3. Encouraging the use of Local Improvement Districts (LID) by 
property owners to upgrade roads to meet City road standards; 

4. Requiring impact mitigation for projects as guided by this Plan. 
Impact mitigation payments and/or seeking voluntary 
contributions from developers may also be pursued; and 

5. Seeking funding from the federal and all other available grant 
sources. 

6. Traffic impact fees may also be pursued for selected projects.  

Policy T-15 Financial Impact Mitigation Policy: 

Require developers to contribute their fair share towards the 
transportation improvements required to meet the LOS standards.  
Impact mitigation efforts may include: 

1. Requiring developers to assist in providing additional 
transportation facilities and services in proportion to the impacts 
and needs generated by development; and,  

2. Encouraging developers to design projects that generate less 
vehicular traffic. 

Goal T-4: A transportation system that is compatible with Washington State, 
King County, neighboring cities, and other transportation providers. 



 Transportation 

 December 2008 
7-59 

Coordination and Consistency Policies 

The policies contained in this subsection address such issues as multi-agency 
planning and coordination, consistency of transportation improvement programs and 
designs among jurisdictions, and cooperation among agencies that fund, build and 
operate the transportation system within the City of Black Diamond. 

Policy T-16 Traffic Impact Analysis Policy: 

Require that a Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) be prepared for new 
developments. 

The City will require a TIA for new developments that are proposed 
in the city limits of Black Diamond that generate ten (10) or more 
vehicle trips in the PM peak hour or are otherwise determined to 
have the potential for an adverse impact upon the City’s 
transportation system.  The study should include site access points, 
arterial and collector roadways and intersections of arterials and 
collectors that are impacted by 10 or more PM peak hour trips, and 
may not be limited to intersections located within the City of Black 
Diamond. The TIA shall be prepared by a licensed traffic engineer 
and will be accepted after approval by the City. 

Policy T-17 Intergovernmental Agency Coordination Policy: 

Coordinate planning, construction, and operations of transportation 
facilities and projects with other governmental agencies.   

This policy supports and complements the transportation functions of 
Washington State, King County, neighboring cities, Puget Sound 
Regional Council, Metro Transit, and other entities responsible for 
transportation facilities and services in the City of Black Diamond. 

Policy T-18 Multi-modal Coordination Policy: 

Coordinate planning and operation of efficient and varied means of 
transportation for the City of Black Diamond’s transportation 
system. 

This will be accomplished by the following: 

1. Metro Transit provides transit service in the Black Diamond 
urban area. The City invites Metro to evaluate expanding regular 
fixed transit service within Black Diamond.   



Comprehensive Plan Update 

City of Black Diamond  7-60 

2. The City will continue to coordinate with Metro Transit to 
provide transit connections between Black Diamond and other 
parts of King County.   

3. The City will support development of regional park-and-ride lot 
facilities by Metro Transit and the Washington State Department 
of Transportation. The City encourages such lots on sites 
promoting compatible land uses and along primary travel 
corridors for travel to King and Pierce County urban areas.  

4. The City will provide for pedestrian and bicycle facilities in the 
City’s road system through provisions in the City’s design 
standards. 

 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA BILL 

City of Black Diamond
Post Office Box 599

Black Diamond, WA 98010
ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  Agenda Date: January 15, 2009            AB09-007 
Ordinance 09-892 creating BDMC Department/Committee/Individual Created Reviewed 

18.14 to address the vesting of  Mayor Howard Botts   

project permit applications and  City Administrator –Gwen Voelpel   X 
expiration of project permits. City Attorney – Loren D. Combs X  

 City Clerk – Brenda L. Streepy   
 Finance – May Miller   

 Public Works – Seth Boettcher   
Cost Impact:  N/A Economic Devel. – Andy Williamson   
Fund Source:  N/A Police –  Jamey Kiblinger   
Timeline: 10 days after publication Court – Kaaren Woods    
 

 

Comm. Development – Steve Pilcher  X 
Attachments: Ordinance No. 09-892; memo of November 25, 2008 from Asst. City Attorney 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT:   
 
Under the “vested rights doctrine” in Washington state, developers filing a timely and complete 
land use application obtain a vested right to develop land in accordance with the land use laws 
and regulations in effect at the time of application. However, many of the details regarding 
vesting are left up to the local jurisdiction, including how long a city must honor a vested permit 
application.   
 
The proposed ordinance will accomplish the following:  1) defines what constitutes a complete 
application; 2) defines what are considered as “project permits”; 3) clarifies when an inactive 
application can be closed; 4) clarifies how long an approval may continue. In addition, other 
items are address, as outline in the attached memorandum from the City Attorney’s office.  
 
 
 
COMMITTEE REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:  None. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:   MOTION to adopt Ordinance 09-892, creating Chapter 18.14 
of the Black Diamond Municipal Code relating to vesting of project permit applications 
and expiration of project permits.    

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 
Meeting Date  Action      Vote 

January 15, 2009   
         
  
 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 09- 892 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
RELATING TO VESTING OF PROJECT PERMIT 
APPLICATIONS AND EXPIRATION OF PROJECT 
PERMITS AND ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 18.14 TO THE 
BLACK DIAMOND MUNICIPAL CODE  
 

  
WHEREAS, the purpose of the vested rights doctrine is to provide a measure of 

certainty to City regulators and developers and to protect a developer’s expectations against 
fluctuating land use policy; and 
 
 WHEREAS, although vesting of some land use development and building permit rights 
is regulated under state statutes, the law leaves certain aspects of vesting regulation to local 
judgment, including what shall constitute a completed permit application and, in some cases, 
how long a permit approval shall be valid; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of the entire community to adopt a local vested 
rights policy, thereby providing a measure of clarity and certainty to City staff, developers and 
property owners; and  

 
 WHEREAS, providing clarity and certainty to both developers and the community 
affected by development requires that at some point after an application has been filed but not 
pursued by the applicant, the application should be closed. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, 
WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
  

Section 1.   Title 18 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the 
addition of a new Chapter 18.14 titled “Vesting,” which shall contain the following Sections: 
  

18.14.010  Definitions 
  18.14.020  Period for review of permit applications—Lapsing of applications 

18.14.030  Vesting of project permits 
18.14.040  Amendments to permit—Effect on vesting. 
18.14.050  Waiver of vesting 
18.14.060  Duration of approvals—Effect of permit expiration 
18.14.070  Suspension or revocation of permit—Effect on vesting. 

 
 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 2 of 8 
 

 
 Section 2. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.010 to read as follows: 
 

18.14.010 Definitions 
 
For purposes of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply: 

 
 A. “Complete application” or “complete project permit application” 
means a permit application that includes all of the information required for such a 
permit by the Community Development Director and the Black Diamond Municipal 
Code, and all applicable fees have been paid.      
 
 B. “Lapse” means that any rights or potential rights created by the filing 
of a project permit application, whether the application is complete or incomplete, 
shall cease, and the application shall be deemed void. 
 

C. “Project action” means a specific activity, located in a defined 
geographic area, relating to construction or development of such area. 
 
 D. "Project permit" means any land use or environmental permit or 
license required from the City for a project action, including but not limited to 
building permits, subdivisions, binding site plans, planned unit developments, 
conditional uses, shoreline substantial development permits, site plan review, 
permits or approvals required by critical area ordinances, site-specific rezones 
authorized by a comprehensive plan, subarea plan, or master planned 
development, but excluding the adoption or amendment of a comprehensive plan, 
subarea plan, master planned development or development regulations. 
 
 E. “Vesting” means the establishment of a date that is used to 
determine which zoning and other land use control ordinances will apply to the 
review by the City of a complete project permit application. 

 
 
 Section 3. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.020 to read as follows: 
  
 18.14.020 Period for review of permit applications—Lapsing of applications 
 

A. Upon receipt of any type of project permit application, the City 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 3 of 8 
 

shall comply with the timeframes for responding as outlined in RCW 36.70B.070, 
as currently enacted or hereafter amended, and provide an initial review of an 
application within twenty-eight (28) days, and at no stage of the review process 
take longer than 120 days to issue a determination or take other action unless the 
City issues written findings that a specified amount of additional time is needed to 
process specific complete permit applications or project types, as provided by 
RCW 36.70B.080. 

 
B. Upon notice to applicant that specific fees must be paid or that 

information is needed by the City to determine the completeness of a permit 
application or to determine whether conditions to a permit are required, failure of 
applicant to pay such fees or provide such information to the City within one 
hundred eighty (180) days of the request shall cause the application to lapse and 
become void, provided that this period shall be tolled during any period in which 
the permit application is the subject of a proper appeal.  However, the building 
official is authorized to grant one or more extensions for additional periods of no 
more than ninety (90) days each, but only where such extensions are requested in 
writing and justifiable cause is shown. 

 
C. If, after the filing of a permit application, a period of at least one 

year occurs where the City has not been contacted by the applicant and no final 
action has been taken by the City to deny or issue said permit, the application 
shall lapse and become void. 

 
D. Except as prohibited by law, any of the terms and conditions of this 

section may be waived or amended for a specific permit application by written 
agreement between the City and the applicant. 

 
 

Section 4. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.030 to read as follows: 

18.14.030  Vesting of project permits 
 A.   All project permit applications shall be considered under the zoning 
and other land use control ordinances in effect on the date a complete application 
for such permit is filed.  In any dispute over the date on which a complete 
application was filed, the applicant shall have the burden of establishing such date.  
 B.   Vesting of a complete project permit application does not vest any 
subsequently required permits, nor does it affect the requirements for vesting of 
subsequent permits or approvals, provided, a complete application for a subdivision 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 4 of 8 
 

shall be vested for the approved specific use and density identified in the complete 
subdivision application for the period of time allowed under RCW 58.17.170, as 
currently enacted or hereafter amended.  Short subdivisions shall be vested for the 
approved specific use and density identified in the complete short subdivision 
application for a period of five years from the date of final plat approval.   
 C. A complete application for a grading or filling permit vests only 
to the grading and filling on the property and does not vest any subsequent 
development or construction activities, nor does a complete grading or filling 
permit application vest as to storm water management regulations unless a 
complete storm water drainage permit application is submitted concurrently.  
Pursuant to BDMC 18.98.195(B), vesting of storm water permits for a Master 
Planned Development shall be on a phase by phase basis.   

 D. Submittal of pre-application materials does not, by itself, vest a 
project.  However, SEPA checklists and other SEPA submittals may be 
considered in determining whether the underlying project permit application is 
complete. 

 E. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, the city may 
amend, alter, or suspend any vested rights created by the filing of a complete 
permit application and/or preliminary or final plat approval where the city’s 
legislative body finds that a change in conditions creates a serious threat to public 
health or safety should development proceed under the vested rights. 

 
 Section 5. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.040 to read as follows: 

18.14.040  Amendments to permit—Effect on vesting. 

A.  “Minor” amendments.  An applicant may be granted an amendment to 
any of the conditions or requirements of a permit upon a showing of changed 
circumstances and a determination by the city administrator, or his or her 
designee, that (1) the requested amendments constitute “minor” adjustments that 
can be sufficiently mitigated through new actions that may be required as part of 
the permit amendment approval, and (2) each of the proposed amended conditions 
is not otherwise prohibited under the municipal code and would not require 
additional environmental review under BDMC Title 19.     

B.  “Major” amendments.  An applicant shall not be granted an 
amendment to any condition or requirement of a permit if the city administrator, 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 5 of 8 
 

or his or her designee, determines that the proposed amendment constitutes a 
“major” amendment.  Any proposed amendment to the conditions and 
requirements of a permit that does not meet the requirements of subsection A shall 
be considered a “major” amendment.  Permission to implement a “major” 
amendment shall require a new permit application to be filed and approved by the 
City. 

C.   Effect on vesting.   

(1) Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the City, approval of “minor” 
amendments to permit conditions and requirements shall terminate any vested 
right to the original permit conditions insofar as those conditions are inconsistent 
with the approved amendments, and, unless also otherwise agreed, approval does 
not toll or otherwise change the date upon which the amended permit lapses under 
this chapter. 

(2) Any new permit application filed as part of seeking a “major” change 
to the conditions and requirements of the original permit shall not be vested to any 
of the conditions of the original permit and shall be subject to the current codes 
and regulations in effect at the time the complete new application is filed.  

D.  City’s decision is final.  The city’s determination that a requested 
amendment is “minor” or “major” shall be final and not subject to appeal. 

E.  Amending MPD permits.  Amending of previously issued permits that 
are part of a Master Planned Development is controlled by the provisions of 
BDMC Chapter 18.98.  
 

 
 Section 6. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.050 to read as follows: 

18.14.050   Waiver of vesting 
 A property owner may voluntarily waive vested rights at any time during the 
processing of an application by delivering a written and signed waiver to the 
Community Development Director stating that the property owner agrees to comply 
with all development regulations in effect on the date of delivery of the waiver.   

 
 
  
 

Section 7. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 
a new section 18.14.060 to read as follows: 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 6 of 8 
 

 
18.14.060   Duration of approvals—Effect of permit expiration 
 

A. Except where a different duration is established elsewhere in the 
Black Diamond Municipal Code, or by executed development agreement, 
administrative ruling or judicial order, or by state or federal law, all project permits 
shall expire two (2) years after the date of issuance if, in the opinion of the City, 
construction of the project has not been substantially completed, provided, an 
extension of the permit may be granted as allowed under subsection B, and a 
building permit may become void after 180 days of inactivity, as detailed in 
subsection D.     
 

B. For project permits subject to the two-year duration set forth in 
subsection A, above,  the body charged with granting the project permit may extend 
the date of permit expiration up to two (2) years for good cause, upon proper request 
by the applicant at least thirty (30) days prior to expiration of the permit.  Requests 
for extensions shall be submitted on forms provided by the City with payment of a 
fee equal to one-half of the permit application fee in effect at the time the request for 
extension is filed.  Good cause shall mean the applicant was unable to substantially 
complete construction due to circumstances beyond the applicant’s control and not 
foreseeable at the time of permit issuance, and the applicant demonstrates the ability 
to complete the project within the extended time period. 
 

C.   Unless a permit has been extended pursuant to subsection B, above, 
or as otherwise provided by an executed development agreement, any vested rights 
to particular fees, regulations, or conditions of issuance associated with a permit 
shall cease upon expiration of the permit, except as RCW 58.17.170 or other laws 
may apply.  An individual or entity seeking a new permit shall be subject to each 
fee, regulation, or condition of issuance in effect at the time a new complete permit 
application is filed and to which no specific exemption applies. 

 
D. Any otherwise valid building permit shall be deemed to have expired 

and become invalid unless the work authorized by the permit is substantially 
commenced within one hundred eighty (180) days after its issuance or the work 
authorized by the permit is suspended or abandoned for a period of one hundred 
eighty (180) days after the work has commenced.   
 
 
Section 8. The Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended by the addition of 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 7 of 8 
 

a new section 18.14.070 to read as follows: 
  
18.14.070    Suspension or revocation of permit—Effect on vesting. 

 
A. The Community Development Director, or his or her designee, is authorized to 

suspend or revoke any permit issued by the City whenever the permit is issued in 
error or was issued on the basis of materially incorrect, inaccurate or incomplete 
information, or in violation of any ordinance or regulation or any of the provisions 
of the municipal code.  Except as provided in subsection B, any vested rights 
associated with the permit shall lapse upon revocation of the permit. 
 

B. When, in the opinion of the city, the suspension or revocation of a permit is 
based on no fault of the applicant, any subsequent permit issued for the same project 
within ninety (90) days of the suspension or revocation shall be vested to the 
regulations and requirements in effect as of the date the original complete 
application was filed and no additional application fee shall be required, provided, 
the project must still fully comply with the regulations and requirements in effect at 
the time the original complete application was filed.   

 
  

Section 9.   Each and every provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed severable.  In 
the event that any portion of this Ordinance is determined by final order of a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining provisions thereof, provided the intent of this Ordinance can still be furthered 
without the invalid provision. 
 
 Section 10.   This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after 
publication as required by law.  A summary of this Ordinance may be published in lieu of the 
entire Ordinance, as authorized by State law. 
 
  
Introduced on the 15th day of January, 2009. 
 
Passed by the City Council on the 15th day of January, 2009. 
 

 
 
______________________________ 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-892 
Page 8 of 8 
 

        Mayor Howard Botts  
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________________ 
Loren D. Combs, City Attorney 
 
Published: ___________________ 
Effective Date:________________ 
 
V:\SnapDocs\Black Diamond - General  ('18256')\ORDIN\VestingOrdLapsing&Amend 



M E M O R A N D U M  VSI  L A W  G R O U P ,  P L L C
 
 
TO: Black Diamond City Council; Mayor Botts; City Administrator Gwen Voelpel 
 
CC: Steve Pilcher, Community Development Director; Seth Boettcher, Public Works 

Director; Loren Combs, City Attorney 
 
FROM: Tom Guilfoil, Assistant City Attorney 
 
DATE: November 25, 2008 
 
RE: PROPOSED PERMITS VESTING ORDINANCE with LAPSING PROVISION 
 
 
Summary: As development within the Black Diamond community increases, the potential will 

also increase for disputes over what rules apply to a particular development project.  
To help avoid some of these disputes, the Community Development Department is 
proposing that the City adopt an ordinance that clarifies when certain development 
rights “vest.”  This memo explains what “vesting” is, how it works under the 
current municipal code, and what the Community Development Department is 
proposing under the attached draft ordinance and why. 

 
 

1.  What is “vesting”? 
 
“Vesting” is a term we often hear, yet it can sometimes be confusing.  In a nutshell, 
“vesting” refers to the point at which your specific rights to do something are guaranteed 
and cannot be changed or taken away, at least for a period of time.  Without thinking 
about it, we “vest” our rights many times every day.  For example, when you go to a 
restaurant and order a sandwich that is listed on the menu for $2.99, the restaurant can’t 
decide to charge you $5.99 while you are waiting to be served.  Your right to pay $2.99 
was “vested” once the waiter took your order.  In other words, “vesting” refers to the idea 
that it’s unfair to change the rules in the middle of the game. 
 
It’s the same when we talk about vesting of development rights.  A developer wants to 
know at what point the City can no longer change the requirements for getting a project 
approved and built.  When the developer has reached the point where the City can’t 
change the requirements or add new ones, the developer is “vested.”   
 
However, vesting of development rights is complicated because a developer usually does 
not have just one “right.”  During every step of the development process, there may be a 
separate “right” that could vest.  For instance, state law says that some zoning and land 
use rights are vested as soon as the developer files a complete development application.  
That means a City can’t suddenly rezone the developer’s property while he’s in the 
middle of the project.  But does that the mean the developer has also vested the cost of 



any permit fees or other charges that he will have to pay?  And if he is vested, for how 
long?  What if years pass and the project still hasn’t been completed?  The more clarity 
the municipal code provides in answering such questions, the more the City can avoid 
costly legal arguments. 
 
 

2.  Why the proposed ordinance is needed 
 
Under the “vested rights doctrine” recognized in Washington, developers filing a timely 
and complete land use application obtain a vested right to develop land in accordance 
with the land use laws and regulations in effect at the time of application.1  However, the 
law leaves certain details of vesting doctrine up to local judgment.  For example, the City 
is free to decide what constitutes a “complete” application.  The law is also silent on 
when permit fees and charges vest.  In addition, the law doesn’t state how long the City 
must honor a vested permit application.  Further, the law doesn’t address whether certain 
materials submitted to the City prior to making a formal application can be considered in 
determining whether an application is complete.  A local ordinance is needed to address 
these points.  

 
 

3.  What the proposed ordinance does 
 
The proposed ordinance clarifies some issues surrounding vesting of project permits.  
The key elements of the ordinance are:   
 

A.  Defines “complete application” 
 

How the City defines “complete” is probably the most important step in 
the process from the City’s point of view, because once an application is 
“complete,” the proposed development is protected from any zoning 
changes that the City may make from that point forward.  The ordinance 
states that a complete application must have all the information required 
under the municipal code and any other information required by the 
Community Development Director and the application fee must have been 
paid. 

 
 

B.  Defines “project permit” 
 

The definition tries to cover all possible types of permits related to a 
development project so that a developer cannot later argue that a particular 
permit is not covered under the ordinance. 
 

                                                 
1 By coincidence, the state Supreme Court is currently deciding a case that may affect the point of vesting 
for certain types of permit applications.  This memo describes the current state of the law. 

Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 2 - 



 
 
 

C. Clarifies when an inactive application can be closed—proposed section 
18.14.020 
 

• 18.14.020(A) codifies in the municipal code the state law requirement 
that no stage of application review by the City shall take longer than 
120 days. 
 

• 18.04.020(B) allows the City to close an application where the 
applicant fails to pay fees or provide requested information within 180 
days.  (Holds the applicant to the standard established in the 
International Building Code for when an application should be closed.) 

 
• 18.04.020(C) allows the City to close an application if the application 

has been inactive for at least a year (meaning there has been no final 
decision on the application by the City and also no contact from the 
applicant).  This provision is intended to prevent situations where an 
applicant shows up several years after filing his application and argues 
that, because the City allowed his application to languish without 
making any final decisions, the permit must be approved under the 
regulations that were in place when the application was filed. 

 
• 18.04.020(D) allows the City to be more flexible and enter into 

development agreements where different permit application 
timeframes might be desirable.  

 
D. Clarifies vesting of project permits—proposed section 18.14.030 

 
• 18.14.030(A) states that development permit applications shall be 

controlled under the zoning and land use ordinances that are in effect on 
the date a complete application is filed (pursuant to the state law). 

 
• 18.14.030(B) states filing a complete application does NOT vest any 

subsequent required permits.  This means that the developer will still need 
to apply for the permits needed to perform each separate part of the 
project—for example, plumbing and electrical permits—and that EACH 
OF THESE PERMITS WILL VEST SEPARATELY.  Therefore, the 
regulations relating to getting these permits, and the requirements for 
getting approval for the work performed, could change between the time 
the permit application is complete and the time when the developer applies 
for a particular work permit. 

 
• 18.14.030(C) deals with vesting of grading and filling permits, and states 

that filing a complete grading and filling permit application ONLY 

Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 3 - 



VESTS GRADING AND FILLING described under that permit and does 
not vest other any development rights or later construction activities on the 
property.  This prevents a developer from arguing that application for a 
grading and filling permit should vest his entire development proposal, 
which might involve zoning issues, etc.  18.14.020(C) also states that 
filing a complete grading and filling permit application will not vest the 
STORM WATER development regulations UNLESS the developer also 
files a complete storm water permit application at the same time that he 
files a grading and filling application.  Compliance with storm water 
regulations will become ever more important due to new federal laws 
placing stricter liability for storm water pollution on cities. 

 
• 18.14.030(D) clarifies that development rights do not vest upon the filing 

of pre-application materials, such as SEPA checklists, even if such 
materials are a mandatory part of the permit application process, BUT that 
such materials can be used to provide information required for a complete 
application. 

 
• 18.14.030(E) is a catch-all for situations where allowing the project to go 

forward under the vested rules would cause a serious threat to public 
health or safety.  It tracks language in RCW 58.17.170.   

 
E.  What happens when a developer requests changing a permit condition—

proposed section 18.14.040 
 
Sometimes conditions may change and a developer who has been issued a 
permit may ask the City to alter one or more conditions or requirements of his 
building permit.  This proposed section provides guidelines for when changes 
will be allowed or when a new permit application process will be required, 
and how amending a permit affects the rights that may have previously vested. 

 
• 18.14.040(A) states that “minor” changes to permit conditions can be 

made without requiring a new permit application.  “Minor” means a 
change that doesn’t create problems that can’t be corrected, is not 
otherwise prohibited under the municipal code and would not require 
additional environmental review under BDMC Title 19. 
 

• 18.14.040(B) states that “major” changes shall not be allowed unless a 
new permit application is filed and reviewed by the City, and that any 
requested change that doesn’t meet the definition of “minor” shall be 
considered a “major” change. 

 
• 18.14.040(C)(1) says if the developer gets his minor change approved, he 

can’t later argue later he’s vested under the original conditions if he 
changes his mind and wants to go back to his original plan, and also if the 

Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 4 - 



City approves a minor change to the permit, the permit will still expire two 
years from the original issuance date unless the City agrees otherwise. 

 
• 18.14.040(C)(2) says if you want to make a major change, your new 

permit application will not be vested under the laws and regulations that 
were in effect when you applied for your original permit.  So if you want 
to make a major change, you’re going to be subject to all current 
regulations. 

 
• 18.14.040(D) says the City’s determination whether a requested change is 

major or minor is final and can’t be appealed.  This is because the 
developer already had the right to appeal the original permit conditions.  
Moreover, the developer can file a new permit application and appeal it if 
the City rules against what he wants to do.  This rule is trying to prevent 
giving a person a way to get vested under existing regulations and then 
request major changes as a way to get around current regulations or to 
bypass a formal review. 

 
• 18.14.040(E) makes explicit that requests to change permits that are part 

of an MPD will be governed by the MPD section of the municipal code, 
not this chapter.   

 
F. Waiver of vesting—proposed section 18.14.050 

 
This section authorizes the City to accept a voluntary waiver of vested rights 
by a property owner.  This might occur in a situation where, in exchange for 
the City agreeing to take some action that benefits the developer, the 
developer signs a waiver and agrees to be bound by the current development 
regulations rather than the ones that were in effect when his permit application 
was filed. 
 

G. Duration of permit approvals—proposed section 18.14.060 
 

• 18.14.060(A) fills in one of the big blank spaces of the current law by 
establishing a clear rule that all project permits shall EXPIRE IN TWO 
YEARS if the developer has not “substantially” completed the work, 
unless a different period of time has been previously agreed upon in 
writing thru a development agreement or a different period of time is 
specifically stated elsewhere in the municipal code (such as Master 
Planned Developments, which allow 15 years).  “Substantial” means  
whatever the City decides it means. 
 

• 18.14.060(B) gives the City flexibility by allowing us to extend the 
permit for up to an ADDITIONAL TWO YEARS if the City believes 
there is good cause, such as conditions beyond the developer’s control.  
However, the developer has to pay another (reduced) application fee. 

Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 5 - 



 
• 18.14.060(C) specifically states that a developer LOSES HIS 

VESTED RIGHTS under the permit when the PERMIT EXPIRES, 
unless the permit has been extended by the City as described in 
subsection B, above.  This means he will be subject to whatever fees 
and conditions are in effect when he applies for a new permit. 

 
In sum, under the new ordinance a developer’s vested permit rights would be 
limited to a maximum period of four years (except where a separate written 
agreement between the City and the developer provides otherwise). 

 
• 18.14.060(D) causes a permit to become void if work is not 

substantially commenced within 180 days of the permit being issued, 
or if work stops for 180 days.  This section addresses the problem of 
developers who begin a project and don’t move forward, or who have 
to stop because of financial distress.  It allows the City to potentially 
impose more current code restrictions if either of those situations 
occur. 

 
H. Suspension or revocation of permit approvals—proposed section 18.14.070 

 
• 18.14.070(A) authorizes the City to revoke a permit that was issued in 

error.  This might occur because of incorrect information provided by 
the applicant or an oversight by the City (for example, not realizing 
that another law or ordinance prohibited the project being approved). 
 

• 18.14.070(B) section of the code is intended to protect applicants who 
are incorrectly issued a permit through no fault of their own, by 
allowing the applicant to be vested for another 90 days under the rules 
that were in effect when the original permit was inappropriately 
issued.  The applicant can adjust his project as needed and then re-
apply and get a new permit if possible.  However, there may be 
situations where the applicant simply cannot do what he wants to do.  
In such situations, City staff should consult with the City Attorney. 

 
4. When other fees and charges vest 

 
The following summary describes the point when certain other fees and charges vest 
under the current version of the municipal code:   
 

• “Impact fees” imposed under the Growth Management Act.  Impact fees are 
imposed under the Growth Management Act to help communities pay for 
infrastructure and other improvements made necessary by new development.  
The state does not require that these fees automatically vest at the time a 
complete development application is filed; a city is free to decide when these 
fees shall vest.  Black Diamond currently vests impact fees at different points in 

Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 6 - 



the development process, depending on the type of project.  Under BDMC 
3.50.080, impact fees vest at the following times: 
 

 
Impact fee vests at time of complete building permit application: 
Model home (built prior to final plat approval) 
Development projects not requiring plat or site plan approval 
 
Impact fee vests at time of site plan approval: 
Multi-family developments* 
Non-residential developments* 
Mobile home park** 
A ny project where a building permit is not required 
*Under certain circumstances, fee may vest upon complete building permit application 
**If constructed in phases, fee may vest at beginning of each phase 
 
Impact fee vests at time of final plat approval: 
Single family subdivisions and short subdivisions 
Duplex subdivisions and short subdivisions 
 

How long are GMA impact fees vested? 
The municipal code doesn’t say explicitly how long impact fees are vested, but 
implies that vesting is for three years, because BDMC 3.50.080(3) states that three 
years after vesting, any new building permit applications shall be subject to impact 
fees at current rates.  However, the vesting period is generally not an issue because 
BDMC 3.50.080 requires the developer to pay the impact fees in full at the time 
they are assessed or soon after.   

 
• “Mitigation fees” under SEPA.  The State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) is 

limited to addressing environmental problems only.  Under SEPA, the City may 
require the developer to pay a fee to pay for mitigation of an environmental 
problem.  The amount of this fee does not automatically vest when a complete 
application is filed, because SEPA is not a zoning or “land use control ordinance.”  
The current municipal code is silent as to when a SEPA fee would vest, but this is 
understandable because any mitigation fees imposed under SEPA can only be 
calculated after all the application materials are submitted and reviewed by the City.  
Then, because of other SEPA rules, the City is required to determine the amount of 
the fee prior to issuance of a permit.  So the de facto vesting point is when the SEPA 
permit is issued.  However, the current municipal code also fails to specify how 
long the vesting period lasts.  The proposed ordinance would answer this question 
by stating that any vesting of fees and charges ends when the project permit expires 
(i.e., in two years, with a possible two year extension). 

 
• Vesting of connection charges.  The City is authorized to charge a separate one-

time fee for residential developments or businesses that are physically connecting to 
the City’s water, sewer, and storm water systems for the first time.  These charges 
help recover the cost of building the systems and assist in paying for future 
improvements.  The state does not require that these charges automatically vest at a 
particular time; a city is free to decide when these charges shall vest.  Currently, the 

Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 7 - 



Vesting and Lapsing of Permits 
- 8 - 

Black Diamond municipal code doesn’t explicitly say when these fees vest or for 
how long.  But under the proposed ordinance it would be clear that vesting of the 
connection charge amount would lapse when the construction permit expired (i.e., 
in two years, with a possible two year extension). 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA BILL 

City of Black Diamond
Post Office Box 599

Black Diamond, WA 98010
ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  Agenda Date: January 15, 2009            AB09-008 
Ordinance 09-893, amending BDMC Department/Committee/Individual Created Reviewed 

2.58 to clarify the terms under  Mayor Howard Botts   

which a business license may be  City Administrator –Gwen Voelpel   X 
applied for, approved, denied, and  City Attorney – Loren D. Combs X  

suspended or revoked, as well as the City Clerk – Brenda L. Streepy  X 
procedures for appealing such  Finance – May Miller  X 

action. Public Works – Seth Boettcher   
Cost Impact:  No impact on current fees Economic Devel. – Andy Williamson  X 
Fund Source:  N/A Police –  Jamey Kiblinger   
Timeline: 10 days after publication Court – Kaaren Woods    
 

 

Comm. Development – Steve Pilcher  X 
Attachments: Ordinance No. 09-893, Redlined version of Ordinance 09-893 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT:   
 
Chapter 2.58 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code establishes the requirement for business to obtain an 
annual business license from the City. Currently, there are no provisions by which the City may deny an 
application for a license, even if a proposed business activity would not be allowed within a specific zone 
district or would not be allowed in a particular building without various upgrades that may be required to 
comply with building and/or fire codes.  
 
Similarly, in the event of an unresolved code violation or other issue, the Code currently does not provide 
the opportunity to revoke a business license.  
 
The recommended amendments to the business license code will provide the authorization to allow staff 
to deny or suspend/revoke a business license when conformance with other code provisions becomes an 
issue. This will help ensure that businesses are not being conducted in violation of City codes and 
ordinances.    
 
COMMITTEE REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION:  None. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:   MOTION to adopt Ordinance 09-893, amending Chapter 2.58 
of the Black Diamond Municipal Code to clarify terms under which a business license may 
be applied for, denied, and suspended or revoked, as well as procedures for appealing such 
actions.   

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 
Meeting Date  Action      Vote 

January 15, 2009   
         
  
 



Ordinance 09-893 
Page 1 of 2 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 09-893 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY WASHINGTON, 
AMENDING BLACK DIAMOND MUNICIPAL CODE 
CHAPTER 2.58 TO CLARIFY THE TERMS UNDER 
WHICH A BUSINESS LICENSE MAY BE APPLIED FOR, 
APPROVED, DENIED, AND SUSPENDED OR 
REVOKED, AS WELL AS THE PROCEDURES FOR 
APPEALING SUCH ACTIONS 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is empowered to regulate the issuance of business licenses pursuant to 
RCW 35A.11.020 and RCW 35.22.280; and 

 
WHEREAS, clarifying the terms of eligibility for a license and of potential administrative 

sanctions will help the City to address situations where a business may be creating problems within 
the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, a few other minor housekeeping changes will make the chapter easier to use for 

City staff and the public; and 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to BDMC 2.30.080, the hearing examiner shall have specific authority 
as granted to the examiner in other chapters of the Black Diamond Municipal Code to consider other 
matters in addition to land use issues.  Now, therefore,  
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Section listing appearing at the beginning of Chapter 2.58 of the Black 
Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
 Sections 

2.58.010 Business License Required. 
2.58.020 Definitions. 
2.58.025 Exemptions. 
2.58.030 Eligibility for license. 
2.58.040 Application procedure—Issuance—Term of License—Renewal. 
2.58.050 License Fees. 
2.58.060 Separate license required for each business location—Display of License. 
2.58.070 Change in ownership or death of licensee. 
2.58.080 Enforcement. 
2.58.090 Grounds for Revocation or Suspension. 
2.58.100 Appeal of Suspension or Revocation. 
2.58.110 Service of Notice. 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 2 of 11 

2.58.120 Violations—Penalties. 
 
SECTION 2. Section 2.58.025 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 

2.58.025  Exemptions. 
The following shall be exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 

 
A. Businesses that do not maintain an office or branch in the City of Black 

Diamond and who are not engaged in door to door sales or selling goods or services on the 
streets of the City and are merely performing a service at the request of a Black Diamond 
resident, including but not limited to home repairs or the installation of appliances, provided, 
the person performing the service must possess any other licenses or certifications required 
under state or federal laws and the service provider is providing services in Black Diamond 
on no more than four  occasions in any one calendar year. 

 
A.B. Casual or isolated sales made by persons who are not engaged in the ongoing 
business of selling the type of property involved, providing that not more than four such 
sales events are made during any tax year. 

 
B.C. Minors engaged in babysitting, delivery of newspapers, lawn mowing, car washing, 

and similar activities. 
 
C.D.  Any instrumentality of the United States, state of Washington, or any political 

subdivision thereof, with respect to the exercise of governmental functions. 
 
D.E. All special events sponsored by the city, but not to include participating commercial 

vendors. 
 
E.F.  Nonprofit organizations, including but not limited to religious, civic, charitable, 

benevolent, nonprofit, cultural or youth organizations. 
 
F.G. Businesses subject to the city’s utility tax, BDMC Chapter 5.08.  

 
 
SECTION 2. Section 2.58.030 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 
  2.58.030 Eligibility for license. 

   
No person shall be eligible for a City of Black Diamond business license if any of the 
following conditions apply: 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 3 of 11 

 
(1) The applicant is under the age of eighteen. 
 
(2) The type of business to be conducted under the license is prohibited by 

zoning or other regulations from being conducted at the location indicated 
on the license application. 

 
(3) The applicant knowingly provided false or materially misleading information 

on the business license application or during the application process. 
 
(4) The applicant is not eligible under any other statute, law, ordinance, or 

regulation to be licensed to conduct the type of business for which the City 
license would be issued. 

 
(5)  At the time of making the application, the applicant’s eligibility for the type 

of license sought is revoked or suspended pursuant to this chapter. 
 
(6)  The applicant, or a business within the City which is owned in whole or part 

by the applicant, owes to the City of Black Diamond any unpaid license fees 
and/or unpaid fines imposed for violations of this chapter. 

 
 
SECTION 3. Section 2.58.040 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 
 

2.58.040 Application procedure—Issuance—Term of license—Renewal—
Replacement. 

 
A. Application.  

  
(1) Every person required to obtain a license under the provisions of this 

chapter shall submit an application for such license to the city clerk on a form 
provided by the city. The applicant is required to provide all information requested 
on said form, and failure to do so shall be grounds for refusing to issue the business 
license. 

  
(2) An application for a business license shall be accompanied by the full 

amount of the fee chargeable for said license, and said fee shall be nonrefundable.  
The city administrator shall issue a receipt to the applicant for all fees paid. 

 
B. Issuance. 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 4 of 11 

   
(1) A business license shall be issued only upon payment of all required 

license fees, review of the application and approval by the city 
administrator. 

   
(2) Every license issued shall contain the year of issue, the name and 

location of the business and any other information the city shall deem 
necessary.  

 
(3) An issued license shall be immediately rendered invalid if payment of 

the required fees is made by a dishonored check, credit card, or any 
method that results in the City failing to receive proper payment. 

 
(4)  No license issued under this chapter shall be transferable or 

assignable except as provided in section 2.58.070. 
 
C.  Term of license.  A business license issued pursuant to this chapter shall 

only be valid during the same calendar year in which it was issued and shall expire as 
of the 31st of December.  Business license renewals must be obtained prior to the 
thirty-first day of January each year or shall be subject to monetary penalties.  See 
subsection D, below.   

 
D. Renewal.   Upon payment of all applicable fees or charges and 

verification by the applicant that the information on the renewal license is 
correct, the City shall renew any business license for the new calendar 
year, subject to the following conditions: 
  

(1) If a business renews its license after January 31st, it shall be subject 
to a monetary penalty in addition to the regular license fee specified 
in this chapter.  No renewal license shall be issued until both the 
regular license fee and the penalty have been paid in full. 

   
(2) A license shall not be renewed if, at the time of submitting the 

application, the license sought to be renewed is revoked or suspended 
pursuant to this chapter. 

 
(3)   A license shall not be renewed if the applicant, or a business within 

the City which is owned in whole or part by the applicant, owes the 
City of Black Diamond any unpaid license fees and/or unpaid fines 
imposed for violations of this chapter. 

 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 5 of 11 

E.  Replacement.  A replacement license shall be issued by the city 
administrator to replace any license previously issued which has been lost, stolen, 
defaced or destroyed without willful conduct on the part of the licensee, upon the 
filing by the licensee of an affidavit attesting to that fact and the payment of a 
twenty-dollar ($25) fee to the city administrator. 

 
 

SECTION 4. Section 2.58.050 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 
follows: 
 

2.58.050  License fees. 
 

A. Calculation of fee.  The fee for a City business license shall be determined 
according to the formulas below and the current fee schedule adopted by the 
City. 
   

(1) Renewals.  For businesses renewing their license, the annual license fee shall 
be based on how many persons were employed by the business at any one 
time between January 1st and December 31st of the year immediately 
preceding the year for which the license is sought.  The number of employees 
shall be provided by the employer. 

   
(2) New businesses.  For a new business that has not yet been established or has 

not yet reported employee information to the state, the fee shall be 
determined based on the business owner’s estimate of the maximum number 
of employees likely to be employed during that calendar year.  

 
(3)  Businesses Located Outside City.  Any business that is located outside the 

city but furnishes or performs services within the city and is not exempt 
under section 2.58.025(A), shall pay a license fee measured by the number of 
employees of such business that perform any part of their duties within the 
city.   

 
 

B. Penalty for Late Payment.  In addition to any other penalties provided for in 
this chapter, any business which fails to make application for an original business 
license after commencing business within the City of Black Diamond, or fails to 
renew an existing license by January 31st, shall be subject to the following 
penalties based on the number of days delinquent: 

C.  
Days Delinquent Penalty 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 6 of 11 

Up to one month $10.00 
One month to two months 20.00 
Two months to three months 30.00 
Three months or more Twice the cost of the license renewal and this 

amount may be sent to a collection agency if 
unpaid after thirty days’ notice 

 
  C.  Reinstatement fee.  Any license that has been suspended pursuant to this chapter 
shall not be reinstated until a fee equal to one-half of the annual licensing fee for that business has 
been paid and the period of suspension has ended.   
 

 
SECTION 5. Section 2.58.060 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 
 

2.58.060  Separate license required for each business location--Display of license. 
 

A.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, no license issued under this 
chapter shall entitle the license holder to maintain or conduct the business for which 
the license was issued at any other place or location than that stated in such license.  
If the place of business is changed from one location to another, the licensee shall 
return the license to the city administrator, and a new license shall be issued for the 
new place of business, free of charge. 
 
B.  A separate license is required for each branch establishment or location in the 
City where business is conducted or engaged in, as if such branch establishment or 
location were a separate business; provided, no separate license fee shall be imposed 
to obtain the license for such branch establishment or location. 

 
C. A person engaging in two or more businesses at the same location shall be 
required to obtain separate licenses for each business. 
 
D. All licenses issued pursuant to this chapter  shall at all times be posted in a 
conspicuous place at the location of the business; provided, when the licensee has no 
established place of business and goes from place to place, then such license must be 
carried on the person of such licensee while actually engaged in the licensed 
business.  

 
 

SECTION 6. Section 2.58.070 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 7 of 11 

read as follows: 
  
  2.58.070  Change in ownership or death of licensee. 
 

A. Change in ownership.  A new license shall be required to be obtained within 
thirty (30) days of the occurrence of any of the following events: 

  
(1) a business has been sold or otherwise transferred to an owner whose name 

does not appear on the existing license;  
 
(2) a license has been issued to a business that is a partnership and the members 

of the partnership change; 
 
(3)  a sole proprietor incorporates;  
 
(4)  a corporation dissolves and the business is continued under a new 

corporation or other type of business entity.  In each of these cases, the new 
owner(s) must submit a new application and pay all fees required. 

 
  B.  Death of licensee.  Should a license holder become deceased before expiration of 
the license, his or her duly appointed administrator or executor may continue to engage in business 
under the existing license until the license expires.  
 
 

SECTION 7. Section 2.58.080 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 

2.58.080 Enforcement. 
A.  It is unlawful for any person, either directly or indirectly, to conduct any 

business for which a license is required without a license being first procured and kept in 
effect at all such times as required by this chapter. 

 
B.  Any license fee due, but unpaid and delinquent under this chapter, and all 

penalties thereon, may be assigned to a collection agency as allowed by law or collected in a 
civil action, which remedy shall be in addition to any and all other existing remedies and 
penalties provided by the Black Diamond Municipal Code. 

 
C.  The city administrator, or his or her designee, shall have the power and 

authority to suspend or revoke any license issued under the provisions of this chapter.  
Notice of such revocation or suspension shall be in writing and shall inform the licensee of 
the grounds for said suspension or revocation, the length of the suspension or revocation, and 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 8 of 11 

the date such suspension or revocation shall begin and end.  The notice shall also inform the 
licensee of the right to appeal, the deadline for filing such an appeal, and that failure to file a 
timely appeal shall waive all appeal rights.  Notice shall be served upon the licensee by one 
of the methods described in Section 2.58.110.  Unless an appeal is timely filed as provided in 
Section 2.58.100, the suspension or revocation of a business license shall take effect on the 
eleventh day after receipt of a notice of suspension or revocation. 

 
D.  It is unlawful for any person whose license has been revoked or suspended to 

keep the license issued to him in his possession or under his control, and the same shall be 
immediately surrendered to the city administrator. When revoked, the license shall be 
canceled, and when suspended, the license shall be retained by the city administrator during 
the period of suspension. A licensee who continues to engage in the business for which the 
license has been revoked or suspended shall be deemed to be operating without a license and 
shall be subject to any or all penalties provided herein.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 8. Section 2.58.090 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 
  2.58.090 Grounds for revocation or suspension. 
   

The city administrator may revoke or suspend any business license issued under the 
provisions of this chapter on any one or more of the following grounds. 
 
A. The license was procured by fraud or by false representation of fact; 
 
B.  The licensee has violated or failed to comply with any of the provisions of this 
chapter; or 
 
C.  The licensee’s continued conduct of the business for which the license was issued 
will result in a substantial threat to the public health, safety or welfare by reason of 
any of the following: 
 

1. The licensee, his employees or agents acting within the scope of their 
employment have been convicted of a crime which bears a direct relationship to the 
conduct of the business for which the license has been issued; or 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 9 of 11 

 
2. The licensee, or his agents or employees while acting within the scope of 

their employment, have, in the conduct of the business for which the license has been 
issued, violated a law or ordinance relating to the public health, welfare or safety ; or 
 

3. The conduct of the business for which the license was issued has resulted 
in the creation of a public nuisance, as defined by the Black Diamond Municipal 
Code or by state law.  

 
 

SECTION 9. Section 2.58.100 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 

2.58.100 Appeal of suspension or revocation. 
 
A. Request for Appeal—Scheduling of hearing.   

 
(1) A licensee wishing to appeal a notice of suspension or revocation must file a 

written request to appeal with the city clerk.  Such requests must be received by the City 
or postmarked no later than ten days after the date of service of the notice of suspension 
or revocation.  Telephone, facsimile, or email requests shall not satisfy the requirements 
of this section.   The request to appeal must specify the grounds upon which the appeal is 
based.   

 
(2) The city clerk shall set a date for a hearing before the city Hearing Examiner, 

which date shall be at least fourteen (14) but not more than thirty (30) days from the date 
the appeal is filed, provided, the hearing date may be rescheduled and additional time 
allowed upon motion of a party or the hearing examiner for good cause shown or upon 
mutual agreement of the licensee and the city.  At least ten (10) days before said hearing, 
the city clerk shall cause licensee to be served with notice of the hearing as provided in 
section 2.58.110.  The notice shall set forth the date, time and place of the hearing. 
 

B. Failure to appear—Default judgment.  Failure of licensee to appear for the scheduled 
hearing after notice of the hearing has been served upon licensee in the manner provided 
for in this chapter shall result in a default judgment being entered by hearing examiner in 
favor of the city, affirming the original suspension or revocation action taken by the city 
administrator.  At the city’s  request, the costs of the hearing shall be assessed by hearing 
examiner against licensee. 

 
C. Hearing procedure—Decision.   
 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 10 of 11 

(1) Except as specifically supplemented by this chapter, the hearing shall be 
conducted according to chapter 2.30 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code.   

 
(2) Within ten (10) days of the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing examiner shall, 

enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law and shall affirm, modify or reverse 
the suspension or revocation of the license. The decision of the hearing examiner may 
impose any reasonable terms as a requirement for continuance of the license.   A copy of 
the hearing examiner’s decision shall be served upon the licensee by the methods 
allowed under section 2.58.110. 

 
D. License in effect pending hearing decision.  When a suspension or revocation has 

been properly appealed, the license shall remain in effect pending the hearing examiner’s 
decision. 

 
E. License must be surrendered upon decision to suspend or revoke.  If the hearing 

examiner’s decision is to suspend or revoke the license, the licensee shall immediately 
surrender the license to the city administrator on the next business day following receipt 
of the notice of the city council’s determination.  

 
 

SECTION 10.  Section 2.58.110 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended 
to read as follows: 
 

2.58.110 Service of notices. 
 
Any notices required by this chapter shall be served upon a party by personal service or sent 
by both regular first class mail and certified mail, return receipt requested, to the address of 
the licensee or applicant as shown in the records of the city administrator, or if no such 
address is shown, to such address as the city administrator is able to ascertain by reasonable 
effort, or by posting at the location of the business if service by registered mail and two 
attempts at personal service have failed.  Upon a showing by the city that notice has been 
attempted as provided for in this section, failure of the licensee or applicant to receive such 
notice shall not release the licensee or applicant from any fees or penalties that result, nor 
shall such failure extend any time limit set by the provisions of this chapter.  

 
SECTION 11.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after its passage, 

approval, posting and publication as provided by law.  A summary of this Ordinance may be 
published in lieu of publishing the Ordinance in its entirety. 
 
 SECTION 12.  If any provision of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance shall remain in force and 



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 11 of 11 

effect. 
 
 Introduced the 15th  day of January, 2009. 
 
 
 Passed by a majority of the City Council at a meeting held on the 15th  day of January, 2009. 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Mayor Howard Botts 
Attest: 
 
_______________________________ 
Brenda Streepy, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
Loren D. Combs, City Attorney 
 
Published:  ________________ 
Posted:___________________ 
Effective Date: ____________ 
 
 
VSI Client/18256/Tasks2008/340BusinessLicense 



Ordinance 09-893 
Page 1 of 2 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 09-893 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY WASHINGTON, 
AMENDING BLACK DIAMOND MUNICIPAL CODE 
CHAPTER 2.58 TO CLARIFY THE TERMS UNDER 
WHICH A BUSINESS LICENSE MAY BE APPLIED FOR, 
APPROVED, DENIED, AND SUSPENDED OR 
REVOKED, AS WELL AS THE PROCEDURES FOR 
APPEALING SUCH ACTIONS 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is empowered to regulate the issuance of business licenses pursuant to 
RCW 35A.11.020 and RCW 35.22.280; and 

 
WHEREAS, clarifying the terms of eligibility for a license and of potential administrative 

sanctions will help the City to address situations where a business may be creating problems within 
the community; and 

 
WHEREAS, a few other minor housekeeping changes will make the chapter easier to use for 

City staff and the public; and 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to BDMC 2.30.080, the hearing examiner shall have specific authority 
as granted to the examiner in other chapters of the Black Diamond Municipal Code to consider other 
matters in addition to land use issues.  Now, therefore,  
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, KING COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1. The Section listing appearing at the beginning of Chapter 2.58 of the Black 
Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
 Sections 

2.58.010 Business License Required. 
2.58.020 Definitions. 
2.58.025 Exemptions. 
2.58.030 Eligibility for license. 
2.58.040 Application procedure—Issuance—Term of License—Renewal. 
2.58.050 License Fees. 
2.58.060 Separate license required for each business location—Display of License. 
2.58.070 Change in ownership or death of licensee. 
2.58.080 Enforcement. 
2.58.090 Grounds for Revocation or Suspension. 
2.58.100 Appeal of Suspension or Revocation. 
2.58.110 Service of Notice. 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times
New Roman

Deleted: -_____

Deleted: Administration and 
Enforcement

Deleted: Business location

Deleted: --

Deleted: Procedure for Issuance of 

Deleted: --

Deleted: License Fees

Deleted:  and Penalties

Deleted: Mailing

Deleted: s

Deleted: 8-  



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 2 of 11 

2.58.120 Violations—Penalties. 
 
SECTION 2. Section 2.58.025 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 

2.58.025  Exemptions. 
The following shall be exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 

 
A. Businesses that do not maintain an office or branch in the City of Black 

Diamond and who are not engaged in door to door sales or selling goods or services on the 
streets of the City and are merely performing a service at the request of a Black Diamond 
resident, including but not limited to home repairs or the installation of appliances, provided, 
the person performing the service must possess any other licenses or certifications required 
under state or federal laws and the service provider is providing services in Black Diamond 
on no more than four  occasions in any one calendar year. 

 
A.B. Casual or isolated sales made by persons who are not engaged in the ongoing 
business of selling the type of property involved, providing that not more than four such 
sales events are made during any tax year. 

 
B.C. Minors engaged in babysitting, delivery of newspapers, lawn mowing, car washing, 

and similar activities. 
 
C.D.  Any instrumentality of the United States, state of Washington, or any political 

subdivision thereof, with respect to the exercise of governmental functions. 
 
D.E. All special events sponsored by the city, but not to include participating commercial 

vendors. 
 
E.F.  Nonprofit organizations, including but not limited to religious, civic, charitable, 

benevolent, nonprofit, cultural or youth organizations. 
 
F.G. Businesses subject to the city’s utility tax, BDMC Chapter 5.08.  

 
 
SECTION 2. Section 2.58.030 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 
  2.58.030 Eligibility for license. 

   
No person shall be eligible for a City of Black Diamond business license if any of the 
following conditions apply: 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times
New Roman

Formatted: Font: (Default) Times
New Roman

Formatted: Indent: Left:  72 pt,
Right:  54 pt, Widow/Orphan control

Deleted: Penalties and legal Remedies

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: or providing a good 

Deleted: the delivery of merchandise, 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: such services are performed

Deleted: Black Diamond during 

Deleted: L

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Administration and 
enforcement

Deleted: ¶
The city administrator shall have general 
charge of and supervision over the 
administration and enforcement of this 
chapter. The city administrator shall 
collect all license fees and shall issue 
licenses in the name of the city to all 
persons qualified under the provisions of 
this chapter.¶

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 3 of 11 

 
(1) The applicant is under the age of eighteen. 
 
(2) The type of business to be conducted under the license is prohibited by 

zoning or other regulations from being conducted at the location indicated 
on the license application. 

 
(3) The applicant knowingly provided false or materially misleading information 

on the business license application or during the application process. 
 
(4) The applicant is not eligible under any other statute, law, ordinance, or 

regulation to be licensed to conduct the type of business for which the City 
license would be issued. 

 
(5)  At the time of making the application, the applicant’s eligibility for the type 

of license sought is revoked or suspended pursuant to this chapter. 
 
(6)  The applicant, or a business within the City which is owned in whole or part 

by the applicant, owes to the City of Black Diamond any unpaid license fees 
and/or unpaid fines imposed for violations of this chapter. 

 
 
SECTION 3. Section 2.58.040 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 
 

2.58.040 Application procedure—Issuance—Term of license—Renewal—
Replacement. 

 
A. Application.  

  
(1) Every person required to obtain a license under the provisions of this 

chapter shall submit an application for such license to the city clerk on a form 
provided by the city. The applicant is required to provide all information requested 
on said form, and failure to do so shall be grounds for refusing to issue the business 
license. 

  
(2) An application for a business license shall be accompanied by the full 

amount of the fee chargeable for said license, and said fee shall be nonrefundable.  
The city administrator shall issue a receipt to the applicant for all fees paid. 

 
B. Issuance. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  36 pt,
First line:  36 pt, Widow/Orphan
control

Formatted: Indent: Left:  126 pt,
First line:  0 pt

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
108 pt + Tab after:  0 pt + Indent at:
 126 pt

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
108 pt + Tab after:  0 pt + Indent at:
 126 pt

Deleted: Business location

Deleted: ¶
A. A license shall be obtained in the 
manner prescribed in this chapter for each 
branch establishment or location of the 
business engaged in, as if such branch 
establishment or location were a separate 
business; provided, no license fee shall be 
imposed to obtain the license for such 
branch establishment or location.¶
B. A person engaging in two or more 
businesses at the same location shall be 
required to obtain separate licenses for 
conducting each of such businesses.¶
C. Unless otherwise specifically provided 
herein, no license issued under the 
authority of this chapter shall entitle the 
holder thereof to maintain or conduct a 
business, trade or occupation for which 
the license was procured at any other 
place or location than that stated in such 
license. If the place of business is 
changed from one location to another, the 
licensee shall return the license to the city 
administrator, and a new license shall be 
issued for the new place of business, free 
of charge.¶

Deleted: A.  

Deleted: B.  

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 4 of 11 

   
(1) A business license shall be issued only upon payment of all required 

license fees, review of the application and approval by the city 
administrator. 

   
(2) Every license issued shall contain the year of issue, the name and 

location of the business and any other information the city shall deem 
necessary.  

 
(3) An issued license shall be immediately rendered invalid if payment of 

the required fees is made by a dishonored check, credit card, or any 
method that results in the City failing to receive proper payment. 

 
(4)  No license issued under this chapter shall be transferable or 

assignable except as provided in section 2.58.070. 
 
C.  Term of license.  A business license issued pursuant to this chapter shall 

only be valid during the same calendar year in which it was issued and shall expire as 
of the 31st of December.  Business license renewals must be obtained prior to the 
thirty-first day of January each year or shall be subject to monetary penalties.  See 
subsection D, below.   

 
D. Renewal.   Upon payment of all applicable fees or charges and 

verification by the applicant that the information on the renewal license is 
correct, the City shall renew any business license for the new calendar 
year, subject to the following conditions: 
  

(1) If a business renews its license after January 31st, it shall be subject 
to a monetary penalty in addition to the regular license fee specified 
in this chapter.  No renewal license shall be issued until both the 
regular license fee and the penalty have been paid in full. 

   
(2) A license shall not be renewed if, at the time of submitting the 

application, the license sought to be renewed is revoked or suspended 
pursuant to this chapter. 

 
(3)   A license shall not be renewed if the applicant, or a business within 

the City which is owned in whole or part by the applicant, owes the 
City of Black Diamond any unpaid license fees and/or unpaid fines 
imposed for violations of this chapter. 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  126 pt,
First line:  0 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  108 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  108 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  162 pt + Tab after:  0 pt
+ Indent at:  216.75 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Left,
Indent: Left:  108 pt, Hanging:  36
pt,  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  108 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  162 pt + Tab after:  0 pt
+ Indent at:  216.75 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Left,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  108 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  108 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  162 pt + Tab after:  0 pt
+ Indent at:  216.75 pt

Deleted: (1) 

Deleted: (2) 

Deleted: (3) 

Deleted:  

Deleted: transferrable

Deleted:   

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 5 of 11 

E.  Replacement.  A replacement license shall be issued by the city 
administrator to replace any license previously issued which has been lost, stolen, 
defaced or destroyed without willful conduct on the part of the licensee, upon the 
filing by the licensee of an affidavit attesting to that fact and the payment of a 
twenty-dollar ($25) fee to the city administrator. 

 
 

SECTION 4. Section 2.58.050 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 
follows: 
 

2.58.050  License fees. 
 

A. Calculation of fee.  The fee for a City business license shall be determined 
according to the formulas below and the current fee schedule adopted by the 
City. 
   

(1) Renewals.  For businesses renewing their license, the annual license fee shall 
be based on how many persons were employed by the business at any one 
time between January 1st and December 31st of the year immediately 
preceding the year for which the license is sought.  The number of employees 
shall be provided by the employer. 

   
(2) New businesses.  For a new business that has not yet been established or has 

not yet reported employee information to the state, the fee shall be 
determined based on the business owner’s estimate of the maximum number 
of employees likely to be employed during that calendar year.  

 
(3)  Businesses Located Outside City.  Any business that is located outside the 

city but furnishes or performs services within the city and is not exempt 
under section 2.58.025(A), shall pay a license fee measured by the number of 
employees of such business that perform any part of their duties within the 
city.   

 
 

B. Penalty for Late Payment.  In addition to any other penalties provided for in this 
chapter, any business which fails to make application for an original business license after 
commencing business within the City of Black Diamond, or fails to renew an existing license 
by January 31st, shall be subject to the following penalties based on the number of days 
delinquent: 

Days Delinquent Penalty 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Indent: First line:  36 pt,
Widow/Orphan control

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Deleted: Procedure for issuance of l

Deleted: ¶
A. Every person required to procure a 
license under the provisions of this 
chapter shall submit an application for 
such license to the city administrator on a 
form provided by the city. The applicant 
shall be required to provide all 
information requested on said form, and 
failure to do so shall be grounds for 
refusing to issue the business license.¶
B. Every license issued shall contain the 
year of issue, the name and location of 
the business and any other information 
the city shall deem necessary.¶
C. No business may be commenced 
within the city without the issuance and 
possession of a valid business license as 
herein provided. A business license 
issued pursuant to this chapter shall be 
valid for the year in which it was issued 
only. Business license renewals must be 
acquired prior to the thirty-first day of 
January each year. A business which 
renews its business license after January 
31st, shall be subject to a penalty in 
addition to the regular license fee in the 
amount specified in Section 2.58.070. No 
renewal license shall be issued until the 
regular license fee and the penalty have 
both been paid in full.¶
D. An application for a business license 
shall be accompanied by the full amount 
of the fee chargeable for said license, and 
said fee shall be nonrefundable.¶
E. The city administrator shall issue a 
receipt to the applicant for all fees paid.¶
F. A duplicate license shall be issued by 
the city administrator to replace any 
license previously issued which has been 
lost, stolen, defaced or destroyed without 
willful conduct on the part of the 
licensee, upon the filing by the licensee 

Deleted: B. License Fee Schedule.  The 
license fee shall be based on the number 
of employees according to the schedule 
below. (Note: the owner shall be included 
when determining the number of 

Deleted: C

Deleted: _____

... [2]

... [1]



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 6 of 11 

Up to one month $10.00 
One month to two months 20.00 
Two months to three months 30.00 
Three months or more Twice the cost of the license renewal and this 

amount may be sent to a collection agency if 
unpaid after thirty days’ notice 

 
  C.  Reinstatement fee.  Any license that has been suspended pursuant to this chapter 
shall not be reinstated until a fee equal to one-half of the annual licensing fee for that business has 
been paid and the period of suspension has ended.   
 

 
SECTION 5. Section 2.58.060 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is amended to read as 

follows: 
 

2.58.060  Separate license required for each business location--Display of license. 
 

A.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, no license issued under this 
chapter shall entitle the license holder to maintain or conduct the business for which 
the license was issued at any other place or location than that stated in such license.  
If the place of business is changed from one location to another, the licensee shall 
return the license to the city administrator, and a new license shall be issued for the 
new place of business, free of charge. 
 
B.  A separate license is required for each branch establishment or location in the 
City where business is conducted or engaged in, as if such branch establishment or 
location were a separate business; provided, no separate license fee shall be imposed 
to obtain the license for such branch establishment or location. 

 
C. A person engaging in two or more businesses at the same location shall be 
required to obtain separate licenses for each business. 
 
D. All licenses issued pursuant to this chapter  shall at all times be posted in a 
conspicuous place at the location of the business; provided, when the licensee has no 
established place of business and goes from place to place, then such license must be 
carried on the person of such licensee while actually engaged in the licensed 
business.  

 
 

SECTION 6. Section 2.58.070 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 

Deleted: 1--30 days

Deleted: 31--60 days

Deleted: 61--90 days

Deleted: 91 days

Deleted: Misdemeanor

Deleted: D

Deleted: authorizing the maintenance 
or conducting of any occupation, 
business, trade or entertainment at a 
specified location,

Deleted: such

Deleted:  

Deleted: however, that 

Deleted: , occupation or trade

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 7 of 11 

read as follows: 
  
  2.58.070  Change in ownership or death of licensee. 
 

A. Change in ownership.  A new license shall be required to be obtained within 
thirty (30) days of the occurrence of any of the following events: 

  
(1) a business has been sold or otherwise transferred to an owner whose name 

does not appear on the existing license;  
 
(2) a license has been issued to a business that is a partnership and the members 

of the partnership change; 
 
(3)  a sole proprietor incorporates;  
 
(4)  a corporation dissolves and the business is continued under a new 

corporation or other type of business entity.  In each of these cases, the new 
owner(s) must submit a new application and pay all fees required. 

 
  B.  Death of licensee.  Should a license holder become deceased before expiration of 
the license, his or her duly appointed administrator or executor may continue to engage in business 
under the existing license until the license expires.  
 
 

SECTION 7. Section 2.58.080 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 

2.58.080 Enforcement. 
A.  It is unlawful for any person, either directly or indirectly, to conduct any 

business for which a license is required without a license being first procured and kept in 
effect at all such times as required by this chapter. 

 
B.  Any license fee due, but unpaid and delinquent under this chapter, and all 

penalties thereon, may be assigned to a collection agency as allowed by law or collected in a 
civil action, which remedy shall be in addition to any and all other existing remedies and 
penalties provided by the Black Diamond Municipal Code. 

 
C.  The city administrator, or his or her designee, shall have the power and 

authority to suspend or revoke any license issued under the provisions of this chapter.  
Notice of such revocation or suspension shall be in writing and shall inform the licensee of 
the grounds for said suspension or revocation, the length of the suspension or revocation, and 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  72 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: A, B, C, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  144 pt + Tab after:  0 pt
+ Indent at:  197.25 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  72 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  180 pt + Tab after:  0 pt
+ Indent at:  231.75 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  72 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt, Numbered + Level:
1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  180 pt + Tab after:  0 pt
+ Indent at:  231.75 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  72 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  72 pt,
Hanging:  36 pt

Deleted: License fees

Deleted: any of 

Deleted: ¶

Deleted:  and penalties

Deleted: mailed

Deleted:  to

Deleted: by the city administrator and 
shall notify the licensee 

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 8 of 11 

the date such suspension or revocation shall begin and end.  The notice shall also inform the 
licensee of the right to appeal, the deadline for filing such an appeal, and that failure to file a 
timely appeal shall waive all appeal rights.  Notice shall be served upon the licensee by one 
of the methods described in Section 2.58.110.  Unless an appeal is timely filed as provided in 
Section 2.58.100, the suspension or revocation of a business license shall take effect on the 
eleventh day after receipt of a notice of suspension or revocation. 

 
D.  It is unlawful for any person whose license has been revoked or suspended to 

keep the license issued to him in his possession or under his control, and the same shall be 
immediately surrendered to the city administrator. When revoked, the license shall be 
canceled, and when suspended, the license shall be retained by the city administrator during 
the period of suspension. A licensee who continues to engage in the business for which the 
license has been revoked or suspended shall be deemed to be operating without a license and 
shall be subject to any or all penalties provided herein.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 8. Section 2.58.090 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 
  2.58.090 Grounds for revocation or suspension. 
   

The city administrator may revoke or suspend any business license issued under the 
provisions of this chapter on any one or more of the following grounds. 
 
A. The license was procured by fraud or by false representation of fact; 
 
B.  The licensee has violated or failed to comply with any of the provisions of this 
chapter; or 
 
C.  The licensee’s continued conduct of the business for which the license was issued 
will result in a substantial threat to the public health, safety or welfare by reason of 
any of the following: 
 

1. The licensee, his employees or agents acting within the scope of their 
employment have been convicted of a crime which bears a direct relationship to the 
conduct of the business for which the license has been issued; or 

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman

Deleted: ,

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 9 of 11 

 
2. The licensee, or his agents or employees while acting within the scope of 

their employment, have, in the conduct of the business for which the license has been 
issued, violated a law or ordinance relating to the public health, welfare or safety ; or 
 

3. The conduct of the business for which the license was issued has resulted 
in the creation of a public nuisance, as defined by the Black Diamond Municipal 
Code or by state law.  

 
 

SECTION 9. Section 2.58.100 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 

2.58.100 Appeal of suspension or revocation. 
 
A. Request for Appeal—Scheduling of hearing.   

 
(1) A licensee wishing to appeal a notice of suspension or revocation must file a 

written request to appeal with the city clerk.  Such requests must be received by the City 
or postmarked no later than ten days after the date of service of the notice of suspension 
or revocation.  Telephone, facsimile, or email requests shall not satisfy the requirements 
of this section.   The request to appeal must specify the grounds upon which the appeal is 
based.   

 
(2) The city clerk shall set a date for a hearing before the city Hearing Examiner, 

which date shall be at least fourteen (14) but not more than thirty (30) days from the date 
the appeal is filed, provided, the hearing date may be rescheduled and additional time 
allowed upon motion of a party or the hearing examiner for good cause shown or upon 
mutual agreement of the licensee and the city.  At least ten (10) days before said hearing, 
the city clerk shall cause licensee to be served with notice of the hearing as provided in 
section 2.58.110.  The notice shall set forth the date, time and place of the hearing. 
 

B. Failure to appear—Default judgment.  Failure of licensee to appear for the scheduled 
hearing after notice of the hearing has been served upon licensee in the manner provided 
for in this chapter shall result in a default judgment being entered by hearing examiner in 
favor of the city, affirming the original suspension or revocation action taken by the city 
administrator.  At the city’s  request, the costs of the hearing shall be assessed by hearing 
examiner against licensee. 

 
C. Hearing procedure—Decision.   
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  54 pt,
First line:  18 pt,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  54 pt,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted: List Paragraph, Left,  No
bullets or numbering

Deleted: ,

Deleted: W

Deleted: in

Deleted: receipt 

Deleted: a

Deleted:  of suspension or revocation 
of a business license, the licensee may 
appeal the same by filing a written notice 
of appeal with the city clerk-treasurer.

Deleted: Saidsaid 

Deleted:  notice of

Deleted: shall

Deleted: city council

Deleted: wen

Deleted: applicant

Deleted: -treasurer

Deleted: mail the licensee a notice to 
the address provided by licensee

Deleted: ting

Deleted: such

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 10 of 11 

(1) Except as specifically supplemented by this chapter, the hearing shall be 
conducted according to chapter 2.30 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code.   

 
(2) Within ten (10) days of the conclusion of the hearing, the hearing examiner shall, 

enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law and shall affirm, modify or reverse 
the suspension or revocation of the license. The decision of the hearing examiner may 
impose any reasonable terms as a requirement for continuance of the license.   A copy of 
the hearing examiner’s decision shall be served upon the licensee by the methods 
allowed under section 2.58.110. 

 
D. License in effect pending hearing decision.  When a suspension or revocation has 

been properly appealed, the license shall remain in effect pending the hearing examiner’s 
decision. 

 
E. License must be surrendered upon decision to suspend or revoke.  If the hearing 

examiner’s decision is to suspend or revoke the license, the licensee shall immediately 
surrender the license to the city administrator on the next business day following receipt 
of the notice of the city council’s determination.  

 
 

SECTION 10.  Section 2.58.110 of the Black Diamond Municipal Code is hereby amended 
to read as follows: 
 

2.58.110 Service of notices. 
 
Any notices required by this chapter shall be served upon a party by personal service or sent 
by both regular first class mail and certified mail, return receipt requested, to the address of 
the licensee or applicant as shown in the records of the city administrator, or if no such 
address is shown, to such address as the city administrator is able to ascertain by reasonable 
effort, or by posting at the location of the business if service by registered mail and two 
attempts at personal service have failed.  Upon a showing by the city that notice has been 
attempted as provided for in this section, failure of the licensee or applicant to receive such 
notice shall not release the licensee or applicant from any fees or penalties that result, nor 
shall such failure extend any time limit set by the provisions of this chapter.  

 
SECTION 11.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after its passage, 

approval, posting and publication as provided by law.  A summary of this Ordinance may be 
published in lieu of publishing the Ordinance in its entirety. 
 
 SECTION 12.  If any provision of this Ordinance is determined to be invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this Ordinance shall remain in force and 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  54 pt,
First line:  18 pt,  No bullets or
numbering

Deleted: After 

Deleted: city council

Deleted: city council

Deleted: upon

Deleted: Within fifteen days of the 
hearing, notice

Deleted: city council

Deleted: terminat

Deleted: mailed to the licensee

Deleted: city council

Deleted: terminat

Deleted: city council

Deleted: terminat

Deleted: Mailing

Deleted: to be mailed to the licensee or 
applicant shall be 

Deleted: ,

Deleted: by 

Deleted: addressed 

Deleted: by

Deleted: F

Deleted: mailed 

Deleted: thereon

Deleted: _____



   
 

 
Ordinance No. 09-893 
Page 11 of 11 

effect. 
 
 Introduced the 15th  day of January, 2009. 
 
 
 Passed by a majority of the City Council at a meeting held on the 15th  day of January, 2009. 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Mayor Howard Botts 
Attest: 
 
_______________________________ 
Brenda Streepy, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________________ 
Loren D. Combs, City Attorney 
 
Published:  ________________ 
Posted:___________________ 
Effective Date: ____________ 
 
 
VSI Client/18256/Tasks2008/340BusinessLicense 

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Superscript

Deleted: ____ 

Deleted: _________, 

Deleted: ___

Deleted: ________, 

Deleted: _____



Page 5: [1] Deleted Author  

 
A. Every person required to procure a license under the provisions of this chapter 

shall submit an application for such license to the city administrator on a form provided by 
the city. The applicant shall be required to provide all information requested on said form, 
and failure to do so shall be grounds for refusing to issue the business license. 

B. Every license issued shall contain the year of issue, the name and location of the 
business and any other information the city shall deem necessary. 

C. No business may be commenced within the city without the issuance and 
possession of a valid business license as herein provided. A business license issued pursuant 
to this chapter shall be valid for the year in which it was issued only. Business license 
renewals must be acquired prior to the thirty-first day of January each year. A business 
which renews its business license after January 31st, shall be subject to a penalty in addition 
to the regular license fee in the amount specified in Section 2.58.070. No renewal license 
shall be issued until the regular license fee and the penalty have both been paid in full. 

D. An application for a business license shall be accompanied by the full amount of 
the fee chargeable for said license, and said fee shall be nonrefundable. 

E. The city administrator shall issue a receipt to the applicant for all fees paid. 
F. A duplicate license shall be issued by the city administrator to replace any license 

previously issued which has been lost, stolen, defaced or destroyed without willful conduct 
on the part of the licensee, upon the filing by the licensee of an affidavit attesting to that fact 
and the payment of a twenty-dollar fee to the city administrator. 

G. No license issued under the provisions of this chapter shall be transferable or 
assignable. 
 

Page 5: [2] Deleted Author  

B. License Fee Schedule.  The license fee shall be based on the number of 
employees according to the schedule below. (Note: the owner shall be included when 
determining the number of employees). 
 

Employees Initial Fee Renewal Fee 
0—50 $ 70.00 $ 60.00 
51—100 130.00 120.00 
101 of more 210.00 200.00 

 

 


	Council Workstudy Agenda 1-15-09
	Chapt7_Transportation_Dec08f (2)
	Council Agenda 1-15-09
	Agenda Bill No. 09-006, Chapter 7, Transportation Plan
	Chapter 7, Transportation, of the 
	City Attorney – Loren D. Combs
	Public Works – Seth Boettcher
	RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION
	Meeting Date



	Agenda Bill No. 09-007, Vesting periods of project permit applications and expiration
	18.14 to address the vesting of 
	City Attorney – Loren D. Combs
	Public Works – Seth Boettcher
	RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION
	Meeting Date



	Ordinance No. 09-892, Vesting Project Permit Applications and Expiration
	Vesting memo w Lapsing
	Agenda Bill No. 09-008, Amending Municipal Code Regarding Business Licenses
	2.58 to clarify the terms under 
	City Attorney – Loren D. Combs
	Public Works – Seth Boettcher
	RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION
	Meeting Date



	Ordinance No. 09-893, Amending BDMC regarding Business Licenses
	Business Lic Ord Chap 2 58 Redlined version
	Agenda Bill No. 09-009, HWCL supplement #2
	Resolution No. 09-572, authorizing
	#2 to the Hammond Collier Wade 
	Livingstone contract for engineering 
	City Attorney – Loren D. Combs
	Public Works – Seth Boettcher
	RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION
	Meeting Date



	Supplemental agreement No 2 HCWL



